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ABSTRACT 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued 

Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management's 

Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, in June 1999. 

The GASB believes that the application of Statement No. 34 will increase the 

understandability and usefulness of governmental financial reports to their 

primary users: the citizenry, legislative and oversight officials, and investors 

and creditors. 

The primary purpose of this research was to test whether the three 

operating statements required by Statement No. 34—the Statement of 

Activities; the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances; and the Budgetary Comparison Statement—would be 

understandable and useful to the three user groups. Four research questions 

were asked. Did user groups (a) have different reasons for using 

governmental operating statements? (b) have different levels of 

understanding for portions of the statements? (c) use different elements 

within the statements to attempt to understand a city's operations? (d) value 

the statements differently? The statistical analysis of responses to a survey, 

which was sent to representatives of the user groups, indicated that 

significant differences did exist among the groups for each of these questions. 

A model of antecedents to user's choice of governmental operating 

statements was developed to attempt to link the reasons for using operating 

statements and the understandability of the operating statements to the 

user's choice of an operating statement. The model was designed to test some 

of the GASB's underlying assumptions and expected relationships between 

operating statements and user objectives that led the GASB to issue 

Statement No. 34. 
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Overall, the results of testing the model did not provide support for the 

GASB's adoption of Statement No. 34. However, the results were mixed. The 

expected relationships were found between the reasons for using the 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances and 

the value placed on it by respondents. The expected relationships were not 

found for the other statements. The relationship among the antecedents to 

understandability, an understandability test score, and the value placed on 

the operating statements also did not provide support for Statement No. 34. 

However, additional research needs to be conducted to validate these 

findings. 

VI 



LIST OF TABLES 

3.1 Results of Wilson's Study on Use of Financial Statements 67 

3.2 Results of Jones' Study on Level of Aggregation 84 

3.3 Results of Wilson's Study on Level of Aggregation for 
Governmental Funds 86 

4.1 Summary of Number of Questionnaires Mailed and Delivered 107 

4.2 Summary of Usable Response Rates from Previous Studies 109 

5.1 Test for No Overall GROUP Effect 114 

5.2 Mean Group Response, (Standard Deviation), and TUKEY 
test of Dependent Variables 116 

5.3 Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Statement A 123 

5.4 Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Statement B 124 

5.5 Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Statement C 125 

5.6 Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Usefulness of Elements in Statement A 134 

5.7 Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Usefulness of Elements in Statement B 136 

5.8 Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Usefulness of Elements in Statement C 137 

5.9 Mean Group Amounts Paid and (Standard Deviations) for 
Operating Statements Used to Analyze Operations of the City 140 

vu 



5.10 Factor Loadings for Reasons for Using Operating Statements 147 

5.11 Summary of Expected Signs for Independent Variables in 
Regression Analysis 151 

5.12 PURA Model Statistical Summary 153 

5.13 PURA Stepwise Regression Statistical Summary 154 

5.14 PURB Model Statistical Summary 156 

5.15 PURC Model Statistical Summary 158 

5.16 Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Demographic Factors 162 

5.17 Factor Loadings for Reasons for Using Operating Statements 163 

5.18 AT Model Statistical Summary 166 

5.19 BT Model Statistical Summary 167 

5.20 CT Model Statistical Summary 169 

5.21 PURA Model Statistical Summary 172 

5.22 PURB Model Statistical Summary 174 

5.23 PURC Model Statistical Summary 176 

vui 



LIST OF FIGURES 

2.1 Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes 
in Fund Balances 31 

2.2 Entity-wide Statement of Activities 32 

2.3 Financial Reporting Pyramid 38 

2.4 Applicability of Paragraph 32 of Concepts Statement No. I 46 

2.5 Applicability of Paragraph 77 of Concepts Statement No. 1 47 

2.6 Applicability of Paragraph 78 of Concepts Statement No. I 48 

2.7 Applicability of Paragraph 79 of Concepts Statement No. 1 49 

2.8 Fund Perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balances 53 

2.9 Fund Perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement 54 

3.1 Model of Antecedents to User Choice of Governmental Fund 
Operating Statements 78 

3.2 Experimental Design for Green's Study 89 

5.1 Model of Antecedents to User Choice of Governmental Fund 

Operating Statements 145 

A.l Information Booklet Sent to Participants 208 

A. 2 Questionnaire Booklet 212 

B.l Preliminary Contact Postcard from GASB Director of Research 219 

B.2 GASB Endorsement Letter 220 

B.3 Cover Letter for National Civic League Members 221 

B.4 Cover Letter for Citizens Active in Community Affairs 222 

B.5 Cover Letter for National Federation of Municipal Analysts 

Members 223 

B.6 Cover Letter for State Legislators 224 

B.7 Follow-up Postcard 225 

IX 



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS 

1968 
GAAFR 

AICPA 

ANCOVA 

ANOVA 

ASOBAT 

CAFR 

ED 

FASB 

GAAP 

GASB 

GPFS 

ITC 

MANOVA 

MFOA 

NCGA 

NOMA 

NComGA 

NML 

PV 

Government Accounting, Auditing, and Financial Reporting, a 
1968 publication of the Municipal Finance Officers 
Association 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

Analysis of covariance 

Analysis of variance 

A Statement of Basic Accounting Theory, a 1966 publication of 
the American Accounting Association. 

Comprehensive annual financial report 

GASB Exposure Draft, Basic Financial Statements—and 
Management's Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local 
Governments 

Financial Accounting Standards Board 

Generally accepted accounting principles 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

General purpose financial statements 

GASB Invitation to Comment, Governmental Financial 
Reporting Model 

Multivariate analysis of variance 

Municipal Finance Officers' Association 

National Council on Governmental Accounting 

National Committee on Municipal Accounting 

National Committee on Governmental Accounting 

National Municipal League 

GASB Preliminary Views, Governmental Financial 
Reporting Model: Core Financial Statements 



CHAPTER I 

INTRODUCTION 

Background 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued 

Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management's 

Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments in June 1999 

(GASB, 1999). It establishes a new financial reporting model for state and 

local governments. 

Statement No. 34 requires governments to report on two types of 

accountability: fiscal and operational accountability. Fiscal accountability 

requires reporting the flows and balances of current financial resources used. 

Operational accountability requires reporting information about operating 

results and financial position from an economic perspective (GASB, 1997). 

The GASB's desire to report on two types of accountability led to it to propose 

a dual-perspective approach to financial reporting in the Exposure Draft, 

(ED) Basic Financial Statements—and Management's Discussion and 

Analysis—for State and Local Governments, which preceded the issuance of 

Statement No. 34 (GASB, 1997). This approach requires governments to 

include both fund and government-wide (or entity-wide) statements as a part 

of its basic financial statements. 

In Statement No. 34, operational accountability for the government as 

a whole is addressed in the government-wide Statement of Net Assets and 

Statement of Activities (GASB, 1999). Fund financial statements (a Balance 

Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances) are required to report on fiscal accountability for governmental 

funds (GASB, 1999). 



Purpose of Studv 

The GASB believes that the three operating statements—the entity-

wide Statement of Activities, the fund perspective Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, and the fund perspective 

Budgetary Comparison Statement—required by GASB Statement No. 34 will 

assist users to better understand the operations of local governments by 

providing information that is useful in assessing both fiscal and operational 

accountability. The objective of the GASB pronouncement is found in the 

first paragraph of Statement No. 34: 

The objective of this Statement is to enhance the 
understandability and usefulness of the general purpose 
external financial reports of state and local governments to the 
citizenry, legislative and oversight bodies, and investors and 
creditors. (GASB, 1999, p. 1) 

The GASB desires to increase the understandability and 

usefulness of governmental financial reports to the citizenry, legislative and 

oversight officials, and investors and creditors. They believe this can be 

accomplished by providing useful statements that can be understood by non-

traditional users (e.g., citizens) as well as traditional users (e.g., investors 

and creditors). In Concepts Statement No. 1, the GASB recognized that the 

users of governmental financial reports are diverse, and that their needs can 

be equally diverse (GASB, 1987). Jones et al. (1985) in their research report 

sponsored by the GASB, studied the needs of various user groups, and found 

that they did indeed use governmental financial reports for different 

purposes. Some of the uses for governmental financial reports identified by 

Jones et al. (1985) can be found as reporting objectives in Concepts Statement 

No. 1 (GASB, 1987). In its Preliminary Views (PV), Governmental Financial 

Reporting Model: Core Financial Statements, for the new reporting model 

(which also preceded GASB Statement No. 34), the GASB matched the 

reporting objectives in Concepts Statement No. 1 to the entity-wide or fund 



perspective statements that should meet each reporting objective (GASB, 

1995). 

This study differs from the Jones et al. (1985) study because it 

attempts to establish a relationship between users' reasons for using 

operating statements and the users' choice of the most important operating 

statement. A questionnaire and an information booklet were mailed to 

potential respondents representing citizens, legislative officials, and investors 

and creditors. Respondents' answers to questions in the information booklet 

provided the data used in this study to test for a relationship between users' 

reasons for using operating statements and the amount they would pay for 

hypothetical operating statements. 

This relationship should be established to provide the GASB with 

justification for the changes to governmental financial statements it required 

in GASB Statement No. 34. In other words, a relationship should be 

established between the users' reasons for using operating statements and 

the statements that the GASB states meet these objectives. This study is 

designed to determine if this relationship exists. If the GASB has correctly 

matched the reporting objectives in Concepts Statement No. 1 to the entity-

wide or fund perspective statements, as suggested in their PV, a 

corresponding relationship should exist between the respondent's answer to 

questions about reasons for using operating statements and the amount 

respondents spent on each operating statement. A model of antecedents to 

user choice of governmental fund operating statements has been developed to 

facilitate this analysis. Regression analysis was used to test for the expected 

relationships. 

This study also differs from other studies because it considers the 

understandability of governmental operating statements. The model of 

antecedents to user choice of governmental fund operating statements posits 

education and experience of users as antecedents to both users' 



understandability of an operating statement and users' choice of operating 

statements. The questionnaire included five questions for each of the three 

operating statements required by the ED. Each question had a right and 

wrong answer, and respondents were given a cumulative score on the five 

questions representing the number of right and wrong answers to the test. A 

statistical analysis was made to determine whether education, experience, or 

user group was important in determining users' scores on the 

understandability test. A positive relationship between commercial 

accounting experience and the new entity-wide operating statement required 

by Statement No. 34 should provide the GASB some justification for the new 

model. This is because an underlying premise of Statement No. 34 was that 

users with a commercial accounting background would have difficulty 

understanding traditional governmental operating statements, but would be 

able to understand the new entity-wide operating statement relatively easily. 

The study was also designed to test four null hypotheses. These null 

hypotheses were based on four research questions. Do user groups (i.e., 

citizens, legislators, and investors and creditors) have different reasons for 

using operating statements? Do user groups have different levels of 

understanding for important portions of the operating statements? Do user 

groups use different elements within the operating statements to attempt to 

understand a city's operations? Do user groups value the operating 

statements similar to those required by Statement No. 34 differently? Prior 

to conducting the study, affirmative answers were expected to each of these 

questions. Differences in responses among user groups are necessary to 

provide justification for the changes required by Statement No. 34. 

The answers to these research questions and the analysis of the model 

of antecedents to user choice of governmental operating statements has the 

potential to provide the GASB with some justification for the three operating 

statements required by Statement No. 34. This study and the questions that 



it answers or attempts to answer also contribute to the accounting literature 

in areas that have not previously been studied. Previous researchers have 

not considered the relationship between reasons for using operating 

statements and the statements' perceived value to users. This study 

considers that relationship. Previous accounting researchers also have not 

considered the understandability of governmental operating statements. 

This study makes a first attempt at measuring the understandability of the 

three governmental operating statements that were illustrated in the ED. 

The relationship between education, experience, user group, and the 

respondent's score on the understandability test for each of three operating 

statements is also studied for the first time. 

Research Methodologv 

A questionnaire and information booklet were developed to gather the 

data for testing the research questions and the relationships in the model of 

antecedents to user choice of governmental fund operating statements. Part 

I of the questionnaire was used to gather data about the reasons for using 

governmental operating statements. Part II of the questionnaire was used to 

gather information about the understandability of the proposed operating 

statements. Part III of the questionnaire was used to determine which 

individual elements in each of the operating statements made them useful in 

understanding the financial operations of a city. Part IV of the questionnaire 

considered the relative value user groups placed on the three operating 

statements and included two open-ended questions. The final portion of the 

questionnaire contained demographic data including the educational 

background and the governmental and commercial financial reporting 

experience of respondents. 

The questionnaire and information booklets were prepared based on 

the illustrative operating statements included in the ED. The information 



booklet was used by respondents to answer questions in parts two, three, and 

four of the questionnaire. It included a realistic representation of a 

Management's Discussion and Analysis section and three operating 

statements prepared for a fictional city: the City of River Falls. The three 

operating statements were slightly modified versions of the illustrative 

operating statements included in the GASB ED. Certain changes were made 

to the operating statements illustrated in the ED when GASB Statement No. 

34 was issued. 

The ED had referred to the aggregated total government financial 

statements as "entity-wide" statements. Statement No. 34 refers to the same 

statements as "government-wide" statements. The term, "entity-wide," is 

used in this study because the entity-wide Statement of Activities was used in 

the information booklet sent to potential respondents. The ED also referred 

to the GASB's approach of requiring both entity-wide and fund perspective 

statements as the "dual-perspective" approach. Statement No. 34 eliminated 

the terms, dual-perspective, entity-wide perspective, and fund perspective, for 

political reasons. This study continues to use these terms because they were 

used in the information and questionnaire booklets that were mailed to 

potential respondents. 

Few changes were made to the actual content or basic format of the 

governmental operating statements in the ED with the issuance of the GASB 

Statement No. 34. However, two important modifications were made to the 

fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances. First, Statement 34 requires a summary reconciliation to be 

presented at the bottom of that statement or in a separate schedule. That 

reconciliation shows how the data presented in the fund statement is 

modified by the application of the accrual basis of accounting, including 

revenue and expense accruals and deprecation expense. Second, Statement 



34 requires fund financial statements to present separate columns for major 

funds rather than for fund types, as proposed in the ED. 

Another important change was made that affected the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement. Statement No. 34 no longer requires reporting the 

Budgetary Comparison Statement as a basic financial statement. Instead, 

the statement may be presented as a schedule in the required supplementary 

information section of a government's financial statements. However, the 

format and content of the Budgetary Comparison Statement illustrated in 

the ED are virtually the same as the schedule required by Statement No. 34. 

None of the changes to governmental operating statements required by 

GASB Statement No. 34 should have a significant effect on the results of this 

study because the changes did not significantly change the content or basic 

format of the operating statements. 

Organization of the Studv 

This chapter has provided a background for the study by briefly 

describing the GASB objective for its required financial statements, the 

purpose of the study, and the research methodology. The remainder of the 

study is divided into five chapters. Chapter II describes the historical 

development of financial reporting for state and local governments. It 

discusses the rationale for and development of the financial reporting 

requirements in Statement No. 34. Chapter III is composed of two sections. 

The first section develops the research problem and research design. The 

second section provides the theoretical basis for the study. Chapter IV 

describes the data collection process, including the response rates to the 

questionnaire mailed to gather data for the study. Chapter V presents the 

results of the analysis of the responses to the questionnaire. Chapter VI 

summarizes the results of the research and limitations and contributions of 

the research. 



CHAPTER II 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND OF FINANCIAL 

REPORTING FOR STATE AND 

LOCAL GOVERNMENTS 

Introduction 

The recent debate surrounding the content of governmental financial 

statements addressed the same issues that have been discussed for most of 

this century. Should financial statements for state and local governments be 

consolidated or disaggregated? Should the measurement focus be the flows 

and balances of current financial resources? total financial resources? 

economic resources? Should the basis of accounting be the accrual basis? 

modified accrual basis? some other basis? Should financial statements 

prepared for external users emphasize the government's legally adopted 

budget? 

The GASB recently issued Statement No. 34, Basic Financial 

Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—for State and 

Local Governments (GASB, 1999), which establishes a new financial 

reporting model for state and local governments. This study focuses on 

issues related to the development of that model. What reasons do users have 

for wanting financial statements? Do users understand what is intended to 

be communicated by the new statements? What specific elements of the 

statements make them useful to users seeking to understand the financial 

information of a city? What importance do users place on financial 

statements? Which statement is most important to users? 

To understand the importance of these questions and the debate that 

continues to surround the new reporting model, it is necessary to examine 

the historical development of the current reporting model and the long 

espoused arguments that form the theoretical basis for the new government 
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wide (or entity-wide perspective) statements required by GASB Statement 

No. 34. This chapter should provide the reader with the contextual 

background to understand the importance of the present study. 

Historical Development 

Governmental accounting and financial reporting is a relatively recent 

development in the United States. Little need existed for governmental 

financial accounting until the United States moved toward urbanization. By 

the latter part of the nineteenth century, however, the growth in number and 

size of cities coupled with large scale graft and corruption in municipalities 

led to a demand for financial accountability (Cleveland, 1909). 

Early History 

The National Municipal League (NML), founded in 1894, was a highly 

influential early reform agency that advocated uniformity in municipal 

reporting. The NML developed a number of standardized schedules for 

municipal reporting through its Committee on Uniform Municipal 

Accounting. Separate schedules were developed for revenue/expense 

accounts and asset/liability accounts (Fleischman and Marquette, 1987). The 

United States Bureau of Census adopted the NML committee's general 

classification of expenditures and was also influential in the development of 

early accounting and reporting standards (Cleveland, 1909). By the early 

1900s, three states—Massachusetts, New York, and Ohio^had enacted 

legislation regarding uniform accounting and reporting and several cities 

were publishing annual reports (Hebert, 1987). 

Frederick Cleveland 

A third group that fought against corruption and inefficiency in city 

government was municipal research bureaus. The first and most prominent 



was the New York Bureau of Municipal Research, which was founded in 

1906. It was organized to tackle the problems of New York City, the largest 

city in the nation. Frederick Cleveland, a university professor and staff 

accountant for Haskins and Sells, became the director of the New York 

Bureau (Fleischman and Marquette, 1987). In 1909, the New York Bureau 

published Cleveland's book. Chapters on Municipal Administration and 

Accounting, which detailed the problems of municipalities in the early 1900s 

and advocated financial accountability be established (Cleveland, 1909). To 

illustrate the problems in New York City in 1906, Cleveland recounts the 

concerns of Frank Vanderlip, the vice-president of the City National Bank of 

New York. "Today, there is no true balance sheet. . . . In none of the reports 

of the Controller is it possible to obtain in succinct form an intelligent view of 

the city's true financial position" (Cleveland, 1909, p. 124). 

Cleveland (1909) argued for two balance sheets: a current balance 

sheet and a capital balance sheet. The "current balance sheet" would display 

the assets available for meeting current liabilities and current expenses. The 

"capital balance sheet" would represent the capitalized cost of permanent 

improvements and equipment along with the funds provided for such use. 

This division between current and capital components in the balance sheet 

has interesting parallels to the balance sheet now used. The purpose for the 

current balance sheet was much the same as the present day balance sheet 

for the General Fund and Special Revenue funds. The capital balance sheet 

parallels the present-day balance sheet for Capital Projects and Debt Service 

funds and the General Fixed Asset and General Long-Term Debt Account 

Groups. Due to his division of the balance sheet into two sections, some have 

considered this "fund" accounting system a forerunner to current 

governmental accounting and financial reporting (Hebert, 1987). 

Cleveland described the lack of true operating statements for most 

municipalities by complaining that the published reports of cities contained 
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"little else than exhibits on the flow of cash" (Cleveland, 1909, p. 156). He 

noted that the Bureau of Census in its attempts to collect municipal finance 

data could only obtain information on cash receipts and cash disbursements. 

In a 1904 paper presented to the Congress of Accountants in St. Louis, he 

wrote: 

Few of our municipal accounting officers have even considered 
the need for accounts of expenses and revenues and of keeping 
records which will exhibit any relation of service rendered to 
expense incurred; nor have they endeavored to bring into 
alignment cost of service with current revenue provisions made 
for meeting expenses. (Cleveland, 1909, p. 156) 

Based on Cleveland's statements, one can surmise that the earliest 

operating statements for municipalities were prepared with a flows and 

balances of cash measurement focus. This more closely resembles the flow of 

current financial resources that is the measurement focus for the current 

reporting model's governmental fund operating statement (i.e., the Statement 

of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance) than does the flow 

of economic resources measurement focus that is the focus of GASB 

Statement No. 34's government-wide financial statements. However, 

Cleveland (1909) advocated the use of an economic model for operating 

statements of municipalities that would measure revenue and expense. He 

reasoned: 

The purpose of assembling financial data of a municipal 
undertaking around two categories expense and revenue is to 
enable those interested in the public service to reach conclusions 
with respect to economy and efficiency of administration, and 
the relation of cost to provisions made for meeting it. . . . A 
detailed and comprehensive statement of expenses is essential to 
a proper appreciation of cost to services rendered. A 
comparative statement of expenses and revenues serves two 
purposes of administrative economy: (1) Such an exhibit is 
necessary to determine whether adequate provision has been 
made to cover the costs of operations and maintenance in the 
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past; and (2) a comparative statement of past expenses and 
revenues is the only safe guide to budgetary estimates and 
appropriations for the future. (Cleveland, 1909, p. 162) 

Certainly, the definitions that Cleveland (1909) used for revenues and 

expenses are closely associated with those of the economic model. He clearly 

distinguished the difference between "cost" and "cash paid" by equating cost 

to expense and stating that an expense could be incurred during a period 

without a dollar being disbursed. He believed that the operating statements 

for governments should measure costs or expenses, including depreciation. 

Metz Fund Handbook 

Additional early support for financial accountability, including the use 

of a statement of revenue and expenses, can be attributed to Herman A. 

Metz. Metz, a New York businessman, was elected and served as comptroller 

of the City of New York from 1905 to 1909 (Davidson et al, 1977). After 

leaving office and returning to business, Metz made substantial contributions 

to the New York Bureau of Municipal Research to establish a fund that 

would make available the experiences of New York and other municipalities 

to other governments that desired to improve their financial practices and 

procedures (Bureau of Municipal Research, 1914). In 1913, the Bureau 

published the Handbook of Municipal Accounting, which is commonly 

referred to as the Metz Fund Handbook (Davidson et al., 1977). Lloyd Morey 

(1948) considered the publication of this book to be the most significant 

contribution to municipal accounting in 1910s. 

The first chapter of the Metz Fund Handbook was devoted to revenues 

and expenses. The authors remorsefully stated that not more than six cities 

in the nation recognized the difference between a statement of cash inflows 

and outflows and a statement of revenues and expenses. The presentation of 

a statement of cash inflows and outflows would be desirable to render an 
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accounting of the treasurer's office. The statement of revenue and expenses, 

embracing all of the city's financial transactions, would be an accounting of 

the city's chief financial officer. 

If given the choice of presenting only one statement, it is clear that the 

authors would have chosen a statement of revenues and expenses because it 

better met their primary reporting objective of measuring costs: 

A municipality's financial statements, to be truthful reflections 
of what has taken place in its finances, should be based upon 
accretions to and depletions of wealth. A statement of revenues 
and expenses should explain the changes in assets and liabilities 
which have taken place in a period. This means that all 
financial transactions whether based on cash or credit should be 
taken into account. . . . 

Municipal financial officers sometimes argue that a statement of 
cash receipts and payments answers every requirement of cities 
because the overlapping items at the beginning and end of the 
year will year in and year out offset each other. This is to say 
that citizens and officers do not need exact information; . . . The 
fallacy of this argument will be seen when we consider the 
ultimate purpose of a statement of expenses. Comparison of 
costs, which is the great factor in determination and developing 
efficiency of administration, can be made only when costs are 
reduced to a unit basis; that is when the total cost for a period is 
divided by the number of units of work performed or other 
results. (Bureau of Municipal Research, 1914, pp. 5-6) 

To be useful to city officials and citizens, the authors believed the statement 

of revenues and expenses should include: (1) the revenue the city accrued by 

its right to levy taxes and to charge for privileges and services; (2) the 

operation and maintenance costs of the city; and (3) the excess of revenue 

over costs or costs over revenue. Not surprisingly, an accrual basis of 

accounting was advocated for recording revenues and expenses. The 

rationale being that the results of the "financial program" implemented by 

city management could not be evaluated without considering "revenue 

accrued" and "costs incurred." 
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Thus, both Cleveland and the authors of the Metz Fund Handbook 

advocated the use of an economic (or commercial) approach to the 

preparation of a government's primary operating statement. They agreed the 

prevalent practice of reporting cash inflows and outflows was inadequate to 

evaluate the efficiency of a city's administration and argued for an accrual 

basis of accounting. 

Francis Oakev 

Davidson et al. (1977) believed the shift in governmental accounting 

and financial reporting from the commercial approach advocated by 

Cleveland, the authors of the Metz Fund Handbook, and others to the current 

reporting model could largely be attributed to the efforts of Francis Oakey. 

Oakey wrote Principles of Government Accounting and Reporting, which was 

published in 1921 by The Institute for Government Research, a predecessor 

of the Brookings Institute. Due to the clout of the publishers, Davidson et al. 

(1977) argue that Oakey's book was given authoritative status. 

Like earlier writers, Oakey (1921) advocated the use of funds. To be 

able to assess whether an executive officer of the city had properly discharged 

his duties in accordance with legal requirements, he believed that a separate 

operating statement should be prepared for each fund. Yet, he differed with 

earlier writers as to the proper measurement focus for governmental 

operating statements by favoring a current resource flows measurement 

focus rather than an economic resource flows measurement focus. He noted 

the current practice was for cities to record revenue and expenditures on a 

cash basis although some cities such as Philadelphia, Cleveland, and Seattle, 

had applied commercial accounting principles with good results. Still, he was 

concerned that "commercial accounting" applied to governments was 

inadequate in certain important aspects (Oakey, 1921). Cities financed their 

operations differently than business enterprises. Cities raised the money 
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estimated to be required to meet total anticipated expenditures. The money 

was raised from a variety of sources: taxation, miscellaneous revenue, and 

borrowing. These resources were then applied to the ordinary operating 

expenses of the government and to capital outlays. Oakey (1921, p. 186) 

argued for a statement ". . . setting forth completely the sources and amounts 

of money raised for the support of government, and the objects or purposes to 

which the money thus raised was applied." 

In critiquing the financial statements of Philadelphia, Cleveland, and 

Los Angeles, which were prepared using the commercial method, Oakey 

noted the following defects: 

In the first place, a large portion of the important operations of 
the year, namely, capital receipts and capital outlays, are 
omitted; in the second place, the disposition of the capital 
receipts during the year is not shown. In short, there is a failure 
to present a complete accounting of the disposition or 
application of the current and working resources of the 
government during the period under review. 

It should be stated that these defects are the result of the failure 
to adopt the fundamental principle of distinguishing fund 
resources and obligations from all fixed assets and liabilities and 
transactions relating thereto. These defects are inevitable when 
there has been a failure to recognize that, in a government 
agency, a fund surplus exists which excludes fixed assets and 
fixed liabilities. (Oakey, 1921, pp. 195-196) 

This clearly expresses Oakey's belief that governmental financial 

statements should not be prepared using commercial accounting principles 

because governments were concerned with whether sufficient financial 

resources existed to cover anticipated expenditures including capital items. 

As a part of this determination, fund surplus (or fund balance) should 

represent current financial resources available for expenditure, and thus, 

should not include fixed assets and long-term liabilities (Oakey, 1921). 

Fernald (1918) shared Oakey's sentiments about the dangers of recording 

fixed assets. "It is a fact that many towns have been lulled into a false sense 
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of security by showing a large surplus as a result of including town properties 

as assets in the balance sheet" (Fernald, 1918, p. 275). 

Oakey (1921) believed a consolidated statement of expendable fund 

operations would be the best form of operating statement for governmental 

operations. 1 He noted several advantages to using a consolidated statement 

of expendable fund operations: 

1. This form of statement shows all the operations of 
expendable funds, presenting all transactions which increase 
the resources of such funds as well as all transactions which 
reduce resources. 

2. It is a complete statement of operations, including capital 
outlays as well as expenses of administration, operation, and 
maintenance. 

3. The disposition of the total amount of revenues is shown, 
drawing a distinction between expenditures out of revenue on 
account of the expenses of administration, operation, and 
maintenance, and expenditures out of revenues for capital 
outlays. 

4. The transactions of expendable funds that derive their 
resources from sources other than revenues are shown according 
to the main classes of such funds, i.e., assessment funds, loan 
funds, and miscellaneous. 

5. The statement is condensed enough to permit presentation 
on a single page providing, in summary form, an exhibit of all 
operations and facilitating and encouraging examination of 
details. (Oakey, 1921, pp. 193-194) 

An examination of these advantages again reveals that Oakey 

advocated a reporting model similar to the current model. He was concerned 

that statements account for the flow of current financial resources and report 

expenditures for capital outlays. However, Oakey was not alone in his views. 

' By a consolidated statement, Oakey meant that all funds would be 
presented on one statement much like the current reporting model's 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance. 
However, his illustrative operating statement used a pancake format rather 
than the columnar format common today. 
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Many others (e.g., Maclnnes, 1906; Chapman, 1910; Morey, 1927) believed 

that governmental units differed from commercial businesses and that 

expenditures for capital outlays should be reported while depreciation 

accounting was not appropriate. 

Llovd Morey 

Lloyd Morey, who was a professor, comptroller, and later president of 

the University of Illinois, stated in his popular 1927 textbook. Introduction to 

Governmental Accounting: 

It is probable that in discussions and practice of governmental 
accounting too great an emphasis has been placed on its 
similarities to commercial accounting and too little attention 
paid to its peculiar requirements. A careful analysis will 
indicate that, while the broad principles of accounting are 
applicable equally to commercial and to governmental 
accounting, certain distinctive methods must be followed in the 
latter in order to correctly and intelligently exhibit the financial 
facts, and that if the accepted methods of commercial accounting 
are applied strictly to government accounts, misleading, if not 
ludicrous results accrue. (Morey, 1927, p. v) 

What differences between commercial and governmental accounting 

could lead to misleading or ludicrous results if commercial accounting 

principles were applied to governmental entities? Morey identified the lack 

of a profit objective as one difference: 

The general purpose of a public corporation is to render services 
to the public at cost. Only rarely does it engage in business for 
profit, and, even if profits accrue, they are not for individual use 
or distribution. These facts eliminate the necessity, as a usual 
thing, of determining profit or loss, or of maintaining many of 
the "profit and loss" accounts so essential in the accounting 
systems of private undertakings. In their place, accounts of 
revenues and expenditures are maintained, from which may be 
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determined the surplus or deficit, which may be expended or 
which must be met from future revenues, respectively. (Morey, 
1927, pp. 3-4) 

Instead of profit and loss accounts, Morey advocated accounting for 

revenues, expenditures, and surplus. As will be seen, he believed the focus of 

governmental accounting should be the recording and reporting of current 

financial resource flows. He stated that revenues: 

. . . comprehend all incomes expendable for governmental 
purposes relating to the given period whether or not they are 
received or collected within that period. . . . Acquisitions of 
money or wealth that are revenues must be realizable in cash 
and must be expendable. (Morey, 1927, p. 55) 

Morey stressed that revenue had to be available for expenditure if it 

was to be recognized. This definition of revenue closely resembles the current 

definition and emphasizes the flow of current financial resources 

measurement focus. His reasons for not recording depreciation provide 

insight into his thinking as to why expenditures should be recorded rather 

than expenses: 

(1) There is no particular occasion for knowing the current 
value of government property, since the government does not 
depend for credit or for any other purpose on the valuation of 
property owned by it. 

(2) The chief item of interest in accounts with permanent 
property is "What did that property cost the government?" 

(3) Since no accounts are kept with profit and loss, there is 
no occasion for accounting for depreciation as an expense. 

(4) A reserve for depreciation would be useful only if it could 
be funded and carried forward to provide for replacement of 
property when worn out. This is impossible; first because 
governmental revenues for the most part are fiscal in character 
and must be expended during the fiscal period; and, second, 
because the greater part of public property is acquired through 
bond issue and it would be impossible to raise by taxation an 
amount to provide for depreciation in addition to paying the 
principal of the bonds. (Morey, 1927, p. 196) 
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In summary, Morey (1927) did not believe depreciation needed to be 

recorded because governmental accounting should not focus on profit and loss 

or, in other words, costs expired. The primary focus should be on cost—the 

amount expended to purchase or build a capital asset. Again, this reflects his 

attitude that governmental entities differed from commercial enterprises. 

Governmental entities needed to be concerned with the flow of current 

financial resources. The concern was not the matching of revenues and 

expenses, but rather, whether the governments had financial resources 

available to meet operating, capital outlay, and debt service requirements. 

This emphasis on the differences in governmental and commercial 

enterprises can be further demonstrated in Morey's discussion of funds and 

the budget. 

Although he believed that both governments and businesses needed to 

produce information about their past operations and present condition that 

would provide guidance for future operations, governments had additional 

responsibilities. Their accounting systems should ". . . provide for control of 

the acts of public officers and . . . to furnish information to the public 

concerning the financial operations and conditions of the government" 

(Morey, 1927, p. 2). 

The use of funds was one method of exercising control. "In order to 

make sure that certain revenues and other resources will be applied to the 

purpose for which they were raised or assembled, it has become a universal 

practice to separate public moneys into funds" (Morey, 1927, p. 11). Within 

the funds, Morey advocated using budgets to provide control or effective 

limitations on public officers. Further, budgets would furnish information to 

the public's representatives concerning the financial operations of the 

government. Once approved, the budget would form the basis for the 

government's accounting for the year (Morey, 1927). 
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Morey envisioned separate financial reports being prepared for 

internal and external use. Internal reports for department heads would 

stress unexpended appropriations. Reports to legislative bodies should be 

periodically prepared (e.g., monthly or quarterly) to show the condition and 

operations of various funds. Externally issued public reports should include 

condensed summary statements, a consolidated balance sheet, statements of 

income or revenue, statements of expenditures, statements of the operation of 

special funds, a statement of funded indebtedness, and a statement of 

inventories of property and equipment (Morey, 1927). 

A review of these statements shows that Morey advocated the use of 

budget numbers (i.e., appropriations) for internal reporting and supported a 

statement of income and a statement of expenditures for external reporting. 

Thus, Oakey and Morey believed a statement of income and expenditures 

prepared with a financial resource flow measurement focus would be 

appropriate for municipal financial reporting. Their writings contributed to 

the formation of the National Committee on Municipal Accounting (NOMA) 

in 1934 (Hebert, 1987; Potts, 1976). 

National Committee on Municipal Accounting 

The NCMA was an ad-hoc committee of the Municipal Finance 

Officers' Association of the United States and Canada that formulated 

municipal accounting principles, developed standard classifications and 

terminology for municipal reports, and promulgated standards (NCMA, 

1935b). Hebert (1987) noted the establishment of the NCMA was viewed as 

an important step in developing municipal accounting and reporting 

principles. 

By 1935, the NCMA had published in preliminary documents its 

principles of municipal accounting, procedures for a municipal audit, a 

bibliography for municipal accounting, and a booklet of municipal accounting 
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terminology (NCMA, 1935a). An examination of some of the early works of 

the NCMA provides insight into the principles and standards that they were 

attempting to establish. 

In their book on municipal accounting terminology, terms were defined 

within the context of governmental accounting. Of particular interest to the 

current debate is the NCMA's definition of expenditures and expenses: 

EXPENDITURES. Amounts paid or incurred for all purposes, 
including expenses, provision for retirement of debt, and capital 
outlays. Synonymous with OUTLAY. 
NOTE: If the accounts are kept on the cash basis (q.v.) the term 
covers only actual disbursements. If the accounts are kept on 
the accrual basis (q.v.) the term includes also charges incurred 
but not paid. 

EXPENSES. Expenditures for operation, maintenance, interest 
and other current purposes from which no permanent or 
subsequently convertible value is derived. (NCMA, 1936, p. 142) 

From these definitions, it is understood that the authors did not intend 

for expenses to be considered cost of services as in an economic model. 

Instead, expenses were defined for governmental accounting purposes in 

relation to or as a subset of expenditures. Expenditures included expenses 

(i.e. outlays for current operations, maintenance, etc.) and amounts paid or 

incurred for the retirement of debt and capital outlays. Expenditures could 

be recorded using either the cash or accrual basis of accounting, although the 

NCMA stated its preference for the accrual basis for the statements of 

expenditures: 

Expenditures should be accounted for on such a basis as to 
include all bills incurred for the period under review, including 
those for operation and maintenance expense, fixed charges, 
capital outlay, and provision for retirement of debt. (NCMA, 
1936, p. 7) 

For financial reporting purposes, the NCMA (1936) recommended 

preparing a separate balance sheet for each fund or group of related funds. A 

combined balance sheet in columnar or sectional form to exhibit the assets, 
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liabilities, reserves, and surplus of each fund was desirable. To report the 

results of operations for general and special revenue funds, the NCMA 

suggested the use of three statements. The Statement of Revenue— 

Estimated and Actual would compare estimated revenue with actual revenue 

and show any excess or deficiency of estimated revenue over actual revenue. 

The Statement of Expenditures and Encumbrances Compared with 

Appropriations began with appropriations, subtracted expenditures and 

encumbrances, leaving an unencumbered balance. A third statement, an 

Analysis of Changes in Unappropriated Surplus, would reflect the changes to 

unappropriated surplus from budget and actual transactions shown on the 

Statement of Revenue and the Statement of Expenditures and Encumbrances 

Compared with Appropriations. The resulting end of period unappropriated 

surplus would be divided into two components: amount available during next 

twelve months and amount unavailable during next twelve months (NCMA, 

1936). The need to divide unappropriated surplus into available and 

unavailable portions was at least partially due to using the accrual basis 

when recording property tax revenues. Although property tax receivables 

would be an asset, the portion of unappropriated surplus represented by 

property taxes receivable not collectible early in the coming fiscal year would 

not be available for expenditure. 

The operating statements reveal the importance the committee placed 

on budgetary reporting. In addition to the budgetary detail on the 

Statements of Revenues and Expenditures, the Analysis of Change in 

Unappropriated Surplus (which summarized the results of operations during 

the period) reported estimated revenues and appropriations in addition to 

actual revenues and expenditures. A clue to the reason for this detailed 
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reporting of budgetary amounts may be found in the NCMA's comments on 

the purpose of reports: 

The reports prepared from accounting records serve a valuable 
purpose in municipal administration. . . . they constitute an 
orderly grouping of facts and estimates relating to the condition 
of the fund; . . . they may serve as a check on the operation of 
the budget; . . . if clearly set up and accurately reported, they 
serve as a guide for administrative action. (NCMA, 1936, p. 2) 

The committee believed that annual audited financial statements had an 

important administrative function. Financial reports should demonstrate 

compliance with legal provisions and that finances were properly 

administered. Interestingly, the NCMA stated that the statistical section of 

the report could be of more value to outside users than the financial 

statements: 

The statistical section of the report not only represents a 
financial history of the municipality but also indicates the 
municipality's potential resources and some of the fixed 
charges to be met out of those resources. The information 
contained in this section is of the utmost value to the 
investor, of some importance for administrative purposes, and 
is likely to attract more citizen attention than the financial 
statements. (NCMA, 1936, p. 2) 

By these comments, one can see the committee considered municipal 

administrators as primary users of financial statements. This focus on 

internal administrative uses for financial statements is also found in the 

focus on fund reporting. 

In the 1941 revision of Bulletin No. 6, "Municipal Accounting 

Statements," the NCMA reemphasized the importance of reporting by 

individual funds and account groups (NCMA, 1941). With regard to the order 

of presenting statements in the annual report, the NCMA stated: 

It is advisable . . . because of that fund's importance to show the 
statements of the General Fund first and to show the combined 
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balance sheet and related subsidiary statements last because 
they pertain to all funds and are of less importance than the 
individual fund statements. (NCMA, 1941, p. 18) 

National Committee on Governmental Accounting 

Individual fund reporting maintained prominence until the late 1960s. 

The Municipal Finance Officers' Association (MFOA) formed the National 

Committee on Governmental Accounting (NComGA) in 1948 to replace the 

NCMA, which had disbanded in 1941. The NComGA reviewed, revised, and 

consolidated the work of the NCMA when it issued Bulletin No. 14, 

"Municipal Accounting and Auditing" in 1951. This Bulletin, which was 

considered the authoritative source for governmental accounting until the 

late 1960s, noted that one of the purposes of financial statements was to 

show legal provisions were met and funds had a proper accounting. 

However, unlike previous publications of the NCMA, the NComGA also 

recognized in Bulletin 14 that municipal accounting systems should not only 

show compliance with laws, but also consider financial condition and results 

of financial operations (Hebert, 1987; NComGA, 1951). 

Critics of Governmental Accounting 

Although welcomed, this slight shift of purpose in governmental 

accounting and reporting from an almost exclusive administrative control 

function to one that considered the financial condition of the entity did not 

appease the critics. Dylmer Hylton (1957), professor at Wake Forrest 

College, bemoaned the state of governmental financial reporting: 

The published reports of governmental units show little, if any 
progress over those which were published earlier. If publishing 
a report of some sort can be assumed to be better than no report 
at all, then progress has been made. But in form and content, 
the reports of municipalities and similar governmental units 
leave much to be desired. (Hylton, 1957, p. 51) 
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A primary reason for Hylton's criticism was that governmental financial 

reports were too complex. " . . . The taxpayer, the 'owner' of the 

governmental unit, cannot fathom the reports published by his employees" 

(Hylton, 1957, p. 51). Hylton advocated a consolidation and simplification for 

governmental financial reports. Although he admitted the importance of 

maintaining funds for financial control purposes, he believed a consolidated 

statement that reported all revenues and expenses of the governmental 

entity in one column would provide the citizen with better information to 

evaluate governmental operations (Hylton, 1957). 

Russell Taussig (1963), an associate professor of finance at the 

University of Hawaii, agreed with Hylton that a major shortcoming in the 

reporting of state and local governmental units was the lack of statements 

that reported the financial position and results of operations of the 

government as a whole. Taussig disagreed with the NComGA (1951, p. 141) 

statement that, "No financial statement or statistical table combining the 

revenues and expenditures, respectively, of all funds and arriving at the total 

fund expenditures for a particular fiscal period can be prepared." He believed 

the transactions between funds could and should be eliminated in preparing 

a combined statement of revenues and expenses for the entity as a whole. 

Both Hylton (1957) and Taussig (1963) believed governmental operating 

statements should measure cost of services and should be prepared on the 

accrual basis. Although governments were not concerned about profits, 

Taussig viewed the measurement of revenues and expenses as essential in 

evaluating a government's efficiency. 

Governmental Accountins, Auditing, and 
Financial Revortins 

While not agreeing to the consolidation advocated by Hylton and 

Taussig, the NComGA for the first time recommended presenting combined 
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statements that would display financial data for the whole government before 

individual fund data in their 1968 publication. Government Accounting, 

Auditing, and Financial Reporting (1968 GAAFR). The rationale for the 

change was to benefit report users who did not need information on 

individual funds, but only major aspects of financial condition and operations 

(NcomGA, 1968). Because the 1968 GAAFR, with certain modifications, was 

recognized as generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) by the 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) when it released 

its audit guide. Audits of State and Local Governments, in February 1974 

(AICPA, 1974), this reordering of financial statements became the norm. 

The NComGA (1968) recommended that four combined statements be 

issued: a combined balance sheet for all funds, a combined statement of 

revenue comparing estimated and actual revenue for the general and special 

revenue funds, a combined statement of general government expenditures 

compared with authorizations for general and special revenue funds, and a 

combined statement of cash receipts and disbursements for all funds. 

These statements emphasized a budgetary focus. The statements of 

revenues and expenditures included budget as well as actual amounts for the 

fiscal period. The NComGA considered accounting's role in determining legal 

compliance as coextensive with the need to provide financial information to 

user groups: 

Commensurate in importance to accounting's role in 
ascertaining legal compliance is its obligation to pravide 
comprehensive and relevant data on the financial status and 
operations of government. These data are needed by public 
management, legislative bodies, and the general public in their 
planning, control, and evaluation of governmental activities. It 
is necessary, for example, for each of these three groups to know 
the financial condition of all funds and balanced account groups 
of their governmental unit as of a specific date. . . . Similarly, 
data must be made available showing the sources and amounts 
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of revenue, the purposes and amounts of expenditures, and the 
relationship between revenues and expenditures during a 
specified period. (NComGA, 1968, p. 4) 

Yet, the NComGA (1968, p. 5) later stated that "Since legal requirements 

control and must take precedence over accounting considerations, the 

Committee believes that each governmental unit must . . . prepare financial 

statements which reflect compliance with legal requirements." In essence, 

the NComGA believed that reporting the results of financial operations was 

important, probably of equal importance to legal requirements, but financial 

reporting for governments had to be controlled by legal compliance. 

Considering that the membership of the NComGA was primarily from 

governmental backgrounds, this concern for legal compliance is 

understandable. However, critics of governmental financial reporting argued 

that the fixation on legal compliance complicated and hindered the 

usefulness of governmental financial reports. 

Governmental Accounting and Reporting 
Debate of the 1970s 

Like the arguments by Hylton and Taussig for simplification and 

measuring cost of services, many of the criticisms of governmental accounting 

that surfaced amidst the fiscal problems of American cities in the 1970s are 

germane to the current discussion of changes to the reporting model. 

Recurring themes in the 1970s debate over the direction of governmental 

accounting and financial reporting were the reporting format, the reporting 

entity, the measurement focus, the basis of accounting, and the role of the 

budget. 

Reporting Format 

The reporting format discussions centered on whether financial 

statements for state and local governments would be more understandable to 
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users, particularly citizen groups, if they were more like the financial 

statements of commercial enterprises. Representative of those who believed 

that governmental financial reporting should mimic commercial reporting 

guidelines were the authors of the Coopers and Lybrand and University of 

Michigan study of 46 American cities, published in 1976: 

We submit that city taxpayers and security investors need 
financial reports that provide a clear overview of the city's 
financial position, expenses incurred to provide services, 
changes in municipal equity and the flow of financial resources. 

Commercial enterprises have management information needs 
similar to those of cities. It is traditional for large enterprises to 
prepare many financial reports, for internal management's use 
and for regulatory purposes. . . . These documents, however, are 
not intended to serve the information needs of the enterprise's 
investors or creditors. 

Instead of asking the public to sift through these detailed 
reports prepared in accordance with current generally accepted 
accounting principles applicable to municipalities, commercial 
enterprises prepare a special financial report designed to be 
responsive to general external users. That report summarizes 
in a few statements the total enterprise's financial position, 
results of operations and flow of financial resources. . . . We 
believe that since GAAFR, conversely, is designed to serve 
internal needs, the principles enunciated therein are largely 
irrelevant for standards of reporting. 

We therefore recommend that generally accepted accounting 
principles applied to municipalities be modified to the 
accounting and disclosure requirements of the private sector. If 
the purpose of external municipal reporting is to enable 
taxpayers and security investors to make informed judgments as 
to financial position, incurred operating expenses and flow of 
financial resources, then the rules applicable to commercial 
entities to achieve that objective are no less applicable to 
governmental entities. (Coopers and Lybrand and the 
University of Michigan, 1976, pp. 10-12) 

Reasons cited for the need to change governmental reporting to a 

commercial format could have been categorized as follows. First, external 

users of governmental financial reports were primarily the general public 
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and investors. These external users could more readily understand the 

already familiar commercial-type financial reports. Second, external users 

needed summarized financial information that could be found in a single set 

of integrated financial statements prepared for the government as a whole. 

They had neither need nor desire for the details in governmental financial 

reports then being published. Critics argued that governmental financial 

reports placed too much emphasis on legal compliance and internal financial 

reporting. Finally, external users needed a measure of the cost of services 

rather than just an accounting of expenditures during a fiscal period 

(Coopers and Lybrand and University of Michigan, 1976; Davidson et al., 

1977; Touche Ross, 1977). 

Even among those who agreed that governmental financial statements 

should be aggregated, opinions differed as to the proper method of 

aggregation. Some would have argued that the current reporting model's 

operating statement for governments—the Combined Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances—was an aggregated statement 

reporting the transactions of the whole entity (Figure 2.1). The fund or fund 

type data presented on the face of the statement accounts for the operating, 

capital, and debt service transactions for the whole government. 

The American Accounting Association Committee on Accounting 

Practice of Not-for-Profit Organizations (1971) recommended the preparation 

of consolidated statements of financial position and operations. By 

consolidated statements, they meant that interfund transactions would be 

removed. Thus, they proposed an operating statement much like the one 

currently used, but with the elimination of transfers and other interfund 

transactions. Others, however, advocated the complete elimination of funds 

for reporting purposes. In a 1981 study by the AICPA State and Local 

Government Accounting Committee, a Consolidated Statement of Financial 

Activity was illustrated that closely resembles the government-wide 
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Statement of Activity that is required by GASB Statement No. 34 (Figure 

2.2). The illustrated statement combined all governmental and proprietary 

funds together and reported on the entity as a whole, with no fund reporting. 

Harold Steinberg, then the partner-in-charge of government service 

practices at Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co., feared the complete elimination 

of reporting by funds would have a negative effect on governments' 

accounting systems. In a 1979 Journal of Accountancy article, he stated: 

Some people, recognizing that GAAP should not be concerned 
with the manner in which records are maintained, have 
suggested that fund accounting is acceptable as a bookkeeping 
technique but is still not appropriate for reporting. . . . I wonder 
how it is possible to disclose the status of resources, the results 
of expending the resources and the overall accountability for this 
stewardship without using funds as a foundation. I suppose the 
government could simply state, and a CPA could attest, that the 
objectives were achieved and the many requirements were not 
violated. Would this be acceptable? Further, experience clearly 
shows that without the discipline of having to report 
information, accounting systems for maintaining information 
slowly atrophy. (Steinberg, 1979, p. 49) 

Many in governmental accounting shared Steinberg's belief that 

governmental entities should include funds in their external financial 

reports. The governmental accounting standard setters during the 1970s, the 

National Council on Governmental Accounting (NCGA), and currently, the 

GASB, have recognized the importance of fund reporting, particularly for 

demonstrating compliance with laws, rules, regulations, and the legally 

adopted budget. Thus, the current operating statements presented in the 

GPFS of a state or local government are presented by fund or fund type. 
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state 
Forthe Year i 

Program 
Charges for 

Functions/Programs Expenses Services 
Primary government: 

(Seneral govemment $ 9,571,410 $ 3,146,915 
Public safety 34,844,749 1,198,855 
Public w^orks 10,128,538 850,000 
Engineering services 1,299,645 704,793 
Health and sanitation 6,738,672 5,612,267 
Cemetery 735,866 212,496 
Culture and recreation 11,532,350 3,995,199 
Community development 2,919,389 
Interest on long-term debt 6,068,121 
Water 3,595,733 4,159,350 
Sewer 4,912,853 7,170,533 
Parking facilities 2,796,283 1,344,087 

Total primary government $ 95,143,609 $ 28,394,495 

Component units: 
Landfill $ 3,382,157 $ 3,857,858 
Public school system 31,186,498 705,765 

Total corrponent units $ 34,568,655 $ 4,563,623 

General revenues: 
Taxes 

Real estate 
Other 

Sample City 
ment of Activities 
Ended December 31 , 2002 

Primary Govemment 
Revenues 

Grants and 
Contributions 

$ 843,617 
1,369,993 
2,252,615 

575,000 

2,450,000 
2,580,000 

1,159,909 
486,010 

$ 11,717,144 

$ 11,397 
3,937,083 

$ 3,948,480 

Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs 
Interest and investment earnings 
Miscellaneous 

Total general revenues 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses 

before special item 
Special item: 

Gain on sale of part< land 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses 

Transfers 
Change in net assets 

Net assets-beginning 
Net assets-ending 

Net ( Expense) Revenue 
Govemmental Business-Type 

Activities 

$ (5,580.878) 
(32,275,901) 

(7,025,923) 
(594,852) 
(551,405) 
(523,370) 

(5.087,151) 
(339,389) 

(6,068,121) 

(58,046,990) 

34,168,449 
13,308,487 
1,457,820 
1,958,144 

884,907 
51,777,807 

(6,269,183) 

2,653,488 
(3,615,695) 

501,409 
(3,114,286) 

126,673,160 
$123,558,874 

Activities 

$ 1,723,526 
2,743,690 
(1,452,196) 
3,015,020 

601,349 
104,925 
706,274 

3,721,294 

3,721,294 
(501,409) 

3,219,885 
82,349,309 

$85,569,194 

Total 

$ (5,580,878) 
(32,275,901) 

(7,025,923) 
(594,852) 
(551,405) 
(523,370) 

(5,087.151) 
(339,389) 

(6,068,121) 
1,723,526 
2,743,690 
(1,452,196) 

(55,031,970) 

34,168,449 
13,308,487 
1,457,820 
2,559,493 

989,832 
52,484,081 

(2,547,889) 

2,653,488 
105,599 

105,599 
209,022,469 

$209,128,068 

Component 
Units 

Net(Expense) 
Revenue 

$ 487,098 
(26,543.650) 
(26.056,552) 

21,893,273 

6,461,708 
881,763 
22,464 

29,259,208 

3,202,656 

3,202,656 

3,202,656 
16,025.971 

$ 19,228,627 

Figure 2.2. Entity-wide Statement of Activities (GASB, 1997, p. E-14). 

Measurement Focus 

Another major issue in the 1970s was the proper measurement focus 

for governmental fund financial reporting. Should the measurement focus be 

on financial resources or economic resources? Stated differently, should 

expenditures (i.e., decreases in financial resources for operations, capital 

outlay, and debt service) or expenses (i.e., costs of services or costs expired) 

be measured? Those who believed the measurement focus should be the flow 

of financial resources argued that governments were different from 
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commercial enterprises. The main concern of readers of governmental 

financial statements was whether the government had enough resources to 

maintain its current level of services. They believed that reports should 

demonstrate that a government's management was complying with legal 

restrictions. Those who believed the measurement focus should be the flow of 

economic resources argued that governments were essentially the same as 

commercial enterprises. They noted that many commercial enterprises were 

required to file reports that were not prepared using business GAAP, but this 

did not prevent them from issuing financial statements based on the flow of 

economic resources. They argued that readers, particularly citizens, desired 

to judge the efficiency of government and that operating statements that 

reported expenses would provide information about the cost of services that 

could be used to measure efficiency (Davidson et al., 1977; Steinberg, 1979). 

Steinberg (1979) summarizes this debate. After asking the question, 

"Why do governments determine results by measuring the flow of resources 

and not by determining costs?" he responded that answering this question: 

. . . first requires that we again consider the definition of a 
government's objectives—namely, to provide services within the 
resources made available while adhering to legal and similar 
requirements. This is a different objective from that of 
corporate organizations. A corporation's objective is to earn a 
profit and a return on investment. 

Governments want to be certain that, and the readers of their 
financial statements want to know whether, the government has 
secured enough resources for the services it provides—no more. 
Indeed, while some will ask whether it is right for a government 
to charge future taxpayers for services provided to present 
taxpayers and then not report that situation in the financial 
statements, others will just as quickly ask whether it is right to 
ask present taxpayers for resources that the government does 
not need until several years in the future. Thus, many believe 
that the most meaningful information concerning a 
government's financial operations is what resources have been 
available to the governmental unit and how they were used. . . . 
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In spite of the foregoing, there is no doubt that costs are 
important. They are needed so there can be a comparison of 
alternative approaches to providing services—a comparison to 
output, i.e., services provided, and perhaps most important. . . 
as a recognition of the liability that is incurred as a result of not 
obtaining resources equal to the cost of services 
provided. (Steinberg, 1979, p. 50) 

From this discussion of different purposes for governmental financial 

reporting, one is made to wonder how one set of financial statements could 

satisfy everyone. Steinberg (1979) pointed to a possible compromise that is 

remarkably close to the solution reached by the GASB with its "dual-

perspective" reporting approach in Statement No. 34: 

Perhaps the answer is for governments to use both measuring 
bases, not one to the exclusion of the other, and to use a 
reporting format that reflects the results of both. (Steinberg, 
1979, p. 50) 

Role of the Budget 

The reason for including budget and actual comparison schedules can 

again be understood by considering the discussions that occurred in the 

1970s. Some (Anthony, 1978; Coopers and Lybrand and the University of 

Michigan; 1976) believed that the budget was not very useful for external 

reporting purposes. They argued the budget was useful only for internal 

management purposes and should not be reported any more than the internal 

budgets of a commercial business. Others (Drebin, 1979; Steinberg, 1979) 

argued that the uniqueness of government, as distinguished from business, 

made external budgetary reporting important. Drebin expressed his view on 

the importance of budgetary reporting by saying: 

Although a budget for a commercial enterprise may be viewed as 
an internal management report, the budget for a governmental 
unit is a public document, a matter of law. The public has an 
interest in knowing, not only the planned allocation of financial 
resources, but also how these resources were actually utilized in 
comparison with the plan. (Drebin, 1979, pp. 7-8) 
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Steinberg (1979) agreed that budgets should be included in financial 

reports to demonstrate government's compliance with the law. He believed 

comparing actual results to the budget provided a means of assessing 

accountability and managerial performance. The view that actual results 

should be compared to budget prevailed. A statement reporting this 

comparison is currently required for GPFS. However, the requirement is 

superseded by GASB Statement No. 34, as discussed in Chapter I and later 

in this chapter. 

As will be seen in the discussion of the current GAAP reporting model, 

history has played an important role in the development of governmental 

financial reporting. However, an examination of the current reporting model 

indicates that few of the proposals of the 1970s to change from a traditional 

governmental accounting and reporting approach to a commercial business 

accounting and reporting approach were adopted. 

The Current GAAP Reporting Model 

In 1984, the GASB replaced the NCGA as the body authorized to 

establish GAAP for state and local governments (Freeman and Shoulders, 

1996). One of the original items on the GASB agenda was the governmental 

financial reporting model (GASB, 1995). Although the GASB has worked on 

projects that have considered aspects of the reporting model, the current 

reporting model for governmental financial reporting actually predates the 

GASB. 

National Council of Governmental Accounting 

The basis for the current reporting model can be traced to the work of 

the MFOA's NCGA which succeeded the MFOA's National Committee of 

Governmental Accounting in June 1974 (Freeman, 1976). In March 1979, the 

NCGA issued Statement 1, Governmental Accounting and Financial 
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Reporting Principles, which was a restatement of the 1968 GAAFR (NCGA, 

1980). This statement provided the basis for the current reporting model by 

defining the measurement focus and basis of accounting for governmental 

and proprietary funds. The statement also introduced the governmental 

financial reporting pyramid, which defines the reports that must be issued by 

a government as a part of a comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR). 

Soon after the GASB was formed in 1984, it recognized NCGA Statement 1 as 

authoritative in GASB Statement No. 1, "Authoritative Status of NCGA 

Pronouncements and AICPA Industry Audit Guide" (GASB, 1984). A review 

of some of the provisions of NCGA Statement 1 that are still authoritative 

should help explain the current status of governmental financial reporting. 

In Statement 1, the NCGA classified the fund types into three 

categories: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary. Governmental fund 

types included the general, special revenue, debt service, and capital projects 

funds. Governmental fund types were "expendable" and had a "spending" 

measurement focus that emphasized "financial flow" operating data—the 

sources and uses of "available spendable resources" during a period. With a 

spending measurement focus, expenditures (i.e., financial resources 

expended) were measured. The modified accrual basis of accounting was 

used to determine when to recognize a transaction. Proprietary fund types 

were the enterprise and internal service funds. These "nonexpendable" funds 

had a "capital maintenance" measurement focus and reported expenses in 

their operating statements. Operating statements for proprietary funds were 

prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The third category of fund 

types, trust and agency funds, were accounted for essentially like either the 

governmental or proprietary funds dependent upon their measurement focus. 

That is, expendable trust and agency funds with a "spending" measurement 

focus would have expenditures recognized using the modified accrual basis of 

accounting. Nonexpendable and pension trust funds with a "capital 
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maintenance" measurement focus would have expenses recognized using the 
m 

accrual basis of accounting (NCGA, 1980). 

The NCGA introduced the financial reporting pyramid to illustrate the 

financial section of the CAFR (Figure 2.3). The CAFR should include GPFS 

by fund type and account group (i.e., combined statements), combining 

statements by fund type, and individual fund statements. GPFS were an 

answer to critics of the 1968 GAAFR who complained that the focus on 

individual fund statements did not permit the wide distribution of 

sufficiently condensed financial statements. The GPFS required to be 

presented, if applicable, for a government are almost identical to the 

statements now required: 

(1) Combined Balance Sheet—^All Fund Types and Account 
Groups. 

(2) Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances—^All Governmental Fund Types 
and Expendable Trust Funds. 

(3) Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances—Budget and Actual—General 
and Special Revenue Fund Types (and similar governmental 
fund types for which annual budgets have been legally 
adopted). 

(4) Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in 
Retained Earnings (or Equity)—^All Proprietary Fund Types. 

(5) Combined Statement of Changes in Financial Position—^All 
Proprietary Fund Tĵ Des. 

(6) Notes to the financial statements. (NCGA, 1980,-p. 19) 
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THE 
COMPREHENSIVE 
ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL 
REPORT 

GENERAL PURPOSE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(COMBINED STATEMENTS-

OVERVIEW) 
(1) 

GENERAL 
PURPOSE 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

COMBINING STATEMENTS-
I BY FUND TYPE 

Q} 
INDIVIDUAL FUND AND ACCOUNT GROUP STATEMENTS 

(3) 

SCHEDULES 
(4) 

TRANSACTION DATA 
CTHE ACCOUNTING SYSTEM) 

Required 
May be necessary 

( ) Numbers refer to "The Financial Section 'Pyramid'" discussion. 

Figure 2.3. Financial Reporting Pyramid. (NCGA, 1979, p. 20) 

A review of these statements reveals that only a few changes of real 

significance have been made. Instead of a Combined Statement of Changes 

in Financial Position, GASB Statement No. 9, Reporting Cash Flows of 

Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That 

use Proprietary Fund Accounting, now requires a Statement of Cash Flows 

for proprietary and nonexpendable trust funds (GASB, 1989). GASB 

Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity may now cause some 

governments to report discretely presented component units on the face of 

their financial statements (GASB, 1991). 

Considering the NCGA's effort in developing the current financial 

reporting model and financial reporting requirements, its contribution to 

modern day governmental accounting cannot be questioned. Yet, the NCGA 

did not provide a satisfactory answer to the critics who believed 
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governmental reporting would be more understandable and useful if it 

followed commercial accounting principles and reporting guidelines. 

The GASB Financial Reporting Project 

The long history of the GASB's financial reporting model project, one of 

the GASB's original agenda projects in 1984, is testimony to the difficulty of 

dealing with its many issues. Initially, the reporting model project 

encompassed issues such as the nature and extent of aggregation and 

consolidation, display of budget versus actual, and the organization and 

content of the financial statements. The project was expanded to include 

other issues and portions of other projects since 1984, such as measurement 

focus and basis of accounting for governmental funds and the proper 

reporting for fiduciary funds (GASB, 1995). 

GASB Statement No. 11 

Although not initially a part of the financial reporting model project, 

an important event in its history was the issuance of GASB Statement No. 

11, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting—Governmental Fund 

Operating Statements. Statement No. 11 would have changed the 

measurement focus and basis of accounting for governmental fund operating 

statements (GASB, 1990). The new measurement focus, the flow of total 

financial resources, was designed to measure the extent financial resources 

obtained in a period were sufficient to cover claims incurred during the 

period. Although a stated desire in GASB Statement No. 11 was to 

determine whether current-year revenues were sufficient to pay for current-

year services, the financial resource flows measurement focus was not 

designed to measure the cost of services (Freeman and Shoulders, 1996). 

Statement No. 11 would have changed the revenue and expenditure 

recognition criteria for governmental funds. Traditionally, revenue had to be 
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available plus levied for the period or earned and measurable to be 

recognized. To be available, revenue would have to either be collected in the 

fiscal year or soon enough thereafter to pay the liabilities resulting from 

expenditures during the fiscal year. Statement 11 would have eliminated the 

"available" criteria for revenue recognition. Instead, revenue would be 

recognized when earned and due. That is, the demand for payment by the 

government would be the key event in recognizing revenue (Freeman and 

Shoulders, 1996). This change in revenue recognition criteria would have 

had the effect of moving governmental fund accounting nearer to the accrual 

basis of accounting used by commercial enterprises. 

The recognition criteria for expenditures would have also changed with 

GASB Statement 11. Instead of recognizing an expenditure when a fund 

liability was incurred, expenditures would have generally been recognized 

when transactions or events that resulted in claims against financial 

resources occurred, regardless of when cash was paid (Freeman and 

Shoulders, 1996). This change had a potentially major effect on 

governmental reporting because it would have resulted in expenditure 

recognition of transactions related to long-term debt in the funds. That is, an 

expenditure would be recognized in the funds even if it did not require 

payment from current financial resources. 

Although GASB Statement No. 11 was issued in May 1990, it has 

never been implemented. Many criticisms were leveled against the 

Statement. Because it did not develop an overall reporting model, the 

Statement was viewed by some as an incomplete or piecemeal attempt to 

change the focus of governmental accounting. Instead of just looking at the 

operating statement, many believed the entire model needed to be examined 

and a theoretical basis for change developed. Thus, in 1993, GASB 

Statement No. 17 indefinitely delayed the effective date of Statement No. 11, 

and the project was eventually folded into the reporting model project. 
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Determining the Financial Reporting Entity 

During the debate on the implementation of GASB Statement No. 11, 

the GASB continued work on a project closely related to the reporting model. 

In 1991, the GASB issued Statement No. 14, which answered the related and 

long debated reporting question, "Which organizations should be included in 

a government's financial statements?" Generally, the GASB decided that a 

government should include organizations in its reporting entity for which it is 

financially accountable (GASB, 1991). 

Financial Reporting Model Project 

Having settled the reporting entity issue with Statement No. 14, the GASB 

again focused its attention on the financial reporting model project. In June 

1994, the GASB issued an Invitation To Comment (ITC), Governmental 

Financial Reporting Model, to encourage discussion of two alternative 

reporting model approaches. A summary of the proposed alternative models 

is found in the GASB's PV issued a year after the ITC in June 1995: 

The ITC presented two alternative models that differed in many 
ways, but also included common features that represented 
modifications to the current model. Both models included a 
requirement for an additional level of aggregated statements to 
provide summarized, condensed financial reporting for users 
that were not interested in, or could not understand, the 
disaggregated, fund type-based information in the current 
model. The two models also included a requirement to display 
financial statement data for major individual funds for those 
users who needed more detail than was provided in the current 
model's basic financial statements, and a provision for cash flow 
reporting for governmental funds. Enhancements to the 
budgetary comparison statement and changes in the reporting 
for fiduciary funds were also key features of the models in the 
ITC. Despite these similarities, the models were significantly 
different in many areas, including levels of aggregation, the 
measurement focus and basis of accounting used at the different 
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levels of reporting, and the methods used for reporting capital 
outlay, assets, and debt for governmental activities. (GASB, 
1995, pp. 59-60) 

Preliminarv Views 

After analyzing the information collected from over 150 responses to 

the ITC, four public hearings, and eight focus group sessions, the GASB 

developed the governmental financial reporting model and related core 

financial statements for its PV. The GASB concluded that one reporting 

perspective could not meet the diverse needs of all users. Thus, the GASB 

proposed a dual-perspective approach to governmental financial reporting: 

an entity-wide perspective and a fund perspective (GASB, 1995). 

The entity-wide statements would provide aggregated information to 

report on the government as a whole. Instead of reporting by funds, the 

entity-wide statements would delineate only between the primary 

government and its discretely presented component units. The entity-wide 

statements would be prepared using an economic resource flows 

measurement focus like commercial business enterprises and would use the 

accrual basis of accounting. It was hoped these entity-wide statements would 

appeal to the citizenry who were not regular users of governmental financial 

statements (GASB, 1995). 

The fund perspective statements would be similar to the traditional 

financial statements issued by governments using the current model, but 

would report only funds of the primary government (including blended 

component units) and discretely presented component units that are 

fiduciary in nature. For governmental funds, a flow of current financial 

resources measurement focus and modified accrual basis of accounting would 

be used. For proprietary and fiduciary funds (and discretely presented 
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component units that are fiduciary in nature), a flow of economic resources 

measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting would be used 

(GASB, 1995). 

Exposure Draft 

After reviewing 230 responses to the PV, the results of six public 

hearings, and input provided through user focus groups, the GASB 

determined that certain modifications were needed to the content and 

presentation of the proposed financial statements. However, they concluded 

that the dual-perspective approach continued to be appropriate. Thus, 

financial statements prepared from both an entity-wide and fund perspective 

were proposed in the GASB's ED issued on January 31, 1997 (GASB, 1997). 

The proposed requirements in that ED formed the basis for this study. 

Accountability 

To understand the necessity for adopting the dual-perspective 

approach, it is important to study the GASB's emphasis on accountability. In 

Concepts Statement No. 1, the GASB discussed financial reporting objectives 

for governmental entities. Accountability was identified to be the primary 

objective for financial reporting. The GASB stated: 

Accountability is the cornerstone of all financial reporting in 
government . . . . Accountability requires governments to 
answer to the citizenry—to justify the raising of public resources 
and the purposes for which they are used. Governniental 
accountability is based on the belief that the citizenry has a 
"right to know," a right to receive openly declared facts that may 
lead to public debate by the citizens and their elected 
representatives. Financial reporting plays a major role in 
fulfilling government's duty to be publicly accountable in a 
democratic society. (GASB, 1987, paragraph 56) 

This concept of accountability broadened the traditional definition of 

accountability, which emphasized fiscal accountability—that is, it focused on 
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reporting flows and balances of current financial resources used—to one that 

considered the need to report based on operational accountability—that is, to 

report information about operating results and financial position from an 

economic perspective (GASB, 1997). This emphasis on reporting using an 

economic perspective permeated Concepts Statement No. 1. In paragraph 76, 

the GASB (1987) stated, "Governmental financial reporting should provide 

information to assist users in . . . making economic, social, and political 

decisions." Incorporating a dual view of accountability (i.e., fiscal and 

operational) into a single set of financial statements proved difficult and was 

a major factor in the GASB's adopting a dual-perspective approach to 

governmental financial reporting. 

User Groups 

Another factor that led to the adoption of the dual-perspective 

approach was the desire to appeal to a greater number of potential users. In 

particular, the GASB wanted to expand the use of governmental financial 

reports beyond traditional users, such as investors and creditors, to reach the 

citizenry. 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), which 

promulgates GAAP for business institutions, stated, "financial reporting 

should provide information that can be used by al l . . . who are willing to 

learn to use it properly" (FASB, 1978). Although this definition of users of 

business financial reports sounds broad, it is actually restricted since it 

requires users to learn to use the statements properly. Unhke the FASB, the 

GASB did not restrict potential users of governmental financial reports to 

only those who had some knowledge about financial reporting. Instead, the 

GASB identified the following groups as primary users of governmental 
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financial reports without making any qualifications about the user's 

knowledge of or willingness to learn about governmental financial reporting: 

They are (a) those to whom the government is primarily ac
countable (the citizenry), (b) those who directly represent the cit
izens (legislative and oversight bodies), and (c) those who lend or 
participate in the lending process (investors and creditors). . . . 
(GASB, 1987, paragraph 30) 

The citizenry group includes citizens (whether they are 
classified as taxpayers, voters, or service recipients), the media, 
advocate groups, and public finance researchers. The legislative 
and oversight officials group includes members of state 
legislatures, county commissions, city councils, boards of 
trustees, and school boards, and those executive branch officials 
with oversight responsibility over other levels of government. 
Investors and creditors include individual and institutional 
investors and creditors, municipal security underwriters, bond 
rating agencies, bond insurers, and financial institutions. 
(GASB, 1987, paragraph 31) 

Broadly defining users of governmental financial reports has lead to 

some unique problems for the GASB. The diversity of user groups leads to a 

diversity of needs from governmental financial reports. Information that is 

relevant (i.e., information that is capable of making a difference in a user's 

assessment of a problem or situation) to one group may not be relevant to 

another (GASB, 1987). For example, a creditor may want information related 

to the government's ability to pay its debt as it comes due whereas a taxpayer 

may be equally desirous for information about the efficiency of a 

government's operations. In Concepts Statement No. 1, the GASB recognized 

the difficulty of preparing one report that would meet the needs of all users: 

Users of state and local governmental financial reports are 
diverse; their needs may be equally diverse. As a result, it may 
be impossible to provide information in any one report sufficient 
to meet all the needs of all users. (GASB, 1987, paragraph 
72) 
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Objectives 

By adopting a dual-perspective approach to financial reporting in its 

ED, the GASB clearly stated that it is not possible to provide information in 

any one set of financial statements to meet the needs of all users. In 

Concepts Statement No. 1, the GASB developed reporting objectives that 

considered a wide variety of user groups and user needs. The following 

figures (Figure 2.4 through Figure 2.7) adapted from the PV show how the 

information presented at the entity-wide or fund perspective was intended to 

meet the user's needs and reporting objectives identified in Concepts 

Statement No. 1 (GASB, 1995). 

A review of the figures reveals that GASB's objectives for financial 

reporting are more readily met using a dual-perspective approach. Although 

the entity-wide perspective statements meet some of the reporting objectives, 

other objectives are met using fund perspective statements. Thus, the ED 

incorporated the dual-perspective approach to meet the greatest number of 

objectives possible. 

Concepts Statement 1 ; ; 
[ Discussion of User Needs 

Entity-Wide 
Perspective (EWP) 

Fund 1 
Persoective i 

32. Financial reporting by state and local governments is used 
in making economic, social, and political decisions and in 
assessing accountability primarily by: 
a. Comparing actual financial results with the legally adopted 

budget 
b. Assessing financial condition and results of operations 
c. Assisting in determining compliance with finance-related 

laws, rules, and regulations 
d. Assisting in evaluating efficiency and effectiveness 

NO 
YES 

NO 
YES 

YES 
NO 

YES 
NO 

Figure 2.4. Applicability of Paragraph 32 of Concepts Statement No. 1. 
(Adapted from GASB Preliminary Views, 1995, p. 16.) 
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Concepts Statement 1 Objective 
Entity-Wide 

JPetspectiye (EWP) 
77. Financial reporting should assist in fulfilling 
government's duty to be publicly accountable and should 
enable users to assess that accountability. 
a. Financial reporting should provide information to 

determine whether current-year revenues were 
sufficient to pay for current-year services. This also 
implies that financial reporting should show whether 
current-year citizens received services but shifted part 
of the payment burden to future-year citizens; 
whether previously accumulated resources were used 
up in providing services to current-year citizens; or, 
conversely, whether current-year revenues were not 
only sufficient to pay for current-year services, but 
also increased accumulated resources. 

YES. Accountability for 
economic resources. 

Fund 
Perspective 

YES. Accountability 
for current financial 
resources. 

YES. Operating results 
objective. Implies entity-
wide focus (programs and 
services cross fimds) and 
measurement of economic 
resource flows/accrual 
basis ("resources" not 
restricted to financial 
resources; references to 
shifting payment burden 
and increasing resources). 
EWP also contributes to 
users' assessments of 
whether interperiod equity 
is being achieved. 

NO. Fund-based 
information about 
current financial 
resource flows and 
budgetary/legal 
compliance 
contributes little to 
assessments of either 
the govemmental 
entity's operating 
results or whether 
interperiod equity is 
being achieved. 

Financial reporting should demonstrate whether 
resources were obtained and used in accordance with 
the entity's legally adopted budget; it should also 
demonstrate compliance with other finance-related 
legal or contractual requirements. [For some items it 
may be sufficient to demonstrate compliance by 
identifying items or instances of noncompliance.] 

NO. Budgetary 
compliance and most 
legal compliance 
information is associated 
with specific funds rather 
than the entity as a whole. 

YES. Budgetary and 
legal compliance 
objective. 
Demonstration of 
budgetary/legal 
compliance is 
inherent to fiind 
structure and is the 
foundation of this 
perspective. 

Financial reporting should provide information to 
assist users in assessing the service efforts, costs, and 
accomplishments [SEA] of the governmental entity. 
This information, when combined with information 
fi-om other sources, helps users assess the economy, 
efficiency, and effectiveness of govemment and may 
help form a basis for voting or ftinding decisions. 
The information should be based on objective criteria 
to aid interperiod analysis within an entity and 
comparisons among similar entities. Information 
about physical resources (as discussed in paragraph 
79b) should also assist in determining cost of 
services. 

YES. SEA objective. 
Contributes to users' 
assessments of economy 
and efficiency by 
providing information 
about the cost of 
programs and other 
services. Although SEA 
reporting also requires 
nonfmancial information 
that is beyond the scope 
of core financial 
statements, this 
perspective provides a 
link between the financial 
statements and SEA 
reporting. 

NO. Measuring 
current financial 
resource flows 
contributes little to 
SEA reporting. Also, 
assessments of SEA 
require information 
about programs and 
activities, which 
frequently cross fimd 
lines. 

Figure 2.5. Applicability of Paragraph 77 of Concepts Statement No. 1. 
(Adapted from GASB Preliminary Views, 1995, p. 17.) 
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Concepts Statement 1 Objective 

78. Financial reporting should assist users in evaluating 
the operating results of the governmental entity for the 
year. 

Entity-Wide 
Perspective (EWP) 

YES. Refers to the 
govemmental entity. 
Reporting operating 
results implies a 
comparison of economic 
inflows and outflows 
related to the entity's 
program- and service-
providing objectives. 

Fund 
Perspective 

NO. Fund 
perspective focuses 
on inflows and 
outflows of fund 
financial resources. 

Financial reporting should provide information about 
the sources and uses of financial resources. Financial 
reporting should account for all outflows by ftmction 
and purpose, all inflows by source and type, and the 
extent to which inflows meet outflows. Financial 
reporting should identify material nonrecurring 
financial transactions. 

NO, except for reporting 
material nonrecurring 
transactions. EWP is 
concemed with economic 
transactions and events, 
not fmancial resource 
inflows and outflows. 

YES. Fund 
perspective focuses 
on information about 
sources and uses of 
current financial 
resources and 
comparisons of 
inflows and 
outflows. It also 
requires reporting of 
material 
nonrecurring 
transactions. 

b. Financial reporting should provide information about 
how the governmental entity financed its activities 
and met its cash requirements. 

YES for "financed its 
activities." The objective 
refers to the govemmental 
entity. Information would 
be provided about the net 
cost of major programs 
and other activities of the 
entity. Information about 
how the entity met its 
cash requirements would 
not be provided in EWP 
financial statements. 

NO for "financed its 
activities" (activities 
cross fund lines). 
YES for "met its 
cash requirements." 
Although cash flow 
statements would not 
be required, cash or 
near-cash budgetary 
information would 
be provided. 

Financial reporting should provide information 
necessary to determine whether the entity's financial 
position improved or deteriorated as a result of the 
year's operations. 

YES. Refers to the 
operations of the 
govemmental entity. 
"Financial position" 
implies the inclusion of 
all measurable economic 
resources, capital and 
fmancial, consistent with 
the interpretation of 
"operations" from general 
objective 78. 

NO. Fund 
perspective would 
provide information 
only on the balances 
of current financial 
resources of fund 
types and major 
fiinds. 

Figure 2.6. Applicability of Paragraph 78 of Concepts Statement No. 1. 
(Adapted from GASB Preliminary Views, 1995, p. 18.) 
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Concepts Statement 1 Objective 

79. Financial reporting should assist users in assessing 
the level of services that can be provided by the 
governmental entity and its ability to meet its obligations 
as they become due. 

Entity-Wide 
Perspective (EWP) 

YES. Financial condition 
objective. Refers to the 
govemmental entity. 
Reported net cost of 
services, operating results, 
and financial position can 
contribute to assessments 
of financial condition. 
However, financial 
condition is a complex, 
long-term concept that 
includes information 
reported outside as well as 
within the core financial 
statements. 

Fund 
Perspective 

NO. Financial 
condition is an 
entity-wide, 
economic based 
concept. 

Financial reporting should provide information about 
the financial position and condition of a 
governmental entity. Financial reporting should 
provide information about resources and obligations, 
both actual and contingent, current and noncurrent. 
The major fmancial resources of most govemmental 
entities are derived fi"om the ability to tax and issue 
debt. As a result, financial reporting should provide 
information about tax sources, tax limitations, tax 
burdens, and debt limitations. 

YES. (See objective 78c 
and general objective 79.) 

NO. (See objective 
78c and general 
objective 79.) 

Financial reporting should provide information about 
a governmental entity's physical and other 
nonfinancial resources having useful lives that extend 
beyond the current year, including information that 
can be used to assess the service potential of those 
resources. This information should be presented to 
help users assess long- and short-term capital needs. 

YES, through reporting of 
capital assets. 
Assessments of service 
potential may require 
supplemental information 
about deferred 
maintenance, condition of 
and cost to repair capital 
assets, and so forth. (See 
also objective 78c). 

NO. Fund 
perspective focuses 
on inflows and 
outflows of fund 
financial resources. 

Financial reporting should disclose legal or 
contractual restrictions on resources and risks of 
potential loss of resources. 

NO for restrictions on 
resources; that 
information is more 
usefully provided at the 
fund perspective. YES for 
disclosure of significant 
risks of potential losses 
from an entity-wide 
perspective. 

YES. Disclosure of 
restrictions is a 
major purpose of 
fund-based 
reporting; 
disclosure of risks 
also can be useftilly 
reported by fund. 

Figure 2.7. Applicability of Paragraph 79 of Concepts Statement No. 1. 
(Adapted from GASB Preliminary Views, 1995, p. 19.) 
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Financial Reporting Requirements 

In its ED, the GASB proposed including Management's Discussion and 

Analysis, basic financial statements, other required supplementary 

information, and certain other additional information as the minimum 

external reporting requirements for state and local governments. The 

Management's Discussion and Analysis section would introduce the basic 

financial statements by explaining the objectives of financial reporting from 

the entity-wide and fund perspectives. It would also include analytical 

comments about the government's financial activities that would be useful to 

those not particularly knowledgeable about governmental accounting (GASB, 

1997). 

The basic financial statements would be prepared at the entity-wide 

and fund perspective. The entity-wide perspective statements would report 

financial information at a more aggregated level than would the fund 

perspective statements. Financial statements prepared using the entity-wide 

perspective would report primary government and component unit 

information separately. Unlike the PV, the GASB proposed separate 

reporting of governmental and business-type activities of the primary 

government in the ED in addition to the segregation required between the 

primary government and discretely presented component units. Financial 

statements, at the entity-wide perspective, would be prepared using the 

economic resource flows measurement focus and the accrual basis of 

accounting (GASB, 1997). 

Financial statements required at the entity-wide perspective would 

include a Statement of Net Assets and a Statement of Activities. A schedule 

of changes in capital assets and long-term obligations in the notes to the 

financial statements would provide details on the aggregated amounts 

reported in the Statement of Net Assets (GASB, 1997). 
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Financial statements prepared from a fund perspective would report 

financial information at a more detailed level than would the entity-wide 

perspective statements. Fund perspective statements would be prepared 

based on the primary government's fund types. The measurement focus, 

basis of accounting, and required financial statements would vary based on 

fund type. Governmental funds would be presented using the current 

financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of 

accounting. Financial statements required for governmental funds would 

include a Balance Sheet, a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances, and a Budgetary Comparison Statement. 

Proprietary funds would be presented using an economic resources 

measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Financial 

statements required for proprietary funds would include a Balance Sheet, a 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Equity, and a 

Statement of Cash Flows (GASB, 1997). 

Three Operating Statements for Activities 
Reported in Governmental Funds 

The ED would have required three types of operating statements for 

activities reported in governmental funds—using potentially three 

measurement focuses. The entity-wide Statement of Activities (Figure 2.2) 

would be prepared using an economic resource flow measurement focus and 

the accrual basis of accounting. This statement would measure the net 

(expense) revenue of governmental activities, including depreciation expense 

of related capital assets (GASB, 1997). Although proponents of commercial-

type statements for governments had hoped they would provide information 

to help users measure efficiency by being able to calculate unit costs, the 

proposed Statement of Activities would generally have presented only highly 

aggregated information. The ED (1997, paragraph 47) would have required 
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that—for governmental activities—the Statement of Activities should be 

prepared " . . .at least at the same level of detail provided at the fund 

perspective—generally functional categories." To be useful for unit cost 

calculations, the Statement of Activities would have to be reported at a much 

lower level of detail—no greater than the program level. 

The second operating statement proposed in the ED was the fund 

perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances (Figure 2.8). It reported the inflows, outflows, and balances of 

current financial resources for each governmental fund type using the 

modified accrual basis of accounting and was very similar to the operating 

statement required under the current reporting model (GASB, 1997). 

The third operating statement proposed in the ED was the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement (Figure 2.9). The Budgetary Comparison Statement 

would have been required for the General Fund and all other governmental 

funds for which an annual budget was prepared. It would have reported the 

original and final appropriated budgets and the actual results for the period 

using the government's budgetary basis of accounting. The ED encouraged 

governments to present the statement in a format that used the same 

terminology and classification as the budget document rather than using the 

format of the fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances (GASB, 1997). 
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Sample City 
statement of Revenues, Expe 

For 

REVENUES 
Property taxes 
Other taxes 
Fees and fines 
Licenses and permits 
Intergovemnrental 
Charges for services 
Interest 
Miscellaneous 

Total revenues 
EXPENDITURES 
Current operating: 

General govemment 
Public safety 
Public works 
Engineering services 
Health and sanitation 
Cemetery 
Culture and recreatbn 
Community development 

Debt service: 
Principal 
Interest and other charges 

Capital outlay 
Total expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Proceeds of refunding bonds 
Proceeds of long-term capital debt 
Payment to bond refunding escrow agent 
Transfers in 
Transfers out 

Total other financing sources and uses 
SPECIAL ITEM 
Proceeds from sale of park land 

Net change in fund balance 
Fund balances-beginning 

Fund balances-ending 

ndltures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Governmental F unds 

the Year Ended December 31, 2002 

General 
Fund 

$29,280,163 
13,025,392 

606,946 
2,287,794 
6,119,938 

11,374,460 
552,325 
881,874 

64,128,892 

8,630,835 
33,729,623 
4,975,775 
1,299,645 
6,070,032 

706,305 
11,411,685 

66,823,900 

(2,695,008) 

(2,034,436) 
(2,034.436) 

3,476,488 
(1,252,956) 
2,908,322 

$ 1,655,366 

Special 
Revenue 

Funds 

$ 3,951,287 
30,708 

215,204 
66,270 

4,263,469 

53,622 

3,721,542 

2,879,389 

75,000 

6,729,553 

(2,466,084) 

134,500 
(348.046) 
(213,546) 

(2,679,630) 
6,225,442 

$ 3,545,812 

Debt 
Service 
Funds 

$4,605,192 

146,604 

4,751,796 

11,820 

3,375,000 
5,215.151 

8,601,971 

(3,850,175) 

38,045,000 

(37,284,144) 
3,991,298 

4,752,154 

901,979 
2,930,083 

$ 3,832,062 

Capital 
Projects 
Funds 

$ 1,457,820 

836,589 
2,939 

2,297,348 

490,124 

16,718,649 
17,208,773 

(14,911,425) 

18,829,560 

1,269,722 
(2,273,187) 
17,826,095 

2,914.670 
21,539,896 

$24,454,566 

Figure 2.8. Fund Perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balances (GASB, 1997, p. E-20). 
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Sample City 

Budgetary Comparison Statement 

General Fund 
For the Year Ended December 3 1 , 2002 

Budgeted Amounts 

Budgetary fund balance, January 1 
Resources (inflows) 

Property taxes 
Franchise taxes 
Public service taxes 
Licenses and permits 
Fines and forfeitures 
Charges for services 
Grants 
Sale of land 
Miscellaneous 
Interest received 

Transfers from other funds 
Amounts available for appropriation 

Charges to appropriations (outflows) 
General govemment: 

Legal 
Mayor, legislative, fiduciary, and audit 
Rnance and accounting 
City clerk and elections 
Employee relations 
Planning and economic development 

Public safety: 
Police 
Rre department 
EMS 
Inspections 

Public works: 
Public works administration 
Street maintenance 
Street lighting 
Traffic operations 
Mechanical maintenance 

Engineering services: 
Engineering administration 
Geographical information system 

Health and sanitation: 
Garbage pickup 

Cemetery: 
Personal services 
Purchases of goods and services 

Culture and recreation: 
Library 
Parks and recreation 

Community communications 
Nondepartmental: 

Miscellaneous 
Contingency 
Transfers to other funds 

Original 

$2,736,824 

30,124,560 
4,546,209 
8,295,000 
2,126,600 

718,800 
12,392,972 
6,905,898 
1,355,250 
3,024.292 
1,015,945 

939,525 
74,181,875 

665,275 
3,058,750 
1.932,500 

345,860 
1.315,500 
1,975,600 

19,576.820 
9.565,280 
2,323,171 
1,585,695 

388,500 
2,152,750 

762,750 
385,945 

1,525,685 

1,170,650 
125.625 

5,756,250 

425,000 
299,500 

985,230 
9,521.560 

552.350 

2,544.049 
2,970.256 

Final 

$1,950,873 

29,959,745 
4,528,750 
8,307.274 
2,126,600 

718,800 
11.202,150 
6,571,360 
3,500,000 
1.220.991 

550,000 
130,000 

70.766,543 

663,677 
3,192,910 
1,912,702 

354,237 
1,300,498 
1,784,314 

20,367,917 
9,358.453 
2,470,127 
1,585,695 

385,013 
2,019,166 

742.540 
374.945 

1.272.696 

1.140,289 
119,315 

5,865,757 

425,000 
299,500 

1,023,465 
9,786,397 

558,208 

2.025,000 

Basis) 

$ 1,950,873 

29,280,163 
4,055,505 
8,969,887 
2,287.794 

606,946 
11,374,460 
6,119.938 
3,476,488 

881,874 
552,325 
129,323 

69,685.576 

632,719 
2.658,264 
1,852,687 

341,206 
1,234,232 
1,642.575 

20.246.496 
9,559,967 
2,459,866 
1,533,380 

383,397 
2.233.362 

759.832 
360,509 

1,256,087 

1,158,023 
138,967 

6,174,653 

422,562 
283,743 

1,022,167 
9,756.618 

510,361 

259,817 

2.163.759 

Actual Anwunts Var iance with 
(Budgetary Final Budget 

Positive (Negat ive) 

(679,582) 
(473,245) 
662,613 
161,194 

(111,854) 
172.310 

(451,422) 
(23,512) 

(339,117) 
2,325 

(677) 
(1.080.967) 

Total charges to appropriations 71.910,551 69,027.821 69,045,249 

30.958 
534.646 

60.015 
13,031 
66.266 

141,739 

121.421 
(201.514) 

10,261 
52.315 

1,616 
(214,196) 

(17.292) 
14,436 
16.609 

(17.734) 
(19.652) 

(308.896) 

2,438 
15.757 

1,298 
29,779 
47,847 

(259,817) 

(138.759) 

(17.428) 

Budgetary fund balance, December 31 $2.271,324 $1,738,722 $ 640,327 $ (1.098.395) 

Figure 2.9. Fund. Perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement (GASB, 
1997, p. E-21). 
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The New Financial Reporting Model— 
GASB Statement No. 34 

The GASB received 400 responses to its ED. After giving 

consideration to these comments and other information, the GASB modified a 

number of the ED provisions when it issued GASB Statement No. 34 in June 

1999. The modifications that are important to this history of governmental 

financial reporting are highlighted. 

The new model established by Statement No. 34 has delayed, phased-

in effective dates. State and local governments with the most resources 

(Phase 1 governments)—reporting total annual revenues in the first fiscal 

year ending after June 15, 1999 of $100 million or more—will be required to 

adopt Statement No. 34 for periods beginning after June 15, 2001. For Phase 

2 governments, with total annual revenues of $10 million or more but less 

than $100 million. Statement No. 34 will be effective for periods beginning 

after June 15, 2002. Finally, Phase 3 governments, with total annual 

revenues of less than $10 million, will be required to adopt Statement No. 34 

for periods beginning after June 15, 2003 (GASB, 1999). 

Dual-Perspective Reporting 

Although the term "dual-perspective" has been dropped from the final 

standard, GASB Statement No. 34 continues the PV (1995) and ED (1997) 

requirement to report on two types of accountability. Operational 

accountability for the government as a whole is addressed in what are now 

labeled the government-wide Statement of Net Assets and Statement of 

Activities (GASB 1999). Fund financial statements (a Balance Sheet and a 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances) are 

required to be included to report on fiscal accountability for governmental 

funds of the primary government. The GASB (1999, paragraph 213) notes 
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that this reporting " . . . will enable users to begin to assess the government's 

cost of services for governmental activities as well as business-type activities, 

without losing the fiscal accountability information that has proved useful in 

the past." 

Many ED respondents objected to the dual-perspective approach that 

would have required two separate, disassociated sets of financial statements. 

The GASB modified this ED proposal by requiring that a highly aggregated 

reconciliation between the fund financial statements and the government-

wide financial statements appear at the bottom of the fund financial 

statements or in a separate schedule immediately following the related fund 

financial statement. 

Operating Statement Changes 

GASB Statement No. 34 generally continues the requirements 

proposed in the ED to report the activities of governmental funds in three 

separate operating statements. No changes were made by Statement No. 34 

to the measurement focus and basis of accounting guidance provided in the 

ED. Yet, three substantive modifications to the operating statements 

required by the ED were made and should be noted. 

Statement of Activities 

Few modifications were made to the government-wide Statement of 

Activities. Although it had been labeled an "entity-wide" instead of 

"government-wide" statement in the ED, the scope of the statement is the 

same—the primary government (with separate columns for governmental 

and business-type activities) and its component units. The Statement 

requires governments to use a net (expense) revenue format to report its 

individual functions (the minimum reporting level for governmental 

activities) and segments (for business-type activities). One modification made 
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after the ED that may clarify the effect on net (expense) revenue of grants or 

contributions restricted for capital purposes is the requirement to report 

them in a column separate from other program-specific grants and 

contributions. 

Statement of Revenues. Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances 

Fund financial statements include the governmental fund Statement of 

Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. As in the ED, the 

statement will be prepared using the current resource flows measurement 

focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting (GASB, 1999). 

Two substantive modifications to the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances were made to the ED by 

Statement 34. A required reconciliation, as previously discussed, was added. 

The other significant modification was changing the focus of fund-based 

reporting from fund types to major funds. Reporting major funds in the fund 

financial statements provides much more detail about those funds than 

would occur when only reporting by fund t3T)e. However, non-major funds 

that do not meet the criteria established by the GASB for major funds will be 

reported in one column in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances. This may result in less information about non-

major funds than if they had been reported by fund type. 

Budgetarv Comparison Schedule 

A major change from the ED to Statement No. 34 is the placement of 

the Budgetary Comparison Statement within the financial statements. 

GASB Statement No. 34 encourages governments to move the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement from a basic financial statement to required 

supplementary information and rename it the Budgetary Comparison 
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Schedule. Governments may elect, however, to continue to present budgetary 

comparison information as a basic financial statement (GASB 1999). 

As in the ED's Budgetary Comparison Statement, the budgetary 

comparison schedule compares budgeted resource inflows and outflows with 

actual results for the fiscal year on the budgetary basis (GASB 1999). 

Budgetary comparison schedules are required for the general fund and all 

other major special revenue funds that have legally adopted budgets (GASB 

1999). 

The GASB noted the reasons for moving the Budgetary Comparison 

Statement in its Basis for Conclusions when it stated that the " . . . purpose 

of budgetary comparison reporting is to show whether resources were 

obtained and used in accordance with the entity's legally adopted budget. 

The Board acknowledges the importance of meeting that objective, but does 

not believe it is essential to the users' understanding of the financial position 

and results of operations of a government" (GASB, 1999, paragraph 448). 

Summary 

This chapter traced the development of governmental accounting and 

financial reporting in the United States, particularly as it relates to 

governmental operating statements, from its beginning to the present. Many 

issues related to the proper reporting of governmental activities have been 

debated for many years. Surprisingly little new information has surfaced 

over the last sixty or seventy years of debate to resolve the'se issues: 

• What is the appropriate level of aggregation for governmental financial 

statements? 

• What is the appropriate measurement focus and basis of accounting for 

governmental activities? 

• Should budgetary information be reported in governmental financial 

statements? 
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The GASB attempted to answer these questions for 15 years and 

ultimately determined that no one answer was correct. With the issuance of 

Statement No. 34 in June 1999, the GASB acknowledged that users of 

financial statements had such diverse needs that one set of financial 

statements could not satisfy them. Therefore, the GASB decided to require 

three governmental operating statements in an attempt to satisfy diverse 

user needs. One operating statement is aggregated, while two others are 

disaggregated. The amounts reported on government-wide and proprietary 

fund statements are based on the economic resource flows measurement 

focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The amounts reported on 

governmental fund statements are based on the current financial resource 

flows measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. 

Finally, the amounts reported on the budgetary comparison schedule are 

based on the measurement focus and the basis of accounting used by the 

government to budget. 

Yet, even with the issuance of GASB Statement No. 34 basic questions 

remain. Do users have diverse reasons for using governmental operating 

statements? Have the needs of users been met with the new governmental 

financial statements? Are users able to demonstrate that they understand 

the new statements? This study focuses on these and other questions that 

have not been satisfactorily answered, but if they could be answered, should 

provide valuable information about the potential success of the GASB's new 

reporting model. 
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CHAPTER III 

RESEARCH DESIGN AND 

THEORY DEVELOPMENT 

Introduction 

This chapter consists of two sections. The first section develops the 

research problem and research design. The GASB's objectives for the new 

financial statements are discussed initially. The GASB beheves that the 

provisions of GASB Statement No. 34 will enhance the understandability and 

usefulness of governmental financial reports to each of the three primary 

user groups: the citizenry, legislative and oversight officials, and investors 

and creditors (GASB, 1999). However, research to support the GASB's belief 

is minimal and not directly related to the operating statements that the 

GASB adopted in Statement No. 34. This research is designed to closely 

follow the conceptual underpinnings of Statement No. 34 and to provide 

evidence to judge whether the new operating statements meet the objectives 

set by the GASB. Four research questions are raised to consider whether 

differences exist among the primary user groups for the three governmental 

operating statements required by GASB Statement No. 34. Do user groups 

have different reasons for using operating statements? Do user groups have 

different levels of understanding for important portions of the operating 

statements? Do user groups use different elements within the operating 

statements to attempt to understand a city's operations? Do user groups 

value the operating statements differently? 

Affirmative answers are expected to each of these questions. 

Differences in responses among user groups are necessary to provide 

justification for the changes required by GASB Statement No. 34. For 

example, the GASB expects user groups to have different reasons for using 

governmental operating statements. The GASB also expects that these 
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reasons should correspond with either the entity-wide or fund perspective 

statements. Determining that the expected relationships exist would provide 

support for the changes that the GASB has made. 

Further justification for the new reporting standard may come from 

studying a model of antecedents to user choice of governmental fund 

operating statements. This model is designed to identify significant factors 

related to the user group's choice of an operating statement. User 

understandability of the new operating statements and reasons for using 

governmental operating statements are considered factors that affect the 

users' choice of the most valuable governmental fund operating statement. 

Yet, other factors such as educational background and experience or other 

group specific factors may play an important role in determining the user 

group's choice of an operating statement. 

The second section of this chapter provides the theoretical basis for the 

model and hypotheses presented in the first section. The work of other 

governmental accounting researchers is discussed. The theoretical support 

for this study comes primarily from communication theory and the human 

information processing literature. These theories and their application to 

this research also are explained in the second section of this chapter. 

Conceptualization of the Problem 

In Chapter II, the historical development of governmental accounting 

and reporting was traced by examining different opinions regarding the most 

appropriate reporting model for governmental funds. These different 

opinions led the GASB to adopt a new reporting model for governmental 

funds that in most cases will result in governments preparing three 

governmental operating statements—each of which may be based on a 

different measurement focus and basis of accounting. Requiring multiple 

61 



operating statements was a compromise designed to meet the varied financial 

reporting objectives identified in GASB Concepts Statement No. 1. 

Entity-wide perspective statements are designed to assist users in 

assessing accountability for economic resources. The Statement of Activities 

should allow users to assess whether current-year revenues are sufficient to 

pay for current-year services. The statement should provide readers with 

information about the cost of activities and the financing of programs. It 

should help readers make a long-term assessment of the government's 

operations by allowing them to consider whether the government's financial 

position is improving or deteriorating (GASB, 1995). 

Fund perspective statements are designed to assist users in assessing 

accountability for current financial resources. The Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance provides information about the 

inflows, outflows, and balances of current financial resources. It should 

permit users to determine whether resources were obtained and used in 

compliance with finance-related legal or contractual requirements. 

Budgetary Comparison Statements should help readers compare actual 

results with the legally adopted budget (GASB, 1995). 

GASB Objectives for Statement No. 34 

The GASB believes that the operating statements required by GASB 

Statement No. 34 will help users to better understand the operations of local 

governments by providing information that is useful in assessing fiscal and 

operational accountability. The objective of the GASB pronouncement to 

change governmental financial reporting is found in the first paragraph of 

GASB Statement No. 34: 

The objective of this Statement is to enhance the 
understandability and usefulness of the general purpose 
external financial reports of state and local governments to the 
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citizenry, legislative and oversight bodies, and investors and 
creditors. (GASB, 1999, p. 1) 

Before beginning a detailed discussion of the objective for this GASB 

pronouncement (i.e., enhancing the understandability and usefulness of 

governmental financial reports), it is important to note again the emphasis 

that is placed on users of governmental financial statements. The GASB 

wants the new financial statements to be understandable and useful to 

diverse user groups. In Concepts Statement No. 1, the GASB identified the 

citizenry, legislative and oversight bodies, and investors and creditors as 

primary users of state and local governmental financial reports (GASB, 

1987). In the Basis for Conclusions for GASB Statement 34, the information 

needs of the user groups were considered to be of equal importance (GASB, 

1999). Because the present research was designed to study the 

understandability and usefulness of governmental financial reports, 

representatives from each of the user groups were asked to participate in the 

study. Understandability and usefulness were considered separate 

constructs for purposes of this study. The operating statements were studied 

from the perspective of two GASB premises. First, the statements should be 

understandable to all user groups. Second, the statements should be useful 

to all users groups. 

Understandabilitv 

In Concepts Statement No. 1, the GASB explained that information in 

governmental financial reports should be expressed in the simplest possible 

manner. Although the GASB acknowledged that the level of knowledge and 

sophistication about governmental accounting would differ among users, they 

believed that, to be publicly accountable, governments should issue financial 

reports that could be understood by those who did not have a detailed 

knowledge of accounting principles (GASB, 1987). The GASB clarified the 
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knowledge level that would be required of users in the Basis for Conclusions 

to Statement No. 34, "The information provided should be understandable to 

reasonably knowledgeable users" (GASB, 1999, p. 71). 

A question that has not been answered by the GASB is whether the 

financial statements required by Statement No. 34 will enhance 

understandability or at least be understandable to all user groups. This 

study was designed to gather data on whether users—citizens, legislative 

officials, and investors and creditors—understand the new operating 

statements by asking them to respond to questions related to the three 

statements. Respondents were also asked to consider which elements within 

the statements provided them with useful information in understanding the 

financial operations of a city. Thus, the study was designed to provide data 

that should help answer a question that heretofore had not been answered. 

That is, will the new operating statements enhance the understandability of 

or at least be understandable to all user groups? If it is found that 

respondents understand important portions of the new statements, one can 

have some assurance that the multiple formats for operating statements 

required by GASB Statement No. 34 have the potential to increase 

understandability. 

Usefulness 

In addition to enhancing understandability, the GASB hopes to 

increase the usefulness of external financial reports to user groups. 

Currently, the most frequent user group of state and local governmental 

financial reports is investors and creditors, who are generally satisfied with 

the traditional governmental operating statements. Much of the GASB's 

desire to increase the usefulness of governmental financial reports is, 

therefore, to reach non-traditional users such as citizens or citizen groups 

who presumably use governmental operating statements for different reasons 
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than would investors and creditors. The GASB made a number of 

assumptions concerning users' reasons for using financial statements when 

they identified their objectives for governmental financial reporting in 

Concepts Statement No. 1 (Figures 2.4-2.7). This study was designed to 

gather data regarding respondents' perceptions of the importance of the 

GASB's identified reasons for using operating statements and to test whether 

the reasons various user groups have for using a government's operating 

statements differed. 

Several researchers have studied the purposes for which governmental 

financial statements are used. Jones et al. (1985) used face-to-face interviews 

and a questionnaire to query citizen groups, legislative and oversight 

officials, and investors and creditors. Citizen groups were found to have the 

greatest variety of uses and the greatest diversity of needs for financial 

reports. Citizen groups reported that they used financial reports to evaluate 

the efficiency and effectiveness of government programs, to compare current 

year results with those of previous years, to assess the financial condition 

and operations of a government, to determine compliance with the budget, 

and to provide information to promote certain programs or actions. 

Jones et al. (1985) found legislative and oversight officials used 

governmental reports primarily for three purposes. Financial reports were 

used to compare current year results with prior years and to make 

comparisons with other governments in an effort to evaluate executive 

branch funding and spending proposals. They also were used to monitor the 

activity and financial position of funds, as well as to analyze fund balances. 

Finally, as with citizen groups, financial reports were used to determine 

compliance with the budget and other finance-related requirements (Jones et 

al., 1985). 

Investors and creditors used financial reports primarily to assess a 

government's ability to repay its debt. They also used budgetary statements 
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to evaluate the government's ability to live within its means (Jones et al., 

1985). 

Hebert (1987) surveyed citizens, members of the investor and creditor 

community, and legislative oversight officials. He asked them to describe the 

extent of their use of city financial reports for each of the following reasons: 

1. To make investment and credit decisions, 

2. To make voting decisions, 

3. To assess financial operations and financial condition, 

4. To determine compliance with the budget, 

5. To assess managerial performance, 

6. To make decisions regarding specific programs. 

Hebert (1987) found that all three groups used city financial reports to assist 

them in assessing financial operations and financial condition. Investors and 

creditors often used the statements to make investment decisions, while the 

other groups ranked this reason last. The second most important reason for 

which legislative oversight officials and citizens used financial statements 

was to determine compliance with the budget, whereas investors and 

creditors ranked this as the fourth most important reason. Noting these 

differences, Hebert (1987) concluded that user groups used city financial 

reports for diverse reasons. 

Wilson (1990) surveyed representatives from the citizenry, legislative 

and oversight bodies, and investors and creditors to determine their use of 

general purpose financial statements and their financial reporting 

preferences. Table 4.1 reports the results of Wilson's survey on the use of 

general purpose financial statements by various groups. 
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Table 3.1. Results of Wilson's Study on Use of Financial Statements 

Research Question: To what degree are the general purpose financial 
statements used for the following purposes? (Average 
score is reported with 1 = do not use, 3 = used moderately, and 5 
= used intensively.) 

Legislative/ Investors/ 
Citizens Oversight Creditors Average 

Determine compliance with 
budget and other finance-
related requirement 3.0 3.4 3.1 3.2 

Compare financial position of 
current year with previous 
years 

Assess financial condition 

Assess ability of government 
to repay short-term debt 

Assess ability of government 
to repay long-term debt 

Evaluate efficiency and 
effectiveness 

Evaluate interperiod equity 

3.6 

3.3 

2.6 

2.8 

3.5 

2.8 

3.6 

3.4 

2.1 

2.2 

2.9 

2.4 

4.5 

4.7 

3.9 

4.7 

3.1 

3.2 

3.9 

3.8 

2.8 

3.2 

3.1 

2.8 

Adapted from Wilson, 1990, p. 44. 

Wilson (1990) found user groups differed with respect to their use of 

general purpose financial statements. Overall, investors and creditors used 

the statements to meet more objectives than other user groups. In 

particular, investors and creditors used the financial statements to compare 

financial position of the current year with previous years, to assess financial 

condition, and to assess the government's ability to repay its debt. All these 

uses correspond with investors' and creditors' vested interest in determining 

the financial health and ability of a government to repay its debt. Legislative 

and oversight groups used financial statements to determine compliance with 

budget and other finance-related requirements more than other groups. This 

purpose for financial statements corresponds with the legislative and 

oversight groups' responsibility to ensure the proper usage of government 

resources. Citizens were the primary users of financial statements for the 
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purpose of evaluating efficiency and effectiveness. This could be expected 

because more than other user groups, citizens have an interest in limiting 

government expenditures. 

Relationship to this Studv 

This study expands the work of previous researchers by giving 

respondents a more comprehensive set of reasons for using operating 

statements. Most of the reasons in Part I of the questionnaire booklet were 

adapted from the financial reporting objectives for governments found in 

GASB Concepts Statement No. 1 (Figures 2.4-2.7). The importance of these 

reporting objectives should be considered because they formed a basis for the 

changes made to governmental financial statements in GASB Statement No. 

34. 

This study also differs from earlier studies because it attempts to 

establish a relationship between the users' reasons for using operating 

statements and the amount spent on an operating statement. To help justify 

the changes to the governmental reporting model and governmental 

operating statements, this relationship should be established. To understand 

its importance, it is necessary to consider the GASB's reasons for making 

changes to governmental financial statements. 

The GASB desires to increase the understandability and usefulness of 

governmental financial reports. It believes this can be accomplished by 

providing useful statements that can be understood by non-traditional users 

(e.g., citizens) as well as traditional users (e.g., investors and creditors). In 

Concepts Statement No. 1, the GASB recognized that the users of 

governmental financial reports were diverse, and their needs could be equally 

diverse (GASB, 1987). Jones et al. (1985) in their research report, which was 

sponsored by the GASB, studied the needs of various user groups and found 

they did indeed use governmental financial reports for different purposes. 
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Some of the uses of governmental financial reports identified by Jones et al. 

(1985) can be found as reporting objectives in Concepts Statement No. 1 

(GASB, 1987). In the PV that preceded GASB Statement No. 34, the GASB 

matched the reporting objectives in Concepts Statement No. 1 to the entity-

wide or fund perspective statements that should meet each reporting 

objective (GASB, 1995). 

To provide the GASB justification for changing traditional 

governmental financial statements, a relationship between the needs of users 

and the reporting objectives identified by the GASB in Concepts Statement 

No. 1 should be established. That is, it should be established that users find 

the financial reporting objectives to be important reasons for using 

governmental financial statements. If this is true, a relationship between the 

users' reasons for using financial statements and the entity-wide or fund 

perspective statements that the GASB states meet these objectives should be 

established. If the GASB has correctly matched the reporting objectives in 

Concepts Statement No. 1 to the entity-wide or fund perspective statements 

that meet the reporting objective, a corresponding relationship should exist 

between the user group's answer to questions about reasons for using 

operating statements and the user group's choice of the most important 

operating statement. 

For example, Jones et al. (1985) stated that legislators and oversight 

officials used governmental financial reports to monitor or analyze fund 

activity, the financial position of funds, and fund balances." Another major 

use of governmental financial reports was to determine compliance with the 

budget and other finance-related requirements. If Jones et al. (1985) are 

correct, then legislators and oversight officials should mark reasons related 

to funds, current financial resources, and the budget as very important in 

Part I of the questionnaire. They should also place the highest value on fund 

perspective operating statements in Part IV of the questionnaire. If this 
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occurs, the linkage between reporting objectives in Concepts Statement No. 1 

to the entity-wide or fund perspective statements that the GASB stated 

should meet that objective may be established. This would provide 

justification for the GASB's new reporting model and related financial 

statements. 

Hvpotheses 

A total of four hypotheses were developed to study the differences 

among the three user groups being studied—citizens, legislative and 

oversight officials, and investors and creditors. A first step in determining 

whether the GASB was correct in its assertion that different user groups use 

governmental operating statements for different reasons is to test the 

assertion. Hj^jothesis one was developed to test for differences in the reasons 

for using governmental operating statements among user groups. 

Hypothesis four was developed to test whether user groups placed different 

values on three operating statements that were to be used to analyze the 

operations of a city. If hypothesis one indicates that user groups differ with 

regard to the reasons that they use governmental operating statements, 

differences in values placed on the operating statements are also expected. 

These differences should be consistent with the GASB's matching of reporting 

objectives to particular tj^es of financial statements (fund perspective or 

entity-wide) found in the PV (Figures 2.4-2.7). 

Hypothesis two was developed to determine whether user groups 

understood portions of the new operating statements equally well. 

Hypothesis three was developed to determine whether user groups found the 

elements within the operating statements to be of equal importance in their 

attempts to understand the financial operations of a city. 

The details of the hypotheses are discussed by considering the issues 

that are addressed in each part of the questionnaire. Part I of the 
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questionnaire addressed the reasons for using governmental operating 

statements. Part II of the questionnaire addressed the understandability of 

the proposed operating statements. Part III of the questionnaire sought to 

determine which individual elements in each of the operating statements 

made them useful in understanding the financial operations of a city. Part 

IV of the questionnaire considered the relative value that user groups place 

on the three operating statements and included two open-ended questions. 

The final portion of the questionnaire contained demographic data. 

Pa r t i 

The answers to Part I of the questionnaire provide data to analyze the 

importance of respondent's reasons for using operating statements for a city-

Respondents were asked to judge the importance of 18 reasons for their using 

the operating statements for a city. Their responses ranged from not 

important—number one on a seven-point Likert scale—to very important— 

number seven on the Likert scale. Ten of the reasons (#1, #3, #5, #6, #7, #9, 

#11, #12, #13, and #14) for using operating statements were adapted from 

GASB Concepts Statement No. 1 (GASB, 1987). Three of the reasons (#4, #8, 

and #18) were adapted from Hebert's (1987) questionnaire, which asked 

respondents to describe their reasons for using city financial reports. Two of 

the reasons (#16 and #17) were adapted from Wilson's (1990) study. The 

remaining three reasons (#2, #10, and #15) had not been previously 

considered by other researchers. 

Responses to this portion of the questionnaire provide a basis for 

comparison to previous studies that considered reasons governmental 

financial statements were used (Jones et al., 1985; Hebert, 1987; Wilson, 

1990). The responses are also used to test the null hypothesis: 

Hoi: There is no difference in the importance of reasons for using a 

city's operating statements among user groups. 
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Perceived differences in reasons for using governmental financial 

reports among user groups was a predominant reason for the GASB's 

development of the new reporting model. The common belief has been that 

investors and creditors now use governmental financial statements because 

they give them the information needed to assess a government's ability to 

repay its debt. Citizens have not used governmental financial statements 

because the statements have not provided them with the information needed 

to assess the cost of providing government services. Instead, the new entity-

wide Statement of Activities should provide them with the information that 

they need to assess a government's operations. Much of the commonly held 

belief that user groups use financial statements for different reasons is based 

on the work of previous researchers. If this research results in similar 

findings (Jones et al., 1985; Hebert, 1987; Wilson, 1990), it should provide the 

GASB with additional justification for the change in the reporting model. 

However, even if the findings of this portion of the study agree with those of 

previous researchers, it still does not by itself justify the change in reporting 

model. User groups should also be able to identify the operating statements 

that are designed to provide them with the information that they desire. The 

value placed on operating statements by user groups is discussed under the 

Part IV subheading. 

Part II 

Part II of the questionnaire was designed to gather data about each 

user group's understanding of the three operating statements. One of the 

GASB's objectives for the new reporting model was to enhance the 

understandability of the statements to each of the primary user groups. 

Previous to this study, no research has been conducted to determine whether 

the three operating statements will be understandable to the users or if 

differences exist in the understandability of statements among user groups. 
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A commonly held belief is that the statements will be more understandable to 

all users and that user groups will have varying degrees of understanding of 

the operating statements. This portion of the questionnaire will provide data 

to test these beliefs. 

Respondents were asked to state whether they agreed, disagreed, or 

were uncertain about assertions made concerning each of the three proposed 

operating statements: the entity-wide Statement of Activities, the fund 

perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances, and the fund perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement— 

Budgetary Basis. 

An information booklet was sent to potential respondents with the 

questionnaire. It included a realistic representation of a Management 

Discussion and Analysis section and three proposed operating statements 

prepared for a fictional city: the City of River Falls. Respondents were asked 

to read the first page of the information booklet, which contained a modified 

version of the Management Discussion and Analysis section that had been 

illustrated in the ED. They were then asked to review the page in the 

information booklet that illustrated one of the operating statements before 

responding to assertions about that statement. The three operating 

statements included in the information booklet were slightly modified 

versions of the illustrative operating statements included in the GASB ED 

that preceded Statement No. 34. 

Each of the assertions made regarding the statements had only one 

correct answer—that is, agree, disagree, or uncertain. For each of the 

proposed operating statements, five assertions were made. Respondents 

received a score on each statement based on the number of correct and 

incorrect answers to the assertions about the statement. The scores from 

each of the three operating statements are used to test the null hypothesis: 
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Ho2: There is no difference in understanding of the city's operating 

statement among the user groups. 

The results of testing this hypothesis should provide insight into 

different user groups' understanding of each of the operating statements. 

Investors and creditors were expected to score higher on the 

understandability test for the fund perspective operating statements—the 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances and 

the Budgetary Comparison Statement—than the other groups because they 

currently use these statements. A relatively high score on the 

understandability test for the entity-wide Statement of Activities by citizens 

would provide the GASB with some justification for adopting the new 

reporting model. One of the GASB's arguments for the new Statement of 

Activities was that it would be understandable to citizens. 

Part III 

In Part III of the questionnaire, respondents were asked to judge the 

usefulness of individual elements within the operating statements when 

attempting to understand the financial operations for a city. Part III was 

divided into three sections—one section for each of the three proposed 

operating statements. The section under Statement A (the entity-wide 

Statement of Activities) asked respondents to judge the usefulness of line 

items (or elements) that were unique to that statement. Respondents were 

asked to perform a similar task for Statement B (the fund "perspective 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances) and 

Statement C (the fund perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement— 

Budgetary Basis). 

This portion of the questionnaire was designed to provide insight into 

the elements within an operating statement that make it useful to users 
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attempting to understand the financial operations of a city. The data 

collected are used to test the null hypothesis: 

Hos: Among user groups, there is no difference in the usefulness of an 

individual element in an operating statement in attempting to 

understand the financial operations of the city. 

Although not of major importance to this study, the results of testing 

this hypothesis should broaden our understanding of the importance of 

individual elements within the operating statements to different user groups. 

It should also provide confirmatory evidence that the user groups connect 

their reasons for using operating statements with particular operating 

statements and the elements within the statements that are designed to 

meet their needs. For example, the GASB believes that citizens are more 

interested in the cost of service information displayed in the entity-wide 

Statement of Activities than investors and creditors. If correct, it would be 

consistent for citizens to place a higher level of usefulness on expenses for 

functional activities and the net (expense) revenue by functional activities in 

the Statement of Activities than would investors and creditors. 

Part IV 

Part IV of the questionnaire was composed of three sections. The first 

section considered the relative value of each of the three proposed operating 

statements to users analyzing the operations of the city. Respondents were 

asked to assume that they had $100 to purchase operating'statements that 

were to be used to analyze the operations of the city. They were then asked 

how much they would pay for each of the statements. Asking respondents to 

purchase data permits both a ranking and weighting of the data (Schrader, 

1995). These data are used to test the null hypothesis for each of the three 

operating statements: 
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Ho4: There is no difference in the value assigned to the operating 

statement among the user groups. 

The results of testing this null hypothesis should identify significant 

differences in the values assigned to each of the operating statements by the 

user groups. The results of testing this hypothesis in conjunction with the 

findings to the first hypothesis could provide the GASB with justification for 

the changes made to governmental operating statements in GASB Statement 

No. 34. If the GASB is correct in its belief that the reasons for using 

governmental financial reports differ among groups and that a relationship 

exists between the reasons for using the statements and the operating 

statements themselves, then differences should exist in the values assigned 

to the operating statements by user groups. For example, the GASB would 

expect citizens and investors and creditors to assign different values to the 

three statements because they have different reasons for using the 

statements. If the GASB has been correct in its beliefs, citizens should 

assign a greater value to Statement A (the entity-wide Statement of 

Activities) because it was designed to address issues that were believed to be 

important to citizens such as cost of services and efficiency and effectiveness. 

Other Questions 

In addition to gathering information to test the hypotheses, the 

questionnaire was used to gather anecdotal and confirmatory data. Part IV 

of the questionnaire had two open-ended questions. The first question asked 

why respondents believed the operating statement that they valued most 

highly was worth more than the other statements. This question was 

designed to verify the reasons why respondents value one statement more 

than the others. That is, the reasons respondents gave in Part I of the 

questionnaire for using governmental operating statements should have 

agreed with their reason for placing the most value on a statement. The 
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second question in Part IV of the questionnaire asked respondents to offer 

suggestions that would make the statements more useful. 

Respondent Demographic Data 

The last section of the questionnaire contained respondent 

demographic data. The data collected in this portion of the questionnaire 

was used to test the hypotheses and/or model. The data gathered included: 

• The user group to which the respondent belongs. This was used to 

classify the respondents for tests of the model and hypotheses. 

• The numbers of years the respondent attended school. This was 

used as part of the education construct in the model. 

• The number of college accounting courses completed by the 

respondent. This was used as part of the education construct in the 

model. 

• The respondent's level of experience with governmental and 

business generally accepted accounting principles and experience 

with analyzing state and local governmental financial reports. This 

was used to form the experience construct in the model. 

Development of Model 

In addition to using the data collected in parts one through four of the 

questionnaire to test the hypotheses, much of the same data is used to test 

the model illustrated in Figure 3.1. The model of the antecedents to user 

choice of governmental operating statements was designed to test the 

relationships that the GASB assumes exist. 
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Education 
(Demographic 

data) 

Experience 
(Demographic 

data) 

Reasons for Using 
Operating 
Statements 

(Part I of Questionnaire) 

Understandability 
of Statements 

(Part II) 

Choice of Statement 
A, B, or C 

(Part IV) 

Figure 3.1. Model of Antecedents to User Choice of Governmental Fund 
Operating Statements. 

The model provides a framework to study the GASB's objective for the 

new reporting model and governmental fund operating statements. The 

objective of GASB Statement No. 34 is to enhance the understandability and 

usefulness of governmental financial reports to three primary user groups: 

the citizenry, legislative and oversight bodies, and investors and creditors 

(GASB, 1999). 

The model was designed to gain insight into the reasons for a user's 

choice of a preferred format for operating statements prepared for a city that 

has only governmental funds. Respondents to the questionnaire were asked 

to choose the preferred operating statement format for analyzing the 

operations of a city. They chose among the operating statements proposed in 

the GASB ED: Statement A (entity-wide Statement of Activities), Statement 

B (fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures^ and Changes in 

Fund Balance), and Statement C (fund perspective Budgetary Comparison 

Statement—Budgetary Basis). Two factors posited to affect the user's 

valuation of a particular format for a City's operating statement were the 

GASB's dual objectives for general purpose external financial reports: 

understandability and usefulness. These factors were considered 

antecedents to choice of operating statements because the GASB believes 
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that they are the primary factors in determining whether potential users 

would use governmental financial statements. 

Educational background and experience of respondents with business 

and governmental accounting and governmental financial reporting were 

posited to affect their understanding of the statements. Although previous 

researchers had not considered the effect of these factors on one's ability to 

understand governmental financial statements, researchers had found that 

educational background and experience affected the performance of other 

tasks (Slovic, Fleissner, and Bauman, 1972; Bonner, 1990). Intuitively, 

education and experience should affect understanding of financial 

statements. Therefore, it was hypothesized that education and experience 

were antecedents to understandability. 

The model was tested with user groups as one of the independent 

variables to judge the validity of some long held assumptions. For example, 

proponents of commercial type consolidated financial statements for 

governments have long argued that current governmental financial 

statements were not used because potential users could neither understand 

the statements nor glean the information that they needed from the 

statements. They believe that users would be better able to understand 

financial statements that were like those prepared for commercial 

enterprises (Hylton, 1957; Taussig, 1963; Coopers and Lybrand and the 

University of Michigan, 1976; Davidson et al, 1977; Touche Ross, 1977). 

Thus, they would likely argue that non-traditional users of governmental 

financial reports (e.g., citizens) should be able to understand Statement A 

(the entity-wide Statement of Activities) better than the other statements 

because it is more similar to commercial-type operating statements. 

This study was designed to determine whether understandability and 

choice of statement were related to differences in the experience and 

educational background of users or if other user group factors were 
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significant. The answer to this question could have important implications. 

For example, if regressions for each of the three operating statements find 

that experience or educational background is significant, but the user group 

effect is not, then one may conclude that the understandability of all 

statements is related more to the experiential and educational background of 

the users than the understandability, format, or design of the statements. 

This finding could provide support for the GASB's mission to educate users 

and potential users of governmental financial reports. However, it would not 

provide support for one of the GASB's premises for the new reporting model. 

That is, the new reporting model wUl increase the understandability of 

governmental financial reports to each of the primary user groups. 

Further, if the GASB is correct, user group's reasons for using 

operating statements should correspond with the GASB's identified reporting 

objectives for a particular statement. For example, the cost of service 

questions in Part I of the questionnaire should be positively related to the 

value assigned by users to Statement A. Deviations from expected patterns 

may indicate that the new operating statements do not meet the objectives 

for which they were designed. 

Although the GASB coupled the financial reporting objectives in 

Concepts Statement No. 1 to statements that they believe meet these 

objectives (i.e., the entity-wide or fund perspective statements), no a priori 

expectations existed regarding the correctness of these assumed relationships 

for the operating statements required by GASB Statement No. 34. Instead, 

this study is exploratory in nature and designed to discover the relationship 

among the constructs in the model. 

Summary of Research Design 

This research considered the GASB's objective for the proposed 

operating statements. The GASB believes the changes to governmental 
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financial reports will enhance both its understandability and usefulness to all 

user groups. However, the important question of whether the proposed 

changes will enhance the understandability and usefulness of governmental 

financial reports to all user groups has not been answered. The purpose of 

this research was to provide information that would help answer this 

question. 

A model of user choice of governmental fund operating statements was 

developed. Because the GASB places great emphasis on the 

understandability and usefulness of governmental financial statements, 

these factors were considered to be antecedents to user choice of a 

governmental fund operating statement. In addition to the model, a number 

of hypotheses were posited to consider differences among user groups. 

The model and hypotheses have a theoretical basis in the work of 

previous accounting researchers. Both financial and governmental 

accounting researchers have used communication theory as a basis for 

testing the information conveyed through financial statements. The 

theoretical justification for the model and hypotheses in this study was based 

primarily on communication theory with some contributions from the human 

information processing literature. 

Theoretical Considerations 

Accounting academicians have been concerned with communicating 

accounting information for many years. In 1966, a committee of the 

American Accounting Association published A Statement of Basic Accounting 

Theory (ASOBAT) for the purpose of providing an integrated statement of 

basic accounting theory. In formulating the statement, they first considered 

the need for accounting information by users and potential users. The 

usefulness of accounting information was to be determined "through the eyes 

of the user" (ASOBAT, 1966, p. 3). The concept of the usefulness of 
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accounting information provided the underlying basis for the committee's 

development of standards for accounting information (ASOBAT, 1966). 

The committee believed that accounting was essentially an information 

system concerned with the "effective transmission or communication of 

information" (ASOBAT, 1966, p. 64). Communication was " . . . a vital link in 

accounting activity" (ASOBAT, 1966, p. 13). Effective communication 

required accounting information be both understandable and useful 

(ASOBAT, 1966). Academician's concern for communicating accounting 

information has prompted researchers to study several aspects of the 

communication process including the information conveyed by proposed 

financial statements. 

Financial Accounting Researchers 

Studying proposed changes in financial reporting is nothing new to 

accounting researchers. Previous accounting researchers have helped the 

GASB's sister body, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), study 

the effect of potential changes in financial statements of business operations. 

In the early 1970s, the FASB discussed providing price-level adjusted 

statements as supplementary information to financial reports. This 

discussion prompted several researchers to consider the potential effect of 

price-level adjusted financial statements on decision-makers (Dyckman, 

1969; Heintz, 1973; Mclntyre, 1973). Each of the studies provided decision

makers with hypothetical financial statements that had been adjusted for 

price level changes. The researchers hoped to infer whether the new 

presentations would change the investment-related decision behavior of the 

participants (Dyckman, 1975). 
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Governmental Accounting Researchers 

Governmental accounting researchers have studied numerous 

proposed changes to governmental financial reporting. An area of particular 

interest has been the level of aggregation for governmental financial 

statements. Although specific research questions differed, several 

researchers have studied whether financial statements for state and local 

governments should be consolidated or disaggregated. These studies can be 

classified into two categories based on the research methodology employed: 

user preference studies and user decision studies. 

User Preference Studies 

Some governmental accounting researchers have studied users' 

reporting format preferences. Patton (1976) asked approximately 200 

associate and active members of the Municipal Finance Officers Association if 

they believed that consolidated financial reports were important enough to 

(1) replace fund-type reports or (2) be provided as supplemental reports. He 

found very little support for replacing fund-type reports with consolidated 

financial reports. However, most respondents to the survey supported the 

idea of permitting consolidated reports as a supplementary statement. 

Another question revealed support for publishing two different kinds of 

municipal financial reports. The reports would be aimed at users with 

different levels of sophistication. 

Jones et al. (1985) surveyed 201 members of citizen groups, legislative 

and oversight officials, and investors and creditors. Questions were asked to 

determine their preference for consolidated or fund-type financial 

statements. The majority of users (81 percent) preferred fund-type financial 

statements with responses ranging from 75 percent for citizen groups to 92 

percent for legislative and oversight officials. In contrast, only 16 percent of 

users believed consolidated statements alone were useful. Yet, users 
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generally favored (71 percent) consolidated financial statements if combined 

with individual fund disclosures (Jones et al., 1985). Table 3.2 summarizes 

those findings. 

Table 3.2. Results of Jones' Study on Level of Aggregation. 

Research Question: The items in this section deal with various financial 
reporting alternatives and entity issues. How useful 
would the following be to you? (Responses ranged from 1 = 
not useful to 5 = extremely useful. For purpose of analysis, 
respondents who answered 4 (useful) and 5 (extremely useful) 
were combined to determine the percentages of respondents 
who perceive the following alternatives to be useful). 

Legislative/ Investors/ Total 
Citizens Oversight Creditors Users 

Financial statements on a 
fund-type basis, as is 
presently done 75.0 92.4 78.5 81.9 

Consolidated financial 
statements without 
individual fund disclosures 16.2 9.2 23.4 16.2 

Consohdated financial 
statements with individual 
fund disclosures 69.1 74.2 70.8 71.4 

Adapted from Jones et al. 1985, pp. 66, 127-128. 

Wilson (1990) surveyed representatives from citizen groups, legislative 

and oversight bodies, and investors and creditors to determine their 

preferences for aggregating governmental operating funds in general purpose 

financial statements. Three levels of aggregation for governmental operating 

funds were illustrated in exhibits sent to respondents. 

• Governmental operating funds were reported using separate 

columns. 

• Governmental operating funds were combined into one column. 
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• Governmental operating funds were combined into one column with 

a combining schedule for the general, special revenue, and debt 

service funds provided elsewhere in the general purpose financial 

statements. 

Fifty-six percent of respondents preferred retaining the current 

practice of reporting governmental operating funds in separate columns. 

Thirty-six percent preferred one column reporting if it included a combining 

schedule. There was little support by any of the user groups for only 

reporting operating funds in one column. Representatives from citizen 

groups were about equally supportive of separate reporting of operating 

funds and one column reporting with a combining schedule. Legislative and 

oversight officials were strong supporters of reporting operating funds in 

separate columns (63 percent) (Wilson, 1990). 

Wilson (1990) also asked representatives from each of the user groups 

whether reporting operating funds in separate columns or combining them 

into one column would be best for meeting certain reporting objectives (Table 

3.3). Again, each user group believed reporting operating funds in separate 

columns was the best approach. There was very little support for the 

combined reporting approach when attempting to determine compliance with 

the budget or other finance-related requirement. There was relatively more 

support for using combined statements to compare the financial position of 

the current year with previous years and to assess financial condition. Yet, 

the overwhelming majority favored separate column reporting for each 

objective. 
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Table 3.3. Results of Wilson's Study on Level of Aggregation for 
Governmental Funds. 

Research Question: Which of the reporting alternatives shown best aids in 
achieving each of the following purposes? (Shown is the 
percentage who favored each alternative, where S = separate 
columns for each type of operating fund, and C = combined 
reporting of operating funds in one column.) 

Legislative/ Investors/ 
Citizens Oversight Creditors Total 

Determine compliance with 
budget or other finance-
related requirement 

Compare financial position 
of current year with 
previous years 

Assess financial condition 

S 

88% 

64 

54 

C 

5% 

27 

21 

S 

88% 

61 

56 

C 

7% 

20 

26 

S 

67% 

62 

71 

C 

11% 

20 

20 

S 

81% 

62 

60 

C 

8% 

22 

23 

Assess ability of government 
to repay short-term debt 58 

Assess ability of government 
to repay long-term debt 58 

Evaluate interperiod equity 46 

59 17 53 57 12 

9 

15 

56 20 64 14 59 15 

56 17 59 11 54 15 

Adapted from Wilson, 1990, p. 47. 

User Decision Studies 

Governmental accounting researchers have not only asked users to 

state their preferences regarding financial statement formats, but have also 

attempted to determine the effect of different reporting formats on users' 

decision making. Patton (1978) used an experimental survey of members of 

the Municipal Finance Officers Association to study the effect of financial 

statement format on subjects' estimates of bond interest rates for four 

hypothetical cities. Fund-type and consolidated financial statements were 

prepared for each of the hypothetical cities. His analysis found that the type 

of financial statement presented to participants had a statistically significant 

influence on estimated bond interest rates at the a = .10 level, but not the .05 
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level. Another test found that the type of financial report presented to 

respondents did not have a significant effect on the range of interest rates. 

These conflicting results prevented Patton (1978) from concluding that 

consolidated financial statements significantly influenced respondent's 

estimates of interest rates for municipal bond debt. However, he was able to 

conclude that a city's size and financial condition affected bond interest rate 

estimates. 

Howard (1978) replicated Patton's study using financial analysts 

experienced with municipal bond offerings. Unlike Patton, Howard (1978) 

provided financial analysts with information that would be commonly used in 

bond analysis (in addition to the four financial statements). Howard (1978) 

found that statement format (i.e., consolidated or fund statements) did not 

have a significant effect on respondent's estimates of interest rates for 

municipal bond debt. The inclusion of either consolidated or fund financial 

statements did, however, significantly increase the subject's confidence in 

their interest rate estimates. Thus, he concluded that although statement 

format was not important, financial statements were useful to municipal 

bond investors. 

Gaffney (1986) studied whether consolidated county financial 

statements were perceived as being more useful than fund-type statements. 

Gaffney (1986) conducted an experimental survey in which members of 

constituent groups from three Maryland counties were given one of three 

formats of a hypothetical county's financial statements and asked questions 

about the usefulness of the statements in the analysis of various issues. 

Subjects were assigned to one of three treatment groups. One group received 

consolidated statements. Another group received fund-type statements, and 

a third group received both sets of statements. The consolidated statements 

provided to the groups were designed to highlight the amount of long-term 
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debt to total assets. Total assets of the h5T)othetical county were $742 

million, and long-term debts totaled $342 million. 

Gaffney (1986) asked respondents to evaluate eight issues. Significant 

differences in the perceived usefulness of the reports occurred for only two of 

the issues. Consolidated statements had a higher mean usefulness than 

fund-t3^e reports when measuring the effectiveness of education. Fund-type 

reports were perceived to be more useful than consohdated statements when 

considering a capital improvements issue. However, participants who 

received both types of statements had a higher degree of perceived usefulness 

from the reports than did those who received only one of the statements. 

Although Gaffney (1986) stated that a perceived difference in the usefulness 

of the reports existed on some issues, she concluded that the empirical 

support from her study and others (e.g., Patton, 1978; Howard, 1978; Jones et 

al., 1985) was not sufficient to switch reporting formats. 

Green (1989) studied the effect of information overload on bond rating 

predictions by 89 members of the National Federation of Municipal Analysts. 

She theorized that while a certain amount of information was useful to 

analysts in making decisions, an increasing volume of information would 

eventually lead to confusion and misinterpretation. This theory led to two 

primary research objectives for her study: (1) to determine whether a change 

in the load (volume of information) of current reports produced expected 

effects on predictions of bond rating changes, and (2) if it did, to determine 

what source of load (i.e., data within the primary financial statements or 

data outside the financial statements) was responsible for the effects. To test 

these objectives, a 3 X 3 experimental design was constructed (Figure 3.2). 
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FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT 
LOAD 

Summarized 
Statements 

Combined 
Statements 

Summarized and 
Combined 

Statements 

None 

Least Information 
Load 

OTHER LOAD 

Footnotes 

Current GAAP-
Based Reports 

Footnotes and 
Statistical Tables 

Most Information 
Load 

Figure 3.2. Experimental Design for Green's Study. (Adapted from Green, 
1989, p.68.) 

Analysts were divided into nine groups with each group receiving a 

different packet of information. For example, the group with the least 

information load received no footnotes or statistical tables with the 

summarized statements—statements with single column aggregation and 

interfund transactions eliminated. The group with the most information load 

received footnotes and statistical tables with summarized and combined 

statements. The analysts were asked to assess the financial condition and 

predict the bond ratings for two cities based on the information available. 

Green (1989) found that the accuracy of analyst's predictions was not 

affected by changes in the report load within the statements. That is, the 

accuracy of predictions did not significantly change whether the recipients 

received the summarized, combined, or summarized and combined 

statements. However, adding footnotes or footnotes and statistical tables 

increased the accuracy of analyst's predictions of bond ratings when 

combined statements were used. Overall, this study does not provide support 

for the superiority of summarized or combined statements. 

Daniels (1988) studied the effect of reporting format (i.e., consolidated 

or fund statements) on respondents' (1) ranking of the financial condition of 
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two cities, and (2) rating of the usefulness and the adequacy of information 

on compliance, viability, performance, and cost of services. 

Respondents—citizens, investors and creditors, and legislative and oversight 

officials from the state of Connecticut—^were equally divided into two groups 

and given a questionnaire and the financial statements of two cities prepared 

using either a consolidated or fund format. 

Daniels (1988) found that statement format did not affect respondents' 

ability to rank the cities based on financial condition. Generally, no 

significant difference was found in the adequacy of information provided by 

consolidated and fund statements. Legislative and oversight officials, 

however, found consolidated statements better for purposes of assessing cost 

of services. 

Gaffney (1986) concluded that the empirical support from her study 

and others (e.g., Patton, 1978; Howard, 1978; Jones et al., 1985) was not 

sufficient to switch reporting formats. A review of the governmental 

accounting literature since Gaffney (1986) finds no research that can provide 

the GASB with justification for their switch to a new financial reporting 

format for state and local governments. The current research attempts to 

establish a relationship between the reporting objectives identified by the 

GASB in Concepts Statement No. 1 and the type of financial statement (i.e., 

entity-wide or fund perspective) that the GASB believes meets that objective. 

Establishing this relationship is necessary to justify the changes required by 

GASB Statement No. 34. 

Although no previous studies have considered the issues that were 

addressed in this research, other governmental accounting researchers 

(Hebert, 1987; Smith, 1995) have been interested in the communication of 

accounting information to users. Communication theory and the human 

information processing literature provided theoretical support for their 

studies. Because this study will consider the communication of accounting 
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information to users, communication theory and human information 

processing studies will also provide theoretical support for this study. 

Communication Theory 

Shannon (1948) has been credited with the initial development of 

communication or information theory. Although originally intended for the 

field of telecommunications, the theory has been applied to natural and 

behavioral sciences as well as accounting. Simply stated, communication 

theory is based on the premise that a relationship exists between the source 

and destination of a message (Li, 1963). Shannon's model for communication 

consisted of five elements: an information source, a transmitter, a channel, a 

receiver, and a destination (Shannon, 1948). 

Bedford and Baladouni (1962), who introduced the idea of 

communication theory to the field of accounting, believed a communication 

model could not possibly include all the elements of the communication 

process. However, for communication to occur, three essential elements had 

to exist—a source (originator), a destination (recipient), and information 

intended to be communicated. Additional elements should be selected to fit 

the particular situation being examined. 

In the communication process for accounting information, the 

accountant (source) has the responsibility to produce financial statements 

that carry informative messages to users of financial statements 

(destination). To meet this responsibility, Bedford and Baladouni (1962) 

explained: 

. . . the accountant must first of all determine the type(s) of 
messages needed by the destination. This is of utmost 
importance; in fact, it is the only justification for communication 
to occur. To state it somewhat differently, this concern with the 
needs of the destination should be a guiding principle for the 
accountant. 
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Having determined the needs of the destination, the 
accountant can then be concerned with the production of the 
accounting statements that will carry messages of significance 
and high fidelity, (p. 654) 

Thus, Bedford and Baladouni (1962) believed that an accountant has a 

responsibility to determine the type of information that users need from 

financial statements. Having determined the information needed by users of 

financial statements, the accountant should be sure the statements conveyed 

this information to users. If financial statements were produced with 100 

percent fidelity and interpreted by users with 100 percent fidelity, then 

perfect communication would occur. If distortions occur in the production or 

interpretation of financial statements, communication of financial 

information would suffer. Bedford and Baladouni (1962) argued that 

communication could suffer because of differences in meanings attached to 

messages by users. Users might not receive the same meanings from 

messages due to differences in predispositions, personality characteristics, 

and needs. 

One can easily argue that much of the responsibility for producing 

informative governmental financial reports actually rests with the GASB. If 

correct, Bedford and Baladouni would argue that the GASB should determine 

the type of information needed by the users of governmental financial 

statements. Further, the GASB would need to be certain that the user 

received the message that they intend to be communicated as intended. A 

major focus of this research was to determine whether the'reporting 

objectives identified by the GASB corresponded with the user's perceived 

needs from governmental financial statements. The research was also 

designed to consider whether the information in the GASB's operating 

statements was communicated with a high degree of fidelity to users. 

Although several governmental accounting researchers have 

considered the effect of the format of governmental financial statements on 
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user's decisions (Patton, 1978; Ramanathan and Weis, 1981; Gaffney, 1986; 

Hebert, 1987; Smith, 1995), this study was designed to consider more 

elementary issues. Before users can or will make decisions based on 

governmental operating statements, they must first be able to understand 

the statements and believe they contain useful information. Thus, this study 

was designed to focus on the user's understanding of proposed operating 

statements and his reasons for using governmental operating statements. 

The research goes beyond the work of Smith and Smith (1971), who studied 

the readability of financial reports, by focusing on the underlying construct of 

understandability. The study was also designed to meet the criticism that 

communication theory research only considers the point of view of suppliers 

of information while ignoring users (Abdel-Khalik, 1974). 

Human Information Processing 

While communication theory provides the major theoretical support for 

this study, the human information processing literature provides additional 

support for portions of the study. Human information processing studies 

consider the behavioral aspects of decision making. The basis for human 

information processing research can be traced to the field of psychology. 

Since the 1970s, accounting researchers have adopted psychological research 

methods and applied them to auditing, financial, governmental, managerial, 

and tax accounting applications. Accounting researchers have used 

experimental, survey, and archival research methods to study how 

individuals become aware of information and make judgments (Clancy, 

1992). 

Libby (1981) explained that accounting information had value as an 

aid in decision making. He argued that accountants should be aware of how 

information is processed by decision-makers and how users make decisions. 

Accountants should use this information to improve the communication of 
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accounting information. To accomplish this, accountants might need to 

change the information being reported or the method of presenting 

accounting information. Accountants might need to educate the user about 

the proper processing of accounting information. 

Cues and the Brunswik Lens Model 

Brunswik (1952) developed a model that describes the environment of 

decision making under conditions of uncertainty. Brunswik's lens model 

considers the relationship between a criterion event that cannot be directly 

observed and a judge's (or decision-maker's) decision as to whether or not the 

event will occur. To make the decision, the judge looks through a "lens" of 

cues that should be correlated to the occurrence or nonoccurrence of the 

criterion event. Cues, such as the current ratio, have been used in regression 

models and multidimensional scaling techniques to help decision-makers 

predict business failure in bankruptcy prediction studies (Libby, 1981). 

Policy capturing is an area of research that considers the relative 

importance of various cues in the decision making process. The seminal 

research in this area dates back to Horrigan (1966), who did an econometric 

study of bond rater's judgments. To study the relative importance of 

individual cues in the judgment process, models are often developed in an 

attempt to capture the relationship between the cues and judgments. 

Analysis of variance methods are often used in policy capturing research 

(Libby, 1981). 

Because accountants should communicate to users of accounting 

information the elements needed for decision making, accountants should 

recognize the cues needed by the various decision makers using accountant's 

reports. This information may differ based on the user's expertise or 

knowledge. Slovic, Fleissner, and Bauman (1972) found that experts and 

novices weighted cues differently. Several researchers have argued that 
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experience is a key component in proper cue selection (Einhorn, 1974; Dawes, 

1979). In an auditing context, Bonner (1990) studied the effect of experience 

on cue selection and cue weighting components for two audit tasks. Overall, 

she found that experience was important in weighting the various cues. Her 

results seemed to indicate that training improved both cue selection and cue 

weighting. Thus, a financial statement could seemingly have different 

meaning to different user groups based on their familiarity with the 

information being reported. Further, it would seem that experts and novices 

could come to different conclusions about the value of a particular form of 

operating statement. 

Although many researchers have studied cues using experimental 

techniques, it is not uncommon for researchers considering individual 

perceptions to use survey research. Gibbins and Wolf (1982) studied the 

auditor's perception of the audit environment before, during, and after the 

audit. Their questionnaire focused on 48 different components of the 

environment that might influence the audit. Their analysis largely focused 

on the difference in the mean responses measuring the importance of 48 

environmental components during the design, field work, and evaluation 

stages of the audit. 

Haskins (1987) attempted to identify the important client control 

factors that should be evaluated before the auditor designed audit compliance 

tests. Forty-eight client control factors and their perceived levels of 

importance within a client's control environment were identified. 

Respondents to a questionnaire were asked to rate the importance of the 48 

factors on a five-point scale. The factors were ranked in a table based on the 

mean response for each of the client control factors. 
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Relationship to this Studv 

A primary purpose for this research was to consider the relationship 

between a user's understanding of governmental operating statements and 

reasons for using operating statements and their choice of a preferred 

operating statement. Although this study will not use the Brunswik lens 

model, the importance of individual cues in the choice of financial statements 

will be considered. If the GASB is correct in its assumptions, a relationship 

should exist between reasons for using operating statements (or a reporting 

objective) and a particular operating statement. This study considers the 

relationship between cues (or reasons for using operating statements) and an 

operating statement. 

The human information processing literature also provides support for 

education and experience as antecedents to understandability. Researchers 

have found experts and novices select and weight cues differently. Therefore, 

it is expected that those individuals with more experience will be able to 

make better judgments concerning the operating statements than would 

those with less experience. Experience and education should also be factors 

in a user's choice of the most valuable operating statement format. 
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CHAPTER IV 

DATA COLLECTION 

Introduction 

The previous chapter dealt with developing the model and hypotheses 

that were used in this study. This chapter addresses the process used to 

collect the data for the study and the number of responses received. The 

research considers the understandability and usefulness of governmental 

operating statements to the three primary external user groups for 

governmental financial reports. Because the GASB must consider a diversity 

of users from all sections of the country, to be most beneficial, this research 

draws a sample from each user group that represents all sections of the 

country. Researchers generally recognize mail surveys as being appropriate 

and relatively cost efficient when participants are spread over a wide 

geographical area (Linsky, 1975; Alreck and Settle, 1995). Governmental 

accounting researchers (Jones, 1985; Wilson, 1990; Gaffney, 1986; Hebert, 

1987; Johnson, 1991; Smith, 1995) have typically used mail surveys when 

faced with constraints similar to those found in this research. Therefore, a 

mail survey was used to gather data for this study. 

User Groups 

The GASB identified three primary external user groups for 

governmental financial reports in GASB Concepts Statement No. 1: the 

citizenry, legislative and oversight bodies, and investors and creditors 

(GASB, 1987). The GASB designed the new reporting model and 

governmental financial statements to meet the perceived needs of these user 

groups. Because this research was designed to analyze the 

understandability, usefulness, and perceived value of the proposed operating 

statements, the population of interest is the citizenry, legislative and 
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oversight bodies, and investors and creditors. Representatives from each of 

these groups were included in the sample. 

The Citizenry 

According to GASB Concepts Statement No. 1, the citizenry group 

includes citizens (e.g., taxpayers, voters, or service recipients), the media, 

advocate groups, and public finance researchers (GASB, 1987). For purposes 

of this study, citizens who have an interest in their community represent the 

citizenry group. Unfortunately, the citizenry group has had very low 

response rates to mail surveys similar to the one used for this study (Smith, 

1995; Kinnersley, 1997). Thus, in an attempt to obtain a sufficient number of 

usable responses, packets were sent to 2,487 individuals whose names and 

addresses were on two mailing lists. 

A list of 571 names and addresses of citizens was obtained from the 

membership rolls of the National Civic League. The purpose of the National 

Civic League is to advocate a civic agenda that makes communities work. A 

second mailing list was received from George-Mann Associates, Incorporated. 

This list was composed of 2,011 names of individuals who take an active role 

in community affairs. The names were compiled from directories of local civic 

clubs and similar organizations. Packets were mailed to only 1,916 names 

because 95 names on the mailing list had incomplete addresses or the names 

on the list were obviously wrong. 

The statistical analysis that could be performed depended on the 

number and quality of responses to the questionnaire. At a minimum, it was 

desired to have at least 30 responses from each of the three primary user 

groups (i.e., the citizenry, legislative and oversight officials, and investors 

and creditors). 
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Legislative and Oversight Officials 

According to GASB Concepts Statement No. 1, the legislative and 

oversight officials group includes state legislators, county commissioners, 

members of city councils, boards of trustees, and school boards, and executive 

branch officials with oversight responsibility over other levels of government 

(GASB, 1987). Traditionally, researchers have surveyed members of city 

councils or mayors as representatives for this group. Unfortunately, 

governmental accounting researchers (Hebert, 1987; Smith, 1995; 

Kinnersley, 1997) have also had very low response rates from questionnaires 

sent to presiding officers of cities. This low response rate was probably due 

to several factors such as the length and difficulty of the surveys. One can 

also speculate that mayors often have little background with governmental 

financial reports and have little incentive to complete questionnaires for 

those who are not constituents. 

Thus, instead of survejdng presiding officers of cities, state legislators 

were chosen as the population of interest for this study. In particular, state 

legislators, who served on audit, budget, finance, and appropriations 

committees, were chosen as the sampling frame. State legislators were 

chosen primarily for two reasons. First, state legislators should have a 

vested interest in responding to inquiries and often have a staff to help them 

respond. Second, state legislators, who served on audit, budget, 

appropriations, and finance committees, should be more familiar with 

governmental financial reports than the average state legislator or presiding 

officer of a city. For these reasons, it was believed that the response rate 

from state legislators should be better than from local government elected 

officials. A list of the names and addresses of 2,939 state legislators, who 

served on audit, budget, appropriations, and finance committees, was 

received from the National Conference of State Legislatures. Some names 

and addresses were removed from the list because the list included names of 
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legislators from United States Territories. A few other names were removed 

because the names or addresses on the list were obviously incomplete or in 

error. The questionnaire packet was mailed to 2,849 state legislators. 

Although it had been decided initially to not include the presiding 

officers of cities in this study due to the expected low response rate, the 

questionnaire packet was mailed to 209 municipal legislators. The mailing 

list from the National Civic League included 209 municipal legislators and 73 

government managers in addition to the 571 interested citizens. Because the 

additional cost of mailing to the municipal legislators and government 

managers was minimal, questionnaire packets were sent to the entire 

mailing list received from the National Civic League. With at least 30 usable 

responses desired from this group to perform the statistical tests, 

questionnaire packets were mailed to the 2,849 state legislators in the United 

States and 209 municipal legislators. 

Investors and Creditors 

According to GASB Concepts Statement No. 1, the investors and 

creditors group includes individual and institutional investors and creditors, 

municipal security underwriters, bond rating agencies, bond insurers, and 

financial institutions (GASB, 1987). The major organization that represents 

the investor and creditor group is the National Federation of Municipal 

Analysts (NFMA). The NFMA includes representatives from the major 

rating agencies (Moody's, Standard and Poor's, and Fitch), the major 

insurance companies (e.g.. Prudential, Allstate, and State Farm), the major 

banks (e.g., Norwest, the Bank of New York, and Citibank) and the major 

investors (e.g., Fidelity Investments, Merrill Lynch, and Lehman Brothers). 

The sampling frame for this study was investors and creditors from the 

membership list of the NFMA. Of the approximately 1,100 members of this 

organization, 931 members were surveyed. The sample was reduced to 931 to 

100 



avoid sending more than 10 surveys to any one address. Although this group 

has not traditionally had a high response rate, several researchers (Hebert, 

1987; Johnson, 1991; Smith, 1995) have received about a 20 percent response 

rate from the group. By mailing 900 questionnaires, a 10 to 20 percent 

response rate was expected. This would be sufficient to obtain the needed 30 

responses for the planned statistical analysis. 

Government Managers 

Packets were also mailed to 73 government managers who were 

members of the National Civic League. Non-accounting government 

managers have been a focal point of studies by other governmental 

researchers and are often considered primary users of governmental financial 

statements (Smith, 1995; Kinnersley, 1997). However, this study focuses on 

the three primary user groups identified by the GASB in Concepts Statement 

No. 1. Therefore, response rates from this group were not a concern for this 

study. 

Development of Research Instrument 

An information booklet and questionnaire were sent to each individual 

who was selected to participate in the study. The information booklet was 

four pages and included applicable excerpts from the Management 

Discussion and Analysis illustrated in the ED. The illustrative Management 

Discussion and Analysis was designed to explain key features of the proposed 

governmental operating statements. 

The information booklet also included slightly modified versions of the 

three governmental operating statements illustrated in the ED. The 

information booklet was modified to include only operating statements for 

governmental funds because they illustrate the major changes being 

proposed with the new reporting model. Proprietary funds were not included 
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in the illustrated statements for two reasons. First, proprietary funds are 

already on the accrual basis and thus, unlike the operating statements for 

the government funds, would show little difference between the fund 

perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances and the entity-wide Statement of Activities. Second, budgetary 

comparison statements are prepared only for budgeted governmental funds. 

Therefore, no Budgetary Comparison Statement would have been included 

for proprietary funds even if they had been included within the scope of this 

study. 

The illustrated statements included in the information booklet were: 

• An entity-wide perspective Statement of Activities (See Appendix 

A.) 

• A fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances for the governmental funds (See 

Appendix A.) 

• A Budgetary Comparison Statement—Budgetary Basis prepared 

for the general fund. (See Appendix A.) 

The questionnaire was composed of four parts and a section for 

respondent's demographic data. Details of the questionnaire's composition 

were discussed in Chapter III. 

The information booklet and questionnaire were developed over a 

period of several months. Initially, the objectives for the research were 

identified. The instrument was developed to provide the data that would be 

needed to meet these objectives. The composition of the questionnaire 

changed, as the objectives were more clearly defined. Additional changes 

were made to the information booklet and questionnaire to make them agree 

with the ED when it was issued on January 31, 1997. 

Several people were helpful in the development of the information 

booklet and questionnaire. The director of research for the GASB reviewed 
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the information booklet and questionnaire at various stages. His suggestions 

were incorporated in revised versions and had a major influence on the final 

draft. Current and former doctoral students at Texas Tech University 

provided suggestions that were particularly useful in improving the 

instructions in the questionnaire. Faculty members at Texas Tech 

University, who were on this dissertation committee, also improved the 

content and format of the final version of the information booklet and 

questionnaire. 

A pretest of the instrument was done by the finance director of a 

metropolitan Texas city as well as by three certified public accountants who 

have experience with auditing governmental entities. Their suggestions were 

helpful in clarifying some misunderstandings regarding specific questions. 

However, for the most part, they understood the task that they were asked to 

perform. 

Finally, students in the governmental accounting class at Texas Tech 

University were asked to complete the questionnaire. Their responses to 

Part II of the questionnaire were carefully analyzed to identify problems with 

assertions made concerning the understandability of the operating 

statements. The wording of some assertions was modified to make them 

more understandable. On average, the students spent 30 to 35 minutes 

completing the questionnaire. Comparable amounts of time have been spent 

on surveys mailed by previous researchers (Johnson, 1991; Smith, 1995; 

Kinnersley, 1997). 

Contacting Participants 

Governmental researchers who have mailed questionnaires similar to 

this one have had poor response rates (Hebert, 1987; Johnson, 1991; Smith, 

1995; Kinnersley, 1997). Due to their difficulties, a review was made of the 

literature regarding mail survey techniques in an attempt to find proven 
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methods for increasing participant response rates. Several researchers have 

found that preliminary notification and follow-up contacts were important 

factors in increasing response rates to mail surveys (Linksky, 1975; Yu and 

Cooper, 1983; Fox, Crask, and Kim, 1988; Yammarino, Skinner, and 

Childers, 1991). Other factors that led to greater response rates were having 

the survey sponsored, having personalized mailings, and including a return 

envelope. Incorporating these suggestions, as discussed below, required 

three separate mailings to each of the 6,549 potential respondent. 

Preliminary Contact 

The first mailing to potential respondents was on a four by six inch 

postcard on May 9, 1997. The postcard was printed with the GASB logo in 

the top left-hand corner and included David R. Bean's, the GASB's Director of 

Research, name in the bottom left-hand corner. The postcard briefly 

explained the purpose of the project, that the GASB had endorsed the project, 

and that the results of the study would be important in the GASB's 

discussion regarding proposed changes to state and local government 

financial reporting. A sample of the preliminary postcard can be found in 

Appendix B. 

Mailing of Questionnaire Packet 

On May 20, 1997, potential respondents were sent a questionnaire 

packet that contained (1) a cover letter, (2) an endorsement letter from the 

GASB, (3) an information booklet, (4) a questionnaire, and (5) a business 

reply envelope. The cover letter reminded the potential respondent of the 

importance of the questionnaire and the importance of each participant's 

response. The objectives of the research were restated and the GASB 

endorsement was noted. Participants were assured that their responses 

would be completely confidential and that the results from the questionnaire 
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would only be reported in summary form. Further, respondents were assured 

that the goal of the research was to consider their needs from, and 

understanding of, the governmental financial statements being proposed by 

the GASB. The goal of the research was not to test one's knowledge of 

governmental financial reporting. Finally, participants were thanked for 

their participation in the study. Each cover letter was individually signed in 

blue ink in an effort to emphasize that a personal request was being made. 

The cover letter was on the stationary of the Governmental Accounting 

Research Center at Texas Tech University. Samples of the cover letters used 

can be found in Appendix B. 

The endorsement letter was on GASB letterhead and personalized 

with the name and address of the recipient on the letter. David R. Bean 

signed one letter, which was copied before being personalized. The letter was 

copied so that David Bean's signature was in blue with the text of the letter 

printed in black. This made the signature look like it had been individually 

signed. The letter briefly discussed the reporting model project and the 

proposed governmental financial statements. The importance of the study to 

the current deliberations of the GASB was emphasized. A sample of the 

endorsement letter can be found in Appendix B. 

The information booklet and questionnaire had a professional quality 

appearance. Using different size fonts or print styles emphasized important 

portions of the information booklet and questionnaire. A professional copy 

service was used to produce the information booklets and questionnaires that 

were mailed. 

Finally, the packet included a business reply envelope that allowed 

participants to return the questionnaire without paying postage. The packet 
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was sent to participants in a 9" X 12" envelope with the return address of the 

Governmental Accounting Research Center at Texas Tech University-

Follow-up Postcard 

A follow-up postcard was sent to each potential respondent on May 29, 

1997. The postcard was printed in blue with the GASB logo in the top left-

hand corner and included David R. Bean's name in the bottom left-hand 

corner. The postcard reminded potential respondents of the importance of the 

study. Further, it included a phone number and fax number so that 

individuals who had not received or may have misplaced the packet could 

request another packet. Finally, the postcard included a statement of 

gratitude to those who had already completed the questionnaire. 

Response Rates 

Most respondents returned their questionnaires by the end of July 

1997. Table 4.1 provides a summary of the number of questionnaires mailed 

and returned. The mailing produced a total of 305 usable responses from the 

three governmental financial statement user groups: citizens, investors and 

creditors, and legislative officials, with at least 30 usable responses from each 

group. 
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Table 4.1 Summary of Number of Questionnaires Mailed and Delivered. 

Mailing Lists 
National Civic League 
Community Minded 

Activist (George-
Mann Assoc.) 

National Federation of 
Municipal Analysts 

National Conference of 
State Legislatures 
Total Questionnaires 

Mailed 
Undeliverable 

Total Delivered 

Total Completed 
Questionnaires 
Returned 

Careless respondents 
Usable responses 

Questionnaires 
Returned as a % of 
Delivered 

Usable Responses as a 
% of Delivered 

Citizens 

571 

1,916 

2,487 
51 

2,436 

164 
13 

151 

6.7% 

6.2% 

Investors/ 
Creditors 

931 

931 
5 

926 

91 

91 

9.8% 

9.8% 

State 
Legislators 

2,849 

2,849 
2 

2,847 

54 
5 

49 

1.9% 

1.7% 

Municipal 
Legislators 

209 

209 

209 

15 
1 

14 

7.2% 

6.7% 

Government 
Managers 

73 

73 

73 

45 
3 

42 

61.6% 

57.5% 

Totals 

853 

1,916 

931 

2,849 

6,549 
58 

6,491 

369 
22 

347 

5.7% 

5.3% 

Total Questionnaires Delivered 

Two postcards and a questionnaire were mailed to 6,549 potential 

respondents with postcards or questionnaires for 58 potential respondents 

returned as undeliverable. Third-class postage was used for all mailings. 

Postal service policy is to not return mail to the sender if third-class postage 

is used. However, the postal service returned undeliverable postcards or 

questionnaires from 58 individuals. The most common reasons cited for the 

returns were change in address or death. Most of the undeliverable mail 

came from the community minded mailing list purchased from George-Mann 
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Associates, Incorporated. Approximately 30 more individuals on this list 

called or wrote that they were retired or "too old" to complete the 

questionnaire. 

Usable Returns 

Incomplete questionnaires and careless respondents limited the 

number of usable responses from returned questionnaires. The number of 

incomplete questionnaires that were returned is not reported in Table 4.1 

because many of these questionnaires could not really be considered 

responses. Some completed just one or two parts of the questionnaire while a 

few completed everything but the demographic section. Careless respondents 

completed most or the entire questionnaire, but their responses were 

obviously frivolous and not appropriate for use in this study. The mailing 

produced 347 usable responses to the questionnaire. 

The usable response rate for this study was generally low for all user 

groups. Low response rates are typical of this type of mail survey research 

(see Table 4.2). Low response rates were expected when designing the 

questionnaire. The difficulty and time required to complete the 

questionnaire were expected to limit the number of responses. To 

compensate for the expected low response rate, the number of questionnaires 

mailed was increased so that an adequate number of usable questionnaires 

would be returned to allow for meaningful statistical analysis. 
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Table 4.2 Summary of Usable Response Rates from Previous Studies. 

Researcher Citizenry 
Investors and 

Creditors 
Legislative/ 
Oversight 

Government 
Financial 
Officials 

Nonaccounting 
Government 

Managers 
Hebert (1987) 29.7% 

Wilson (1990) 23.3% 

Johnson (1991) 32.1% 

Smith (1995) 

Kinnersley 
(1997) 

17.2%A 

1.3% 

20.3% 

28.2% 

20.7% 

20.7% 

6.9% 

39.7% 13.7% 

32.4% 

42.5% 

21.5% 

25.0% 

17.2%^ 

4.7% 

^ Groups combined in Smith study due to low response rates. 

Unfortunately, a low response rate may result in nonresponse bias, 

which limits the generalizability of the results to the population of interest. 

Nonresponse bias is the risk that respondents to a survey differ from 

nonrespondents with regards to survey variables. This may result in survey 

estimates based on answers from respondents alone to be biased estimates of 

population parameters (Kalton, 1983). For example, one might conclude from 

this study that state legislators have little interest in surveys related to the 

governmental financial reporting model, but no conclusions should be drawn 

about the user needs of all state legislators. Less than a two percent 

response rate does not provide adequate data for inductive reasoning to be 

valid. Yet, an analysis of the data collected is useful since it may be 

representative of state legislators who have an interest in governmental 

financial reporting. 

Because of the low response rate from state legislators, t-tests were 

performed to determine if it would be possible to combine the usable 

responses from municipal legislators and government managers with the 

usable responses from state legislators. The results of the t-tests indicated 

no significant differences in the answers to the questionnaires by state and 

municipal legislators. These groups are combined and reported as 
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"legislators" in the remainder of this study. The responses by government 

managers and state legislators significantly differed on many questions. This 

could be expected because legislators and government managers would 

typically use governmental financial statements for different reasons. 

Government managers commonly have access to internal financial 

information, which makes it questionable as to whether they are really 

external users of financial reports. Therefore, the responses of government 

managers are not reported in the remainder of this study. 

Chapter Summary 

This chapter summarizes the procedures used to collect data from the 

three primary external user groups of governmental financial reports: 

citizens, legislative officials, and investors and creditors. A sample of 

individuals from each of the groups was chosen to receive an information 

booklet and related questionnaire. The information booklet and 

questionnaire were thoroughly reviewed and tested prior to mailing. Steps 

were taken to increase the typically low response rates found in similar 

studies. An adequate number of responses was received to perform the 

desired statistical tests even though response rates were generally low. 
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CHAPTER V 

DATA ANALYSIS AND RESEARCH RESULTS 

Introduction 

A primary objective of this study was to determine if the operating 

statements required by GASB Statement No. 34 would be understandable 

and useful to the primary users of governmental financial reports: the 

citizenry, legislative and oversight officials, and investors and creditors. The 

previous chapters provide the necessary background to understand the 

research problem. The information presented in Chapter II developed the 

history of governmental financial reporting with a particular emphasis on the 

operating statement. Chapter III was used to develop the research questions 

and the plan for achieving the research objectives. That chapter includes a 

discussion of GASB Statement No. 34 and describes how this study was 

designed to test the underlying premises of the due process documents that 

preceded that Statement. The results of the data collection process and 

response rates to the mailed questionnaire were discussed in Chapter IV. 

This chapter presents the results of the analysis of the responses to the 

questionnaire. First, the results of the analysis of the four hypotheses 

developed in Chapter III are discussed. Next, an analysis is made of the 

relationships in the model of antecedents to user choice of operating 

statements, which was also developed in Chapter III. 

Analysis of Hypotheses 

The following statistical analysis focuses on a primary objective of this 

research: assessing the understandability and usefulness of the three 

operating statements required by Statement No. 34 to the primary users of 

governmental financial reports. The purpose of statistical analysis related to 

the hypotheses is to identify differences among user groups with respect to 
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four research questions. Do user groups have different reasons for using 

operating statements? Do user groups have different levels of understanding 

of portions of the operating statements required by Statement No. 34? Do 

user groups use different elements within those operating statements in 

attempting to understand a city's operations? Do user groups value the three 

operating statements differently? 

Four null hypotheses of no difference among the groups were designed 

to accompany these questions. User groups are expected to significantly 

differ with respect to their answers to each of the four research questions. 

These differences are necessary to provide justification for the changes 

required by GASB Statement No. 34. If no differences in responses to the 

four research questions exist among the user groups, the dual-perspective 

approach to financial reporting (entity-wide and fund statements) may not be 

necessary. For example, only the entity-wide Statement of Activities might 

be necessary if all user groups choose cost of service related reasons as their 

most important reasons for using governmental operating statements. 

Therefore, determining that the expected relationships exist will provide 

support for the changes that the GASB has made. 

In summary, the primary purpose of this section of the research is to 

determine the extent to which user groups (i.e., citizens, investors and 

creditors, and legislators) differ with respect to: 

1. The importance of their reasons for using governmental operating 

statements. 

2. Their understanding of governmental operating statements. 

3. The perceived usefulness of the individual elements within 

operating statements to understanding the financial operations of a 

city. 

4. The value that they place on three operating statements that would 

be used to analyze the city's operations. 
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Therefore, user group (GROUP) is the independent variable for each of the 

four hjTDotheses discussed in this portion of the study. 

Hypothesis One 

Hypothesis one considers whether user groups differ in the importance 

that they place on reasons for using a city's operating statements. 

Respondents were asked to judge the importance of 18 reasons for their using 

the operating statements for a city. Ten of the reasons (#1, #3, #5, #6, #7, #9, 

#11, #12, #13, and #14) for using operating statements were adapted from 

GASB Concepts Statement No. 1 (GASB, 1987). Three of the reasons (#4, #8, 

and #15) were adapted from Hebert's (1987) questionnaire, which asked 

respondents to describe the reasons they used city financial reports. Two of 

the reasons (#16 and #17) were adapted from Wilson's (1990) questionnaire. 

Each respondent was asked to circle the number that on a seven-point Likert 

scale ranging from one (not important) to seven (very important) most clearly 

described their belief concerning the following question: 

Listed are potential reasons for using operating statements for a City. 

How important would each of these reasons be to you? 

The data collected from respondents was used to test the null hypothesis: 

Hoi: There is no difference in the importance of reasons for using a 

city's operating statements among user groups. 

This hypothesis requires the use of one categorical independent 

variable, user group, and 18 dependent variables—the 18 reasons for using a 

city's operating statements in Part I of the questionnaire. A one-way 

MANOVA is appropriate when there is only one categorical independent 

variable. A MANOVA also should be used when many dependent variables 

(i.e., the 18 reasons) are studied simultaneously, because they are almost 

always correlated. If dependent variables are correlated, univariate analysis 

could wrongly lead to the conclusion that a factor has a significant effect 
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when it does not. To avoid wrong conclusions, most practitioners first 

examine the results of multivariate tests, and then proceed with univariate 

analysis only if the multivariate analysis produces significant results (Crum, 

1986). Therefore, a one-way MANOVA was used to test the null hypothesis. 

The results of this test are summarized in Table 5.1. 

Table 5.1. Test for No Overall GROUP Effect. 

Statistic 
Wilk's Lambda 
Pillai's Trace 
Hotelling-Lawley Trace 
Roy's Greatest Root 

Value 
.340 
.715 

1.776 
1.679 

F 
10.6384* 
8.3212* 

13.1751* 
25.0956* 

NumDF 
36 
36 
36 
18 

DenDF 
536 
538 
534 
269 

Note: The F statistics marked with an asterisk indicate statistical 
significance at a .0001 level or better. Num DF refers to numerator 
degrees of freedom and Den DF refers to denominator degrees of 
freedom. 

The GROUP effect is statistically significant for all four test statistics. 

Therefore, the null hypothesis that there is no difference in the importance of 

reasons for using a city's operating statements among user groups is rejected. 

These tests indicate that the groups' mean vectors differ with regard to their 

reasons for using a city's operating statement. This result was expected and 

is consistent with the findings of previous researchers who found that 

citizens, investors and creditors, and legislators use governmental financial 

statements for different reasons (Jones et al., 1985; Wilson, 1990). This 

finding also lends initial support for the GASB premise that government-

wide and fund financial statements are necessary to meet user needs. 

Two important questions remain. Which group mean vectors are 

different from the others and on which variables do they differ? Univariate 

analysis for each of the dependent variables can provide this information. 

The TUKEY option under the MEANS statement using the GLM procedure 

in SAS statistical software program was used for the univariate analysis. 
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The Tukey or Tukey-KJramer method was chosen because it controls for 

unequal sample sizes and because it is more powerful than many other SAS 

options (SAS/STAT User's Guide, 1990). Table 5.2 summarizes the results of 

the Tukey procedure. 

The mean responses to the importance of reasons for using a city's 

operating statements were significantly different (at least at the .10 level) 

between user groups for 14 of the 18 reasons for using operating statements. 

Consistent with findings of previous researchers (Jones et al., 1985; Hebert, 

1987; Wilson, 1990), investors and creditors found several reasons related to 

an entity's ability to repay its debt as significantly more important reasons 

for using a city's operating statement than did citizens and legislators. These 

reasons include using a city's operating statement to: 

• Assess whether the city's financial position improved or 

deteriorated as a result of the year's operations. 

• Make investment and credit decisions related to the city. 

• Assess operating results for the city. 

• Assess sources, uses, and balances of current financial resources. 

• Determine whether current year revenues were sufficient to pay for 

current year services. 

• Assess the ability of the city to repay general long-term debt. 

• Assess the ability of the city to repay short-term debt. 
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Table 5.2. Mean Group Response, (Standard Deviation), and TUKEY test of 
Dependent Variables (Reasons for Using Operating Statements). 

Research Question: Listed are potential reasons for using operating statements for a 
City. How important would each of these reasons be to you? (Mean 
score is reported on a scale ranging from 1 = not important to 7= ver>' 
important). 

Investors/ 
Citizens Creditors Legislators 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10 

11 

To determine compliance with finance-
related legal or contractual requirements. 

To make decisions regarding specific 
govemmental funds—such as the General 
Fund. 

To assess whether the City's fmancial 
position improved or deteriorated as a result 
of the year's operations. 

To make investment and credit decisions with 
respect to the City. 

To determine whether resources obtained and 
used were in accordance with the entity's 
legally adopted budget. 

To assess operating results for the City. 

To assess sources, uses, and balances of 
current financial resources. 

To make voting decisions about the City. 

To determine the costs of programs or 
functions. 

. To compare actual fmancial results to the 
legally adopted budget. 

. To determine whether current-year revenues 
were sufficient to pay for current-year 
services. 

(n=148to 150) 

5.4 
(1.5) 

5.6 
(1.4) 

6.0* 
(1.1) 

5.5^* 
(1.4) 

5.7^ 
(1.4) 

5.8* 
(1.4) 

5.7-
(1.3) 

5.1^ 
(1.6) 

5.7^ 
(1.3) 

5.9^ 
(1.4) 

6.0-
(1.2) 

(n=89to91) 

5.6 
(1.7) 

5.9 
(1.4) 

6.6^ 
(.8) 

6.7^ 
(-6) 

4.8* 
(1.5) 

6.4^ 
(-8) 

6.1^^ 
(1.0) 

2.4* 
(1.5) 

3.9* 
(1.5) 

5.0* 
(1.4) 

6.3^ 
(.8) 

(n=61 to 63) 

5.2 
(1.6) 

5.9 
(1.1) 

6.1* 
(1.1) 

5.1*-
(1.5) 

5.7^ 
(1.3) 

5.8* 
(1.3) 

5.5" 
(1.4) 

4.9^ 
(1.6) 

5.6^ 
(1.4) 

5.8^ 
(1.3) 

5.9-
(1.3) 
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Table 5.2. Continued. 

Research Question: Listed are potential reasons for using operating statements for a 
City. Howimportant would each of these reasons be to you? (Mean 
score is reported on a scale ranging from 1 = not important to 7= very 
important). 

Investors/ 
Citizens Creditors Legislators 

12. To provide information about legal or 
contractual restrictions on fmancial 
resources. 

13. To provide information about the City's 
financing of activities. 

14. To assist in assessing economy and efficiency 
for the City. 

15. To determine how the City met its cash 
requirements. 

16. To assess ability of City to repay general 
long-term debt. 

17. To assess ability of City to repay short-term 
debt. 

18. To assess managerial performance of City 
personnel. 

(n=148tol50) 

4.9 
(1.6) 

5.5 
(1.2) 

5.6^ 
(1.3) 

5.4 
(1.3) 

5.5* 
(1.4) 

5.5* 
(1.3) 

5.3^ 
(1.6) 

(n=89to91) 

5.1 
(1.6) 

5.7^ 
(1.1) 

4.6*" 
(1.6) 

5.4 
(1.2) 

6.5^ 
(1.0) 

6.3^ 
(1.1) 

4.2*" 
(1.6) 

(n=61to63) 

4.9 
(1.6) 

5.2" 
(1.5) 

5.0^ 
(1.6) 

5.0 
(1.6) 

5.4* 
(1.5) 

5.4* 
(1.5) 

5.0^ 
(1.7) 

n==number of responses 

^ The average response to this reason for using operating statements by this group is significantly 
greater (at the .01 level) than the group(s) marked by the asterisk. 

^ The average response to this reason for using operating statements by this group is significantly 
greater (at the .05 level) than the group(s) marked by the plus sign. 

^ The average response to this reason for using operating statements by this group is significantly 
greater (at the .10 level) than the group(s) marked by the minus sign. 

Also consistent wi th other researchers (Jones et al., 1985; Hebert , 

1987; Wilson, 1990), cit izens and legislators placed significantly grea te r 

impor tance on us ing opera t ing s ta tements for de termining compliance with 

t he budget (reason n u m b e r s 5 and 10 in Table 5.2) t h a n did investors and 

creditors. They, also placed significantly more importance on us ing a city's 
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operating statements to determine the cost of programs or functions, to assist 

in assessing the economy and efficiency of a city, to make voting decisions, 

and to assess managerial performance. Again, this was consistent with the 

findings of other researchers (Jones et al., 1985; Hebert, 1987; Wilson, 1990). 

The greater importance placed on using operating statements to making 

voting decisions by citizens and legislators than investors and creditors does 

not mean that any group considered it of great importance. While investors 

and creditors gave making voting decisions its lowest mean response of 2.4, it 

also received the lowest mean response of legislators at 4.9 and the second 

lowest mean response of citizens at 5.1. 

This analysis leads to an interesting observation about the significant 

differences in mean responses among the groups. Most of the significant 

differences in the mean responses occurred when the mean responses of 

investors and creditors were significantly different from both citizens and 

legislators. An examination of the mean responses for the importance of the 

18 reasons for using operating statements in Table 5.2 provides evidence as 

to why these significant differences occurred. The ranges of mean responses 

for citizens (4.9 to 6.0) and legislators (4.9 to 6.1) were much less than the 

range of mean responses for investors and creditors (2.4 to 6.7). This is an 

indicator that investors and creditors generally had stronger opinions about 

the importance of their reasons for using governmental operating statements 

than the other groups. The wider range of mean responses for investors and 

creditors increased the likelihood that they would significantly differ from 

the other groups, which responded in a generally narrow range. 

Conclusions 

The statistical differences in the importance of reasons for using a 

City's operating statements among user groups provides initial support for 

the GASB belief that both entity-wide and fund perspective statements are 
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necessary. One of the primary reasons for requiring the new entity-wide (or 

government-wide) statements in GASB Statement No. 34 was to provide 

citizens with information that they needed, but had been lacking with the 

current reporting model. The importance placed on "entity-wide reasons" for 

using operating statements by citizens seems to provide support for the belief 

that the entity-wide statements would be important to citizens. Three of the 

four highest mean responses to reasons for using operating statements by 

citizens are objectives that the GASB indicated in its PV could be met by 

using entity-wide statements (Figures 2.4-2.7). These reasons are: 

• To assess whether the City's financial position improved or deteriorated 

as a result of the year's operations. 

• To determine whether current year revenues were sufficient to pay for 

current year services. 

• To assess operating results for the City. 

Additional support for the importance of entity-wide statements to 

citizens comes from the significantly greater importance they placed on using 

operating statements to determine the cost of programs or functions and to 

assist in assessing the economy and efficiency of operations than did 

investors and creditors. This may suggest that although the current 

governmental operating statement has relatively satisfied investors and 

creditors, citizens need statements for different purposes. 

Interestingly, citizens' third highest mean response to reasons for 

using operating statements was to compare actual financial results to the 

legally adopted budget. The fund perspective Budgetary Comparison 

Statement would be needed to make that comparison. Both citizens and 

legislators found budget-related reasons for using governmental operating 

statements more important than investors and creditors. This suggests that 

although the entity-wide statements are important to citizens, fund 

perspective statements are also important. This provides support for the 
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GASB's dual-perspective reporting model and provides support for those who 

believe that budgetary comparison statements should be reported as a part of 

basic financial statements.^ 

The most important reason that investors and creditors had for using 

governmental operating statements was to make investment decisions. 

Other important reasons for using the operating statements were related to 

assessing an entity's ability to repay its debt and the results of its current 

operations. Interestingly, three of the top six reasons that investors and 

creditors had for using operating statements are essentially Concept 

Statement No. 1 objectives that the GASB believes can be best met by the 

entity-wide statements. These include: 

• To assess whether the City's financial position improved or deteriorated 

as a result of the year's operations. 

• To assess operating results for the City. 

• To determine whether current-year revenues were sufficient to pay for 

current-year services. 

Although the GASB believes these reasons or objectives can be best 

met by the entity-wide statements, only one of the reasons—determining 

whether current year revenues were sufficient to pay for current year 

services—can be uniquely linked to the entity-wide statements. Many 

believe that fund perspective statements using a current financial resources 

measurement focus are now used to make the other two assessments. An 

examination of mean average responses finds that two of the common 

arguments for entity-wide statements were of relatively little importance to 

investors and creditors. Investors and creditors did not believe it would be 

1 The GASB decided in Statement No. 34 that budgetary statements 
could be included in either basic financial statements or as required 
supplementary information. 
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very important to use operating statements to assist in assessing economy 

and efficiency (mean=4.6) or to determine the costs of programs (mean=3.9). 

Overall, the findings support the belief that investors and creditors are 

most interested in using governmental operating statements for investment 

reasons. Determining whether a government has the ability and will 

continue to have the ability to repay its debt is of primary importance to 

investors and creditors. Like citizens, investors' and creditors' reasons for 

using governmental operating statements indicate that both entity-wide and 

fund perspective statements could be useful. 

Legislators' reasons for using operating statements also suggest the 

need for a dual approach to reporting. Legislator's top five reasons (based on 

a ranking of mean responses) for using operating statements and the type of 

statement that best meets those reasons are: 

• To assess whether the City's financial position improved or deteriorated 

as a result of the year's operations (Entity-wide statements). 

• To make decisions regarding specific governmental funds (Fund 

perspective statements). 

• To determine whether current-year revenues were sufficient to pay for 

current-year services (Entity-wide statements). 

• To compare actual results to the legally adopted budget (Fund 

perspective statements). 

• To assess operating results for the City (Entity-wide statements). 

In summary, although it is commonly believed that citizens' reasons 

for using operating statements can be met with the entity-wide statements to 

the exclusion of fund perspective statements, these findings do not support 

that notion. The findings also do not support the belief that investors and 

creditors should be completely satisfied with fund perspective statements. 

All three primary user groups indicated that they had important reasons for 

using both entity-wide and fund operating statements. Therefore, these 

121 



findings provide support for the GASB's dual approach to financial reporting 

adopted in Statement No. 34. 

H3^othesis Two 

Hypothesis two considers whether user groups differ with regard to 

their understanding of key portions of the three operating statements 

presented in the Information Booklet: the entity-wide Statement of Activities, 

the fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Fund Balances, and the fund perspective Budgetary Comparison 

Statement—Budgetary Basis. The task that respondents were asked to 

perform began by asking them to read the first page of the Information 

Booklet—which included an abbreviated Management's Discussion and 

Analysis—and applicable portions of the operating statements provided in 

the Information Booklet. Respondents were then asked to answer a series of 

assertions designed to determine whether they could interpret basic financial 

information presented in each of the three operating statements. Different 

assertions were made for each of the operating statements because of 

differences in the format and elements contained in the statements. 

Respondents were then asked to check whether they agreed with, 

disagreed with, or were uncertain about each of the assertions found in 

Tables 5.3 though 5.5. One point was given for each correct answer, and one 

point subtracted for each incorrect answer. A point was neither added nor 

subtracted if a participant answered a question by marking "uncertain." 

Thus, answers to each of the following assertions for any one participant 

could range from 1 for a correct response to -1 for an incorrect response. The 

answers in Tables 5.3 though 5.5 represent the mean average response for 

each group. 

Each of the assertions made regarding the statements had only one 

correct answer—that is, agree, disagree, or uncertain. For each of the 
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proposed operating statements, five assertions were made. Respondents 

received a score for each operating statement based on the number of correct 

and incorrect answers to the assertions about the statement. The mean 

responses for each of the questions were added together to determine a total 

mean average score for a statement by user group. Tables 5.3 through 5.5 

summarize the results of the respondent's answers to the understandability 

questions. 

Table 5.3. Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Statement A (Entity-wide Statement of Activities). 

Mean Average Responses 
Investors/ 

Citizens Creditors Legislators 
(n = 151) (n=90) (n=:63) 

The Net Expense for Public Safety of 
$32,295,901 indicates that the City does not have 
enough program revenue to cover Public Safety 
expenses. (Correct response = Agree) 

The Net Expense for Public Safety of 
$32,295,901 indicates that the City has financial 
problems related to its Public Safety function 
that have resulted in a deficit. (Correct response 
= Disagree) 

Real Estate Taxes of $34,168,449 represent 
taxes that were for general government support. 
(Correct response = Agree) 

The excess of expenses over revenues before 
special item of $5,818,502 indicates that current 
year revenues were sufficient to pay for current 
year services. (Correct response = Disagree) 

The Decrease in Net Assets from $124,333,801 at 
the beginning of the year to the ending balance 
for Net Assets of $121,168,787 indicates that the 
City's financial position has deteriorated. 
(Correct response - Agree) 

Totals 

.51 
(.84) 

.49 
(.86) 

.33 
(.91) 

-.01 
(.92) 

.68 
(.65) 

.75 
(.61) 

.76 
(.48) 

.62 
(.68) 

.89 
(.41) 

.33 
(.86) 

.83 
(.52) 

.81 
(.56) 

.68 
(.60) 

2.61* 
(1-54) 

.73 
(.49) 

3.49A 
(1.44) 

.71 
(.58) 

Ml 
(1-56) 

n=number of responses 

'̂  The average total score for this group is significantly greater (at the .01 level) than the group marked by 
the asterisk. 
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Table 5.4. Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Statement B (Fund Perspective Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances). 

The City financed its General Fund programs from 
current year revenues and the sale of park land. 
(Correct response = Agree) 

The Public Works expenditures of $4,975,775 
represents all outflows of current financial 
resources for Public Works. (Correct response = 
Disagree) 

The $2,201,199 in Excess of expenditures over 
revenues in the General Fund indicates that the 
City has sufficient revenue to meet current 
expenditures. (Correct response = Disagree) 

The Transfers in of $2,714,856 to the Debt 
Service Funds indicates transfers of cash or other 
current financial resources were made from other 
Funds to the Debt Service Fund. (Correct response 
= Agree) 

Capital outlay expenditures of $16,718,649 in the 
Capital Projects Funds appear to be largely 
financed by long-term debt. (Correct response = 
Agree) 

Totals (without adjustment) 

Adjusted totals (without asser t ion 1 scores) 

Mean Average Responses 

Citizens 
Investors/ 
Creditors Legislators 

(n=151) 

.43 
(.81) 

.44 
(.84) 

.81 
(.51) 

.68 
(.61) 

(n-=91) 

.51 
(.83) 

.61 
(.74) 

.93 
(.29) 

.96 
(.25) 

(n=63) 

.49 
(.84) 

.57 
(.76) 

.86 
(.47) 

.79 
(.48) 

.57 
(.66) 

2.93* 
(L81) 

2.50* 
(1.55) 

.89 
(.41) 

3.90A 
(1.27) 

3.39AB 

(.87) 

.70 
(.63) 

^Al 
(1.7) 

2.92-
(1.4) 

n=number of responses 

A The average total score for this group is significantly greater (at the .01 level) than the 
group marked by the asterisk. 

2 The average total score for this group is significantly greater (at the .10 level) than the 
group marked by the minus sign. 
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Table 5.5. Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Statement C (Fund Perspective Budgetary Comparison 
Statement—Budgetary Basis). 

(n 

Mean Averase Resvonses 

Citizens 
=140 to 141) 

Investors/ 
Creditors 

(n=86) 
Legislators 

(n=61) 
The Original and Final Budget numbers are 
not useful when considering how well City 
personnel prepared their original budget. 
(Correct response = Disagree) 

« 

The decrease in beginning Budgetary Fund 
Balance from $2,736,824 in the Original 
Budget to $1,264,888 in the Final Budget 
indicates the amount available for 
appropriations decreased after the approval of 
the original budget. (Correct response = Agree) 

The Inspections department has complied with 
its budget better than the Fire department has 
compHed with its budget. (Correct response = 
Agree) 

The ($201,514) balance in the Variance column 
for the Fire department indicates actual 
expenditures exceeded the amount approved in 
the final budget. (Correct response = Agree) 

The ($201,514) balance in the Variance column 
for the Fire department arose because the Fire 
department's budget was increased during the 
year. (Correct response = Disagree) 

Totals 

.57 
(.76) 

(L78) 

.71 
(.63) 

(1.49) 

.39 
(.88) 

.41 
(.76) 

.64 
(.71) 

.81 
(.53) 

.60 
(.62) 

3.03^ 

.69 
(.60) 

.60 
(.67) 

.89 
(.43) 

.78 
(.47) 

3.67AB 

.64 
(.73) 

.43 
(.87) 

.72 
(.69) 

.56 
(.70) 

2.74* 
(1.76) 

n=number of responses 

A The average total score for this group is significantly greater (at the .01 level) than the 
group marked by the asterisk. 

B The average total score for this group is significantly greater (at the .05 level) than the 
group marked by the plus sign. 

125 



The cumulative scores from each of the operating statements are used 

to test of the null hypothesis: 

H02: There is no difference in understanding of the city's three 

operating statements among the user groups. 

This hypothesis requires the use of one categorical independent 

variable or factor—user group. The purpose of this portion of the study is to 

determine whether the groups significantly differ with regard to their 

cumulative understandability scores for each of the three operating 

statements. The method of analysis appropriate for this experimental design 

is a one-way (or one factor) ANOVA (analysis of variance). One-way refers to 

the fact that data are classified into groups based on one factor. ANOVA 

refers to an analysis based on the examination and identification of variance 

in the mean responses (Iman and Conover, 1989). The.PROC GLM command 

in the SAS statistical software program was used to make this analysis 

because of the unbalanced number of observations in the cells. 

The results of the ANOVA show a statistically significant user group 

effect present for each of the three operating statements. The user group 

effect is statistically significant with an F-value of 9.39 and a p-value of .0001 

for the entity-wide Statement of Activities (Table 5.3). The user group effect 

is statistically significant with an F-value of 9.99 and a p-value of .0001 for 

the fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Fund Balances (Table 5.4). The user group effect is statistically significant 

with an F-value of 6.27 and a p-value of .0022 for the fund perspective 

Budgetary Comparison Statement—Budgetary Basis (Table 5.5). These 

results indicate that user groups have significantly different mean 

cumulative scores on the understandability test for each of the three 

operating statements. Therefore, the null hypothesis that there is no 

difference in understanding of the city's three operating statements among 

the user groups is rejected for each of the operating statements. However, 
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the ANOVA does not indicate which user groups were significantly different 

from the others on the understandability test. Therefore, a Tukey test was 

performed for each of the statements to determine which groups were 

significantly different with regard to the understandability test for each of 

the operating statements. The results of the tests for the mean cumulative 

scores for the three operating statements are summarized in Tables 5.3 

though 5.5. 

Entity-wide Statement of Activities 

The entity-wide Statement of Activities is the only one of the three 

operating statements that is not similar to the statements currently required 

for GAAP reporting. It is also the only statement that would be unfamiliar to 

current users of governmental financial statements such as investors and 

creditors. Nevertheless, investors and creditors have a significantly greater 

mean cumulative score on the answers to the understandability assertions for 

the Statement of Activities than citizens. This result seems plausible 

because investors and creditors regularly analyze governmental financial 

statements. This makes them generally familiar with the content and format 

of operating statements even though they have not used the Statement of 

Activities. Investors and creditors had a mean response of 4.2 on a 5-point 

Likert scale (with 1 being very low and 5 being very high) when asked about 

their experience with analyzing state and local government financial reports. 

Citizens and legislators had mean responses of 1.9 and 2.9^ respectively. 

The significant difference in the mean scores between investors and 

creditors and citizens is attributable to responses to only one assertion. The 

second assertion in Table 5.3 considered the meaning of the net expense 

number for public safety. Most citizens answered this question incorrectly as 

evidenced by the negative .01 score on the question. This indicates that most 

citizens believed that the net expense column in the statement reports that 

127 



the public safety function had a deficit balance for the year. This was not 

correct. The deficit balance simply indicated that general revenues would 

have to be used to support public safety. The low mean score on this question 

by both citizens and legislators and the relatively high mean score by 

investors and creditors seems to exemplify that those more experienced with 

governmental financial statements are more likely to understand the 

nuances of this statement. It also illustrates the need for the GASB to 

provide educational materials for non-traditional users of governmental 

financial statements (for example, citizens) to help them understand 

governmental financial reports. 

Fund Perspective Statement of Revenues. 
Expenditures, and Changes in 
Fund Balances 

The fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances used by participants to respond to the assertions 

in Table 5.4 is essentially the same operating statement as required under 

current GAAP. Investors and creditors commonly use this statement in their 

analysis of governmental entities. Therefore, the a priori expectation was 

that investors and creditors would have a higher understandability score on 

this statement than the other groups. An examination of Table 5.4 shows 

that investors and creditors scored higher on each individual question and 

had a larger mean cumulative score for the understanding portions of the 

fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances than citizens and legislators. 

Although the questionnaire had been pretest, several investors and 

creditors noted on their returned questionnaires that they had problems 

interpreting the first assertion in Table 5.4. The first assertion states, "The 

City financed its General Fund programs from current year revenues and the 

sale of park land." The intended correct response was to agree with the 
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assertion. Some investors and creditors disagreed with the assertion because 

current year revenues and the sale of the park land were not sufficient to pay 

for all General Fund Programs. They noted that a portion of the General 

Fund programs was paid from existing assets at the beginning of the year. 

They are correct although it is also correct to agree with the assertion that 

the City financed its General Fund programs from current year revenues and 

the sale of park land. Therefore, the total correct answers for Statement of 

Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances has been analyzed 

by first including and then excluding the answer to this assertion. 

Investors and creditors have a significantly greater mean cumulative 

score (at the .01 level) on their answers to the understandability assertions 

for the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

than citizens with or without including the responses to assertion one. 

Investors and creditors also have a significantly greater mean cumulative 

score (at the .10 level) than legislators on their answers to the 

understandability assertions, but only when the responses to assertion one 

are excluded. 

Fund Perspective Budgetarv Comparison Statement 

The fund perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement—Budgetary 

Basis used by participants to respond to the assertions in Table 5.5 is similar 

to the budgetary operating statement required by current GAAP. Investors 

and creditors are already familiar with this statement. Therefore, the a 

priori expectation was that investors and creditors would have a higher 

understandability score on this statement than the other groups. As shown 

in Table 5.5, investors and creditors have a significantly greater mean 

cumulative score on the answers to the understandability assertions to the 

Budgetary Comparison Statement than citizens and legislators. An 

examination of Table 5.5 also shows that investors' and creditors' mean score 
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on the assertions was higher than that of legislators on every assertion, and 

higher than that of citizens on all but one assertion. 

Conclusions 

One of the objectives of Statement No. 34 was to enhance the 

understandability of governmental financial reports to the three primary 

user groups. Unfortunately, designing research to determine whether this 

has been accomplished is difficult. Previous researchers have not considered 

the understandability of the financial statements required under the current 

reporting model. Therefore, no baseline exists for comparisons for the user 

groups tested. However, the findings discussed in this section provide certain 

insights into whether the GASB's objective to enhance the understandability 

of governmental financial reports for all user groups has been achieved. 

Generally, investors and creditors understood the assertions made 

regarding the statements better than the citizens and legislators. They seem 

to have a fairly good understanding of the portions of all of the statements 

that were tested. The areas tested for each of the operating statements 

considered key parts or elements of the statements that were necessary to 

understand the statements. Therefore, relatively high mean scores on each 

of the operating statements by investors and creditors indicates that they 

likely have an overall understanding of these operating statements. 

Investors and creditors had particularly high individual mean scores 

on the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance. 

This was expected because this statement is currently used in their analysis 

of a government. Unfortunately, no definitive statement that investors and 

creditors understood this or any other statement can be made for at least two 

reasons. First, only a portion of the statement was tested. Second, the test 

was not designed to determine whether users understood the statements 

within the context of how they use the statements. 
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Citizens had significantly lower scores on all the statements tested 

than investors and creditors. The results indicate that citizens have a 

relatively low degree of understanding of the key components or elements for 

each of the operating statements. These findings raise doubts about the 

GASB achieving its objective of enhancing citizen's understandability of the 

statements. Citizens likely will need to be educated if the operating 

statements required by GASB Statement No. 34 are to be understood and, 

ultimately, useful. 

An interesting extension of this work would be to consider the 

differences in a group's understanding of the three operating statements. 

This study will not allow such an extension. As previously mentioned, the 

assertions made for each of the operating statements were different. The 

assertions differed because the format of the operating statements and 

elements contained within them was different. Therefore, a group's scores 

cannot be compared across statements. For example, a higher score on the 

Budgetary Comparison Statement than on the Statement of Activities by 

legislators should not be interpreted to mean those legislators understood the 

Budgetary Comparison Statement better. 

Hypothesis Three 

Hypothesis three considers whether user groups differ with regard to 

their perceived usefulness of the individual elements within each of three 

operating statements when attempting to understand the financial 

operations for a city. Each element within the statements was chosen 

because of its perceived importance for financial statement analysis or 

because of its unique contribution to the operating statement. Respondents 

were asked to refer to one of the statements in the information booklet and to 
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circle the number that most clearly described their judgment concerning the 

following question: 

From your perspective as a user in attempting to understand the 

financial operations for the City, indicate the usefulness to you 

of the individual elements in each statement by circling one 

number for each statement. 

Don't 
Know 

(0) 

Not 
Useful 

iXX 

SUghtly 
Useful 

O) 

Moderately 
Useful 

0) 

Very 
Useful 

iAX 

Extremely 
Useful 

£5} 

The data collected from respondents was used to test the null hypothesis: 

Ho3: Among user groups, there is no difference in the usefulness of an 

individual element in an operating statement in attempting to 

understand the financial operations of the city. 

This hypothesis requires the use of one categorical independent 

variable or factor—user group. The purpose of this portion of the study is to 

determine whether the groups significantly differ with regard to their 

perceived usefulness of the individual elements within the operating 

statements when attempting to understand the financial operations for a 

city. The test focuses on individual elements within the statements and does 

not test for differences in individual elements among statements because the 

elements differ in each statement. The method of analysis used for this 

experimental design is a one-way (or one factor) ANOVA. 

The results of the ANOVA show a statistically significant difference in 

mean user group responses for at least one element in each of the three 

operating statements. Therefore, the null hypothesis is rejected for at least 

one element within each statement. 
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Entitv-wide Statement of Activities 

A statistically significant difference in mean user group responses is 

found for net (expense) revenue by functional activity (F-value of 3.60 and a 

p-value of .0288), the excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses before 

special item (F-value of 2.56 and a p-value of .0795), and the special item (F-

value of 5.49 and a p-value of .0047) on the entity-wide Statement of 

Activities. Because of the significant differences among user group responses 

found in the ANOVA, a Tukey test was performed on each of the elements to 

determine which groups were significantly different on their mean responses 

to the usefulness of the elements. The results of the Tukey test are reported 

in Table 5.6. The table also reports the number of respondents, the mean 

response, and standard deviation for each group for each of the elements in 

the entity-wide Statement of Activities. 

Citizens had a significantly higher mean response to the usefulness of 

the net (expense) revenue by functional activities element than did investors 

and creditors. However, citizens scored very low on the assertion related to 

this element in the understandability test. Therefore, it is questionable that 

citizens really understood whether this element was useful in their 

understanding the financial operations for the city. Investor and creditors 

found four elements (items four through seven in Table 5.6) to be very useful. 

They had a significantly higher mean response for the usefulness of the 

excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses before special items (at the .10 

level) than did legislators. They also had a significantly higher mean 

response for the usefulness of the special item (at the .01 level) than did 

citizens and legislators. All groups found the bottom line number, the excess 

(deficiency) of revenues over expenses (item 7) to be very useful. 

133 



Table 5.6. Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Usefulness of Elements in Statement A (Entity-wide 
Statement of Activities). 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

Expenses for functional activities. 

Net (expense) revenue by functional 
activities. 

Program revenues by functional activities. 

General revenues. 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenses before special item. 

Special item. 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenses. 

Citizens 
(n=113to 117) 

3.6 
(1.0) 

3.5^ 
(1.1) 

3.6 
(1.0) 

3.6 
(1.1) 

3.7 
(1.0) 

3.7^ 
(1.0) 

4.0 
(1.0) 

Investors/ 
Creditors 

(n=82) 
3.4 

(1.1) 

3.r 
(1.2) 

3.2 
(1.1) 

3.9 
(1.0) 

4.0^ 
(1.1) 

4.1^ 
(.9) 

4.1 
(1.0) 

Legislators 
(n=54) 

3.3 
(1.1) 

3.4 
(1.0) 

3.5 
(1.0) 

3.8 
(.9) 

3.6-
(.9) 

3.6" 
(1.0) 

3.8 
(1.0) 

n=number of responses 

^ The average response by this group is significantly greater (at the .05 level) than the 
group(s) marked by the plus sign. 

^ The average response by this group is significantly greater (at the .10 level) than the 
group(s) marked by the minus sign. 
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Fund Perspective Statement of Revenues. 
Expenditures, and Changes in 
Fund Balances 

The results of the ANOVA show a statistically significant difference in 

mean user group responses for each element in the fund perspective 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance. A 

statistically significant difference in mean user group responses is found for 

the detailed information in the fund columns (F-value of 12.72 and a p-value 

of .0001), the sources of revenues (F-value of 8.22 and p-value of .0004), the 

separate reporting of expenditures (F-value of 9.67 and p-value of .0001), the 

excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (F-value of 9.31 and a p-

value of .0001), and the net change in fund balance (F-value of 10.02 and a p-

value of .0001). The results of the Tukey analysis to identify significant 

differences between user groups are reported in Table 5.7 along with the 

number of respondents, the mean response, and standard deviation for each 

group. 

Investors and creditors had a significantly higher mean response for 

the usefulness of each of the five elements in the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance than citizens and legislators. 

They found each item to be very useful in their attempt to understand the 

financial operations of the city. Because investors and creditors currently use 

a statement very similar to the one illustrated in their analysis of 

governments, investors and creditors were expected to place a high degree of 

usefulness on this statement and the elements in the statement. Therefore, 

the results seem reasonable. 
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Table 5.7. Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Usefulness of Elements in Statement B (Fund Perspective 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 
Fund Balances). 

1. The detailed information in the fund 
columns. 

2. The sources of revenues. 

3. Separate reporting of expenditures— 
current operating, debt service, and capital 
outlay. 

4. Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures. 

5. Net change in fund balance. 

Citizens 
(n=117) 

3.7* 
(1.0) 

3.9* 
(.9) 

3.8* 
(1.0) 

3.9* 
(1.1) 

3.8* 
(1.2) 

Investors/Creditors 
(n=82) 
4.2^ 
(.9) 

4.4^ 
(.8) 

4.3^ 
(.8) 

4.4^ 
(.7) 

4 4AB 

(.8) 

Legislators 
(n=54) 
3.4* 
(1.0) 

3.9* 
(1.0) 

3.7* 
(1.1) 

3.9* 
(.9) 

3.9" 
(•9) 

n=number of responses 

^ The average response by this group is significantly greater (at the .01 level) than the 
group(s) marked by the asterisk. 

^ The average response by this group is significantly greater (at the .05 level) than the 
group(s) marked by the plus sign. 

Fund Perspective Budgetarv Comparison Statement 

The results of the ANOVA show a statistically significant difference in 

mean user group responses for the final budget amounts (F-value of 4.38 and 

a p-value of .0135) and the department detail provided (F-value of 5.87 and a 

p-value of .0032) in the fund perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement. 

Table 5.8 reports the number of respondents, the mean response, and 

standard deviation for each group. Generally, all groups found the elements, 

except for item one, to be moderately useful in attempting to understand the 

financial operations of the city. The mean response for the usefulness of 

original budget amounts (item one) was lower for all groups than the mean 

response for any other element in Table 5.8. This result seems to give some 
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assurance that the respondents read and understood the question. Original 

budget amounts should have less importance than the other elements if one 

is attempting to understand the city's financial operations. 

Table 5.8. Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Usefulness of Elements in Statement C (Fund Perspective 
Budgetary Comparison Statement—Budgetary Basis). 

1. The original budget amounts. 

2. The final budget amounts. 

3. The actual amounts spent—on the 
budgetary basis. 

4. The Variance with Final Budget. 

5. The departmental detail provided—e.g.. 
Public Safety is detailed by Police, Fire, 
EMS, and Inspections departments. 

Citizens 
(n=117) 

3.3 
(1.3) 

4.1^ 
(.9) 

4.3 
(.8) 

4.0 
(1.1) 

4.2^ 
(1.0) 

Investors/Creditors 
(n=82) 

3.1 
(1.3) 

3.7* 
(1.0) 

4.1 
(1.0) 

4.1 
(1.0) 

3.6* 
(1.2) 

Legislators 
(n=54) 

3.1 
(1.4) 

3.9 
(.8) 

4.3 
(•7) 

4.2 
(.8) 

4.2^ 
(.7) 

n=number of responses 

^ The average response by this group is significantly greater (at the .01 level) than the 
group(s) marked by the asterisk. 

The results of the Tukey analysis indicate that only two elements had 

a statistically significant difference in mean user group responses. Citizens 

had a significantly higher mean response to the usefulness of the final budget 

amounts than did investors and creditors. Citizens and legislators had a 

statistically significant higher mean response to the usefulness of providing 

department detail than did investors and creditors. This is consistent with 

written responses in the questionnaire from some citizens who stated that 

they were interested in more details about government programs. Overall, 

investors and creditors had lower mean responses to each of these elements 

than to any of the elements found in Table 5.7 for the fund perspective 
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Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. 

Although a statement similar to the Budgetary Comparison Statement is 

reported under current GAAP, it is commonly believed that the statement is 

primarily used for determining compliance with legal and budgetary 

restrictions and not for understanding the financial operations of a 

government. This could help explain why investors and creditors found the 

detailed information about departments less important than did citizens. 

Instead of using the Budgetary Comparison Statement for understanding the 

financial operations of the City, they may use the statement solely to 

determine compliance with legal and budgetary restrictions. 

Hypothesis Four 

According to Concepts Statement No. 1, user groups have different 

objectives or reasons for using governmental financial reports (GASB, 1987). 

If the GASB is correct in its belief that the reasons for using governmental 

financial reports differ among groups and that a relationship exists between 

reasons for using the statements and the operating statements themselves, 

then differences would be expected in the values assigned to each of the 

operating statements by different user groups. For example, the GASB 

would expect that citizens and investors and creditors would assign different 

values to the three statements. 

Hypothesis four considers whether user groups place different values 

on each of three operating statements that could be used to analyze the 

operations of a city. The three operating statements were illustrated in the 

information booklet sent to respondents and were intended by the GASB to 

meet different reporting objectives. 

Respondents were asked to assume that they had $100 to purchase 

operating statements that were to be used to analyze the operations of the 

city. They were then asked how much they would pay for each of the 
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statements: the entity-wide Statement of Activities, the fund perspective 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance, and 

the fund perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement—Budgetary Basis. 

The amounts paid were used to test the null hypothesis: 

H04: There is no difference in the value assigned to each of the three 

statements among the user groups. 

This hypothesis requires the use of one categorical independent 

variable or factor—user group. The purpose of this portion of the study is to 

determine if the groups place different values on operating statements that 

would be used to understand the financial operations for a city. The test 

focuses on differences among the groups when valuing an operating 

statement and does not test for differences between the statements. The 

method of analysis used for this experimental design is a one-way (or one 

factor) ANOVA. 

The results of the ANOVA show a statistically significant difference in 

the amount paid for each of the three operating statements by the user 

groups. The user group effect is only marginally significant with an F-value 

of 2.41 and a p-value of .0917 for the entity-wide Statement of Activities. The 

user group effect is statistically significant for the fund perspective 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance (F-

value of 52.77 and p-value of .0001) and the Budgetary Comparison 

Statement (F-value of 35.95 and a p-value of .0001). Therefore, the null 

hjT^othesis of no difference in the value assigned to each of the three 

statements among the user groups is rejected. Again, the ANOVA does not 

indicate which user groups are significantly different from the others. 

Therefore, the results of the Tukey test of significant differences in the value 

placed on the statements by the user groups are reported in Table 5.9. 
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Table 5.9. Mean Group Amounts Paid and (Standard Deviations) for 
Operating Statements Used to Analyze Operations of 
the City. 

Statement of Activities 

Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances 

Budgetary Comparison 
Statement—^Budgetary Basis 

Citizens 
(n=147) 

22.4B 
(21.2) 

25.7* 
(20.7) 

5I.9A 
(30.8) 

Investors/ 
Creditors 

(n=91) 
21.1 

(19.0) 

54.8A 
(23.2) 

24.1* 
(15.0) 

Legislators 
(n=61) 
16.0-

(15.0) 

31.9* 
(20.4) 

52.1A 
(27.0) 

n=number of responses 

^ The average amount paid by this group is significantly greater (at the .01 level) 
than the group(s) marked by the asterisk. 

^ The average amount paid by this group is significantly greater (at the .10 level) 
than the group(s) marked by the minus sign. 

Citizens indicated that the entity-wide Statement of Activities was 

significantly more valuable to them than to legislators for analyzing the 

operations of a city. Yet, on average, each user group spent less on the 

Statement of Activities than the other statements. This result was not 

expected. The GASB has based its new reporting model on the belief that 

citizens were not using the current governmental operating statements 

because they were too lengthy and did not provide the cost of service 

information that citizens desire. The Statement of Activities was designed to 

meet the financial reporting needs of non-traditional users of governmental 

financial statements—citizens and citizen groups. The GASB believed that 

the length and detail in the current statements caused potential readers to 

not use the statements. Therefore, the Statement of Activities is much more 

condensed than the fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, 

and Changes in Fund Balance. 
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Citizens and legislators spent more for the fund perspective Budgetary 

Comparison Statement than any other statement and significantly more on 

the statement (at the .01 level) than investors and creditors. Several citizens 

stated that they paid more for the Budgetary Comparison Statement because 

it provided more detailed information about programs than the other 

statements. Legislators were expected to spend more on the fund perspective 

Budgetary Comparison Statement because of their familiarity with the 

budget. 

Investors and creditors spent more on the fund perspective Statement 

of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance than any other 

statement and significantly more on the statement (at the .01 level) than 

citizens and legislators. Again, this was expected because investors and 

creditors currently use this statement in their analysis of governments. 

Conclusions 

The GASB has believed that user groups have different reasons for 

using financial statements as noted in GASB Concepts Statement No. 1 

(GASB, 1987). Earlier, the results of the tests for hypothesis one provided 

support for this belief when it was found that user groups had significantly 

different reasons for using operating statements. In developing the new 

financial reporting model, the GASB linked reasons or objectives for using 

governmental financial reports to the entity-wide or fund perspective 

statements (GASB, 1995). This linkage was designed to provide justification 

for the new model by showing that not all the objectives of governmental 

financial reporting could be met with any one set of statements. Instead, a 

dual-perspective approach was needed. 

Although the GASB used this linkage as justification for the model, no 

research was conducted to determine if the three operating statements were 

sufficient to meet user's needs. To justify the model, a link should be 
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estabhshed between the user's needs and their choice of an operating 

statement. The results of hypothesis four indicate that user groups placed 

significantly different values on the new operating statements, but those 

differences did not always support the GASB's linkage of objectives for 

financial reporting to the entity-wide or fund perspective statements. 

Citizens spent a mean amount of $51.90 of the $100 available on the 

Budgetary Comparison Statement. Yet, three out of four of their highest 

mean responses to the importance of reasons for their using operating 

statements are identified by the GASB as objectives met by the entity-wide 

statements. Three out of seven of the citizen's highest mean responses were 

objectives that the GASB identified as being met by fund perspective 

statements, but only two of the seven were related to the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement. Therefore, it seems inconsistent that citizens would 

choose the Budgetary Comparison Statement as the most valuable to analyze 

the operations of a city. Although several reasons probably exist that could 

explain this inconsistency, some of the more likely will be considered. 

First, citizens did not score well on the understandability test for any 

of the operating statements. This may mean that they do not understand the 

statements well enough to make a good judgment about which statement 

provides the information that they would use. Second, as previously 

mentioned, citizens indicated in their written responses that they were 

interested in the detailed department information provided in the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement. This may have resulted in some citizens choosing 

that statement. An extension of this research could be to provide department 

level detail in the Statement of Activities and then compare its value to the 

Budgetary Comparison Statement. Third, little variation exists in citizen's 

responses to reasons for using operating statements. Therefore, much of the 

inconsistency may not really be an inconsistency. Instead, insignificant 
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differences in the mean reasons for using operating statements by citizens 

may indicate that they really do not have a preferred statement. 

Investors and creditors spent a mean amount of $54.80 of the $100 

available on the fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances. This outcome was expected because investors 

and creditors currently use that statement in their analysis of the operations 

of cities to make investment and credit decisions. Their highest mean 

response to reasons for using operating statements was to make investment 

and credit decisions. Therefore, the choice of the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances as the most valuable operating 

statement for analyzing the operations of a city seems reasonable. However, 

an examination of the reasons given by investors and creditors for using 

operating statement finds that three out of the top six mean reasons for using 

operating statements were identified with the entity-wide statements by the 

GASB. Considering the relative expertise of the investor and creditor group, 

this finding is troubling. 

Legislators spent a mean amount of $52.10 on the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement and $31.90 on the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. This outcome seems 

reasonable because legislators are generally more familiar with the budget 

than with financial statements. Three out of six of their highest mean 

responses to the importance of reasons for using operating statements are 

identified by the GASB as objectives met by the fund perspective statements 

while two out of the six could be considered directly related to the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement. 
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In summary, the linkage between the objectives or reasons for using 

operating statements and the choice of an operating statement by a user 

group is not as clear as the GASB linkage in the PV. Further analysis is 

needed. This analysis is found in the discussion of the model of antecedents 

to user choice of governmental fund operating statements discussed in the 

next section of this chapter. 

Model 

The analysis associated with the four hypotheses presented in the 

previous section of this chapter provided some support for the GASB's 

decision to use a dual-perspective approach for financial reporting. That 

analysis found that user groups have different reasons for using 

governmental operating statements. This finding was necessary to justify 

the dual-perspective approach because an underlying assumption in 

developing the approach was that multiple financial statements with 

different measurement focuses and bases of accounting were needed to meet 

the various needs of user groups. Yet, the previous analysis did not establish 

a relationship between the reasons for using operating statements and a 

particular operating statement. The GASB believed this relationship existed 

when developing the dual-perspective approach. One of the paths in the 

model discussed in this section is used to test whether the expected linkage 

exists between the reasons for using governmental operating statements and 

the statements themselves. 

Figure 5.1 presents the model of antecedents to user choice of 

governmental fund operating statements that was introduced in Chapter III. 

This model was developed to provide a framework within which to study the 

GASB's objective for Statement No. 34. That is, the reporting requirements 

of Statement No. 34 should enhance the understandability and usefulness of 
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governmental financial reports to three primary user groups: citizens, 

legislative officials, and investors and creditors. 

Education 
(Demographic 

data) 

Experience 
(Demographic 

data) 

Reasons for Using 
Operating 
Statements 

(Part I of Questionnaire) 

Understandability 
of Statements 

(Part II) 

Choice of Statement 
A, B, or C 

(Part IV) 

Figure 5.1. Model of Antecedents to User Choice of Governmental Fund 
Operating Statements. 

As more completely developed in Chapter III, the antecedents to 

understandability are education and experience. The path leading from 

education and experience to understandability and, ultimately, choice of 

statement is used to test whether understandability and choice of statement 

are related to differences in the experience and educational background of 

users or if other, unidentified user group differences are significant. The 

analysis of the relationships among these variables may provide insight into 

the potential success of GASB Statement No. 34. 

Relationship Between Reasons for Using 
Operating Statements and 

Choice of Statement 

The dual-perspective approach to financial reporting was developed to 

meet the reporting objectives that the GASB established for governmental 

financial reports in Concepts Statement No. 1 (GASB, 1987). As discussed in 

relation to hypotheses one and four, the GASB matched the objectives of 

financial reporting from Concepts Statement No. 1 to financial statements 

that they believed met those reporting objectives when the GASB issued its 

PV on the new reporting model (GASB, 1995). Yet, no previous research has 
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been conducted to determine whether a relationship exists between users' 

reasons for using governmental operating statements and the operating 

statements that the GASB designed to meet these objectives. This study uses 

regression analysis to find significant relationships between the importance 

of users' reasons for using operating statements and their choice of operating 

statements. However, because of the large number of variables (i.e., the 

importance of 18 reasons for using operating statements), it was necessary to 

reduce the number of independent variables that will be used in the 

regression analysis. A factor analysis was used to make this reduction by 

grouping the variables into four surrogate variables that represent important 

underljring qualities of the variables. 

Factor Analvsis 

As discussed in relation to hypothesis one, respondents were asked to 

judge the importance of 18 reasons for their using the operating statements 

of a city. Ten of the reasons (#1, #3, #5, #6, #7, #9, #11, #12, #13, and #14) 

were adapted from GASB Concepts Statement No. 1 (GASB, 1987). The 

GASB identified these reasons (or objectives) for using operating statements 

with either the entity-wide or fund perspective statements in the PV (GASB, 

1995). Although not identified by the GASB as objectives of financial 

reporting, theoretically, the remaining eight reasons for using operating 

statements could also be identified as being met by either the entity-wide or 

fund perspective statements. Further, many of the reasons for using 

operating statements were closely related (Table 5.2). Because of the close 

relationship and relatively high correlations among many of the reasons for 

using operating statements and because of the need to reduce the number of 

variables that would be used in a regression analysis, a factor analysis was 

performed on the importance of the 18 reasons for using governmental 

operating statements. 
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Table 5.10 presents the results of the factor analysis. Hair et al. (1995) 

states that an orthogonal solution is best if a researcher wants to reduce a 

larger number of variables to a smaller set of uncorrelated variables for 

subsequent use in a regression analysis. Therefore, the orthogonal rotation 

method, Varimax, was used because it tends to simplify the interpretation of 

the columns by reducing the number of high loadings and by making as many 

values in each column as close to zero as possible (Hair et al., 1995). The 

PRIORS=SMC option was used after the PROC FACTOR statement in the 

SAS statistical software program. Therefore, squared multiple correlations 

of each variable with all the other variables were used as prior communality 

estimates (SAS/STAT User's Guide, 1990). 

Table 5.10. 

Reasons 
Rl 
R2 
R3 
R4 
R5 
R6 
R7 
R8 
R9 

RIO 
R l l 
R12 
R13 
R14 
R15 
R16 
R17 
R18 

Variance 
explained 
by factor 

Factor Loadings for Reasons for Using Operating 
(Varimax Rotation). 

Financial 
Position 

.26 

.54 * 

.72 * 

.51 

.19 

.73 * 

.63 * 
-.01 
.11 
.29 
.50 
.29 
.37 
.17 
.30 
.49 
.37 
.16 

3.1963 

Financing 
.35 
.25 
.23 
.50 
.18 
.29 
.36 

-.04 
.01 
.16 
.41 
.52 
.56 * 
.33 
.62 * 
.75 * 
.75 * 
.29 

3.1900 

Performance 
.18 
.21 
.10 

-.11 
.55 
.21 
.17 
.76 * 
.77 * 
.56 
.28 
.24 
.30 
.63. * 
.31 
.05 
.10 
.67 * 

3.1491 

Statements 

Legal 
.58 * 
.31 
.06 
.20 
.58 * 
.12 
.24 
.10 
.21 
.36 
.21 
.48 
.25 
.05 
.23 
.11 
.20 
.01 

1.4992 

*Variable used in forming surrogate variable for regression analysis. 
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The first column in Table 5.10 corresponds to the 18 reasons for using 

operating statements. A complete description of the reasons can be found in 

Table 5.2. The next four columns in Table 5.10 report the factor loadings for 

the variables for each of the four factors that were extracted. Factor loadings 

are the correlation of the variable and the factor. The squared loading is the 

amount of a variable's total variance that is explained by a factor. Higher 

loadings are more representative of the factor (Hair et al., 1995). 

Because the purpose of this factor analysis was to reduce the number 

of variables that would be used in regression analysis, two criteria were used 

in the selection of variables that would represent the factor. First, a 

variable's factor loading had to be greater than .50, which means that more 

than 25 percent of a variable's variance had to be explained by the factor. 

Second, the variable had to be logically representative of the named factor. 

Five variables (R2, R3, R4, R6, and R7) have factor loadings above .50 

for the first factor, financial position. Two of the variables (R3 and R6) deal 

with assessing the financial position or results of operations of the 

government. Although the GASB identified these as objectives that would be 

met solely by the entity-wide statements in the PV, some argue that the fund 

perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund 

Balances can be used to make similar assessment for the funds. Two of the 

variables (R2 and R7) deal with making decisions regarding governmental 

funds and assessing the sources, uses, and balances of current financial 

resources. These reasons for using governmental operating statements are 

met by using the fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 

Changes in Fund Balances. 

Four of the variables (R2, R3, R6, and R7) are closely related in theory, 

and the average of these four variables is used in the regression analysis with 

the surrogate variable name, "financial position." Variable R4 has the lowest 

factor loading (.51) of the group and is not closely related to the other 
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variables because it deals with using governmental operating statements for 

the purpose of making investment and credit decisions instead of using the 

statements to assess financial position or results of operations. Therefore, 

variable R4 is not included in the surrogate variable, financial position. 

Five variables (R12, R13, R15, R16, and R17) have factor loadings 

above .50 for the second factor, financing. Four of the variables (R13, R15, 

R16, and R17) are related to a government's ability to repay its debt or to 

finance its activities. The average of these four variables is used in the 

regression analysis with the surrogate variable name, "financing." Readers 

who had "financing" reasons for using governmental operating statements 

should use the fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balance although some argue that the entity-wide 

Statement of Activities should be used to assess a government's ability to 

repay its long-term debt. Variable R12 has the lowest factor loading (.52) of 

the group and is not closely related to the other variables because it deals 

with using operating statements to provide information about legal or 

contractual restrictions. Therefore, variable R12 is not included in the 

surrogate variable, financing. 

Six variables (R5, R8, R9, RIO, R14, and R18) have factor loadings 

above .50 for the third factor, performance. Four of the variables (R8, R9, 

R14, and R18) deal with using governmental operating statements to make 

decisions about the performance of the government's personnel. This 

includes determining the cost of programs and assessing the government's 

efficiency and effectiveness. Readers, who had "performance" reasons for 

using operating statements, should use the entity-wide Statement of 

Activities. According to the GASB's PV, fund perspective statements would 

not provide this type of information. Therefore, the average of these four 

variables is used in the regression analysis with the surrogate variable name, 

"performance." Two variables (R5 and RIO) have lower factor loadings (.55 
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and .56) than the other factors and were budget related rather than 

performance related. Therefore, these variables are not included in the 

surrogate variable, performance. 

Two variables (Rl and R5) have factor loadings above .50 for the fourth 

factor, legal. These variables considered finance-related legal requirements 

or the legally adopted budget and are directly related to the fund perspective 

Budgetary Comparison Statement, but not the other operating statements. 

The average of these variables is used in the regression analysis with the 

surrogate variable name, "legal." 

Regression Analvsis 

Table 5.11 summarizes the signs that would be expected for the 

independent variables in regression analysis where purchase of the 

Statement of Activities, the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances, or the Budgetary Comparison Statement is the 

dependent variable. The reasons for the expected relationships were 

discussed in reference to the formation of the surrogate variables in the 

previous section. The first two independent variables are expected to have 

only one positive relationship and two negative relationships with the 

dependent variable. Readers interested in using governmental operating 

statements to assess legal or budgetary issues should examine the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement, but not the other statements. Readers interested in 

using governmental operating statements to assess performance should 

examine the Statement of Activities, but not the other statements. 
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Table 5.11. Summary of Expected Signs for Independent Variables in 
Regression Analysis. 

Legal 
Performance 
Financing 
Financial Position 

Statement of 
Activities 

(Statement A) 
. 

+ 
9 

+ 

Statement of 
Revenues, 

Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund 

Balance 
(Statement B) 

-
. 

-1-

-1-

Budgetary 
Comparison 
Statement 

(Statement C) 
+ 
-

-

-

Readers interested in assessing a government's financing ability, or its 

ability to repay its debt, should pay more for the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. Therefore, a positive 

relationship is expected between financing and the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. Readers might also pay more 

for the Statement of Activities if interested in assessing a government's 

ability to repay its long-term debt. However, some of the reasons that are 

averaged together to form the variable "financing" would not be expected to 

have a positive relationship with the purchase of the Statement of Activities. 

For example, the Statement of Activities does not tell the reader much about 

how a city meets its cash requirements or its ability to pay off its short-term 

debt. Therefore, the sign of the relationship between financing ability and 

the Statement of Activities is not clear. 

Reader's interested in assessing a government's financial position or 

results of operations should be interested in the entity-wide Statement of 

Activities. However, some readers would also be interested in assessing an 

individual fund's operating results and the sources, uses, and balances of 

current financial resources when making a determination about the 

government's financial position. Therefore, a positive relationship is 

expected between the independent variable, financial position, and both the 
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entity-wide Statement of Activities and the fund perspective Statement of 

Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. 

Entity-wide Statement of Activities 

Models were developed to analyze the relationships between the 

reasons for using operating statements and the purchase of each of the 

operating statements. The following model is used to analyze this 

relationship for the entity-wide Statement of Activities. Subsequent models 

are used for the fund perspective operating statements. 

PURA = a + bi(GRP) + b2(LEG) + b3(PERF) + b4(FIN) + b5(FINP0S) + e, 

where: 

a = Model intercept; 

PURA = Amount paid for entity-wide Statement of Activities; 

GRP = User groups; 

LEG = Legal; 

PERF = Performance; 

FIN = Financing; 

FINPOS = Financial position; and 

e = Error term. 

In part IV of the questionnaire, respondents were asked to assume 

that they had $100 to purchase operating statements that were to be used to 

analyze the operations of a city. They were then asked how much they would 

pay for each of three statements: the entity-wide Statement of Activities, the 

fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances, and the fund perspective Budgetary Comparison-Statement. For 

the entity-wide Statement of Activities, this amount is represented by PURA. 

Four of the independent variables in the model (LEG, PERF, FIN, and 

FINPOS) are surrogate variables developed in the factor analysis. These 
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variables represent the averages of related reasons for using a governmental 

operating statement. One other variable, GRP, was also included in the 

model. It was included to determine if differences in the groups contributed 

significantly to the user's choice of a preferred operating statement. 

The results of the regression analysis for the purchase of the entity-

wide Statement of Activities are reported in Table 5.12. If the GASB is 

correct in its belief that the entity-wide Statement of Activities should meet 

certain objectives of financial reporting, then a significant positive 

relationship should be found between at least one of three surrogate 

variables (PERF, FIN, or FINPOS) and the amount paid for the entity-wide 

statements. However, the results do not provide support for the linkage 

between the entity-wide statements and the objectives for financial reporting 

because none of the three surrogate variables were significant. None of the 

independent variables in the model are significant at the .10 level and the 

overall model fit is not significant with a p-value of .3938. The model's R-

square is .0176. Multicollinearity is not a problem for any of the models in 

this study. The variance inflation factors (VIFs) range from 1.0 to 2.2. 

Table 5.12. PURAMoi 

DF 
Regression 5 
Error 291 
Total 296 

R-square 0.0176 

Variable 

del Stj atistical Summj 

Sum of Squares Mean 

INTERCEPT 
GROUP (GRP) 
LEGAL (LEG) 
PERFORMANCE (PERF) 
FINANCING (FIN) 
FINANCIAL POSITION (FINPOS) 

1985.73 
111037.77 
113023.50 

Parameter 
Estimate 

27.67 
-2.42 
-0.34 
0.81 
0.66 

-1.44 

i ry . 

Square 
397.15 
381.57 

F 
1.04 

Standard Error 
7.64 
1.51 
1.14 
0.99 
1.47 
1.69 

Prob>F 
0.3938 

Prob>T 
0.0003 
0.1090 
0.7697 
0.4122 
0.6568 
0.3957 
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The regression for all the independent variables did not provide a good 

fit for the model or significant independent variables. Therefore, a stepwise 

regression was performed in SAS to eliminate those independent variables 

that do not measurably add to the model. Table 5.13 presents the results of 

the stepwise regression. It results in an improved fit for the model, but the 

model is still only marginally significant with a p-value of .0490 and R-square 

of .0131. The independent variable, GROUP, is significant for this model. 

Respondents could have been in one of three groups. Citizens were assigned 

a group value of one. Investors and creditors were assigned a group value of 

two, and legislators were assigned a group value of three. Therefore, these 

results agree with the findings of hypothesis one that citizens paid more for 

the Statement of Activities than investors and creditors who paid more for 

the statement than legislators did. The findings do not indicate why groups 

differ. 

Table 5.13. PURA Stepwise Regression Statistical Summary. 

Regression 
Error 
Total 

R-square 

Variable 
INTERCEPT 
GROUP (GRP) 

DF 
1 

295 
296 

0.0131 

Sum of Squares Mean Square F 
1477.48 1477.48 3.91 

111546.02 378.12 
113023.50 

Parameter Estimate Standard Error 
25.65 2.72 
-2.86 1.44 

Prob>F 
0.0490 

Prob>T 
0.0001 
0.0490 

Fund Perspective Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in 
Fund Balances 

In Concepts Statement No. 1, the GASB identified several objectives 

for financial reporting that it believes can best be met by fund-based 

operating statements. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 

Changes in Fund Balances has been an integral part of governmental 
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reporting for many years and should meet several of these objectives. If the 

GASB was correct when it matched reporting objectives to the entity-wide or 

fund perspective statements in the PV, two independent variables (FIN and 

FINPOS) should be positively related to the amount paid to purchase that 

statement (PURB). The following model is designed to analyze the 

relationship between several reasons for using operating statements and the 

amount paid for the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Fund Balances. 

PURB = a + bi(GRP) + b2(LEG) + b3(PERF) + U(FIN) + b5(FINP0S) + e, 

where: 

a = Model intercept; 

PURB = Amount paid for fund perspective Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances; 

GRP = User groups; 

LEG = Legal; 

PERF = Performance; 

FIN = Financing; 

FINPOS = Financial position; and 

e = Error term. 

The results of the regression analysis for the purchase of the fund 

perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances are reported in Table 5.14. The overall model fit is relatively good 

with a p-value of .0001. The model's R-square is .2537. This means that 

about 25% of the variance in the dependent variable about its mean can be 

explained by the independent variables (Hair et al, 1995). 
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Table 5.14. PURB Model Statistical Summary. 

Regression 
Error 
Total 

R-square 

DF Sum of Squares Mean Square Prob>F 
5 

291 
296 

0.2537 

46456.72 
136643.34 
183100.06 

9291.34 
469.56 

19.79 0.0001 

Variable Parameter 
Estimate 

Standard Error Prob>T 

INTERCEPT 
GROUP (GRP) 
LEGAL (LEG) 
PERFORMANCE (PERF) 
FINANCING (FIN) 
FINANCIAL POSITION (FINPOS) 

23.58 
3.34 

-0.55 
-8.41 
1.18 
7.40 

8.47 
1.68 
1.27 
1.10 
1.64 
1.88 

0.0057 
0.0467 
0.6639 
0.0001 
0.4693 
0.0001 

As expected, the independent variables, financial position (FINPOS) 

and financing (FIN), are positively related to the purchase of the Statement 

of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. FINPOS is 

significant as evidenced by the p-value of .0001. The independent variable, 

FIN, is not significant. 

The GASB believes that only the entity-wide Statement of Activities 

should be positively related to PERF. The fund perspective operating 

statements should be negatively related to performance (PERF) because fund 

perspective statements cannot be used to assess the economy or efficiency of 

governments or to determine the cost of programs. Therefore, the negative 

relationship between PERF and the purchase of the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances was expected. PERF is 

significant as evidenced by the p-value of .0001. The independent variable, 

legal, is negatively related to the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances, but is not significant. 

The independent variable, group (GRP), is also marginally significant. 

This indicates that user groups had reasons other than those listed for 

choosing the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
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Balances. Potential reasons for differences among the groups were discussed 

earlier in this chapter in relation to the analysis of hypothesis four. 

Fund Perspective Budgetary 
Comparison Statement 

The fund perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement is very similar 

to the traditional budgetary statements that are required for budgeted 

governmental funds under current GAAP. This statement is used almost 

exclusively to assess legal and budgetary compliance. Other statements have 

been used to assess financial position and the results of operations for a 

government. Therefore, only one independent variable (LEG) should be 

positively related to the amount paid for the Budgetary Comparison 

Statement. The following model is designed to analyze the relationship 

between reasons for using governmental operating statements and the 

amount paid for the Budgetary Comparison Statement. 

PURC = a + bi(GRP) + b2(LEG) + b3(PERF) + b4(FIN) + b5(FINP0S) + e, 

where: 

a = Model intercept; 

PURC = Amount paid for fund perspective Budgetary 

Comparison Statement; 

GRP = User groups; 

LEG = Legal; 

PERF = Performance; 

FIN = Financing; 

FINPOS = Financial position; and 

e = Error term. 

The results of the regression analysis for the purchase of the fund 

perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement are reported in Table 5.15. 

The overall model fit is relatively good with a p-value of .0001. The model's 
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R-square is .1386. This means that about 13.9% of the variance in the 

dependent variable about its mean can be explained by the independent 

variables (Hair et al, 1995). 

Table 5.15. PURC Model Statistical Summary. 

Regression 
Error 
Total 

R-square 

DF Sum of Squares Mean Square Prob>F 
5 

291 
296 

34408.12 
213910.12 
248318.24 

6881.62 
735.09 

9.362 0.0001 

0.1386 

Variable Parameter 
Estimate 

Standard Error 

10.60 
2.09 
1.59 
1.37 
2.05 
2.35 

Prob>T 

0.0001 
0.6579 
0.5891 
0.0001 
0.3992 
0.0101 

INTERCEPT 
GROUP (GRP) 
LEGAL (LEG) 
PERFORMANCE (PERF) 
FINANCING (FIN) 
FINANCIAL POSITION (FINPOS) 

48.65 
-0.93 

.86 
7.67 

-1.73 
-6.08 

The independent variable, LEG, is positively related to the purchase of 

the Budgetary Comparison Statement, but it is not significant. Surprisingly, 

the PERF is also positively related to the purchase of the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement, and it is significant with a p-value of .0001. One 

explanation for the positive relationship may be that respondent's believed 

the Budgetary Comparison Statement could be used to assess management's 

performance or to make voting decisions about the city, which were two of the 

four reasons that were averaged together to make PERF. One of the changes 

from the budgetary statements that are required under current GAAP and 

the new Budgetary Comparison Statement required by Statement No.34 is 

the addition of original budget numbers. Some believe that the addition of 

these numbers will help readers assess the performance of a government's 

management. 
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As expected, the independent variables, FIN and FINPOS are negative 

related to the Budgetary Comparison Statement. FINPOS is significant as 

evidenced by the p-value of .0001. FIN is not significant. 

Conclusions 

Overall, an analysis of the results of the regression analysis does not 

find the expected significant relationships between the importance of reasons 

for using governmental operating statements and the amount paid for 

operating statements that are necessary to provide the GASB with 

justification for the dual-perspective reporting approach. However, for 

individual operating statements the results were mixed. 

The regression analysis for the entity-wide Statement of Activities 

does not provide support for the GASB's rationale for requiring the statement 

because none of the reasons for using governmental operating were 

significant in predicting the purchase price of that statement. GRP is the 

only significant independent variable in predicting the purchase price of the 

Statement of Activities. This finding indicates that factors other than the 

importance of the GASB objectives for financial reporting are important in 

the users' choice of the Statement of Activities. 

The regression analysis for the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, 

and Changes in Fund Balances provides support for its required reporting 

under GASB Statement No. 34. All of the reasons used in the regression 

analysis have the expected relationship with the dependent variable—the 

purchase of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Financial Position for use in analyzing the operations of a city. Two of the 

independent variables—PERF and FINPOS—are significant with p-values of 

.0001 each. Therefore, the matching of the objectives or reasons for using 

this fund perspective operating statement to its purchase are as the GASB 

would have expected. 
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The regression analysis for the Budgetary Comparison Statement 

resulted in mixed findings and only partial support for the GASB's linkage of 

objectives or reasons for using governmental operating statements and the 

Budgetary Comparison Statement. Three of the four independent variables 

representing reasons for using governmental operating statements have the 

expected relationship to the purchase of the Budgetary Comparison 

Statement. Only one of these independent variables, FINPOS, is also 

significant having a p-value of .0101 level. The independent variable, PERF, 

which was expected to be negatively related to the Budgetary Comparison 

Statement, is positively related and significant with a p-value of .0001. 

In conclusion, from the perception of users there seems to be some 

doubt that all of the operating statements required by GASB Statement No. 

34 will meet the reporting objectives for which they were designed. In 

particular, an analysis of the responses to the questionnaire does not find the 

expected relationship between the reasons for using the Statement of 

Activities and the purchase of that statement. However, the expected 

relationships do exist for the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances. Finally, some but not all of the expected 

relationships exist for the Budgetary Comparison Statement. If the expected 

relationships had existed for all of the statements, one could conclude that 

the GASB's dual-perspective approach had some empirical merit based on 

this sample. However, the mixed results do not provide the GASB with 

justification for the new dual-perspective model. This is especially true due 

to the fact that none of the expected relationships were significant for the 

only operating statement added by the dual-perspective model—the entity-

wide Statement of Activities. 
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Relationship Between Education and 
Experience and Understandability 

The model of antecedents to user choice has two paths leading to the 

choice of a governmental operating statement (Figure 5.1). The first path 

examined the relationship between the reasons for using operating 

statements and the amount paid for each of three operating statements. This 

analysis led to mixed results for the GASB's premise that the statements 

required by Statement No. 34 would meet the reporting objectives for 

financial reports identified in GASB Concepts Statement No. 1. The second 

path proceeds from education and experience to understandability and then 

choice of statement. There are two tests that are performed in this study 

based on the development of the constructs in this path. The first test 

considers the relationship between education, experience, user group, and the 

respondent's score on the understandability test for each of the three 

operating statements. In particular, an attempt is made to discover whether 

there is a user group effect on the understandability scores. An analysis of 

covariance is used to make this assessment with the demographic factors 

used as covariates. The second tests posits education, experience, user group, 

and understandability of a statement as independent variables and the 

amount paid for a statement as the dependent variable in a regression 

analysis. 

The theory that education and experience level should affect a user's 

score on the understandability test for portions of the operating statements 

was developed in Chapter III. Table 5.16 summarizes the mean responses 

and the standard deviations for the demographic information for each of the 

groups. The demographic information is used later in the regression 

analysis. 
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Table 5.16. Mean Group Responses and (Standard Deviations) for 
Demographic Factors. 

Years of formal education (e.g. 
completed high school =12 
years and completed four year 
college = 1 6 years) (EDU) 

Number of college accounting 
courses completed (where 0 = 
none, 1 = 1 or 2 courses, 2 = 3 
to 6 courses, and 3 = more 
than 6) (ACTG) 

Citizens 
(n=147 to 150) 

17.1 
(2.5) 

.8 
(1.0) 

Investors/ 
Creditors 

(n=87 to 91) 

17.5 
(1.8) 

1.7 
(.9) 

Legislators 
(n=59 to 63) 

16.7 
(2.0) 

.8 
(.9) 

Experience with (1 =very low 
and 5 = very high): 

Generally accepted accounting 
principles applicable to state 
and local governments. 
(EXPl) 

Generally accepted accounting 
principles applicable to 
businesses. (EXP2) 

The analysis of state and local 
government financial reports. 
(EXP3) 

1.9 
(1.1) 

2.7 
(1.3) 

1.9 
(1.1) 

3.7 
(1.0) 

3.1 
(1.2) 

4.2 
(.8) 

2.5 
(1.1) 

2.8 
(1.2) 

2.9 
(1.1) 

n=number of respondents. 

Although number of years of formal education is similar for all the 

groups, investors and creditors have taken more accounting classes and have 

more experience with analyzing governmental financial reports than the 

other groups. They also have more experience with generally accepted 

accounting principles for businesses and state and local governments. 

Citizens have the lowest level of experience with governmental generally 

accepted accounting principles and with analyzing governmental financial 

reports. The results of hypothesis two found that investors and creditors 

scored higher on the understandability test for each of the three operating 
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statements required by GASB Statement No. 34 than did citizens and 

legislative officials. Therefore, the finding that the group with the highest 

level of accounting education aud business and governmental accounting 

experience also scored highest on the understandability tests seems to 

provide initial support for the theory that a higher level education or 

experience results in better understanding of the governmental operating 

statements. However, no tests have yet been made to determine whether 

education or experience is related to understandability scores for the 

operating statements. 

Table 5.17 reports the results of a factor analysis on the demographic 

variables. The purpose of the factor analysis was to reduce the number of 

variables that would be used in the later analysis of covariance and 

regression analyses. The orthogonal rotation method, Varimax, was used to 

simplify the interpretation of the columns. 

Table 5.17. Factor Loadings for Reasons for Using Operating 
Statements (Varimax Rotation). 

Explanators 
EDU 

ACTG 
EXPl 
EXP2 
EXP3 

Variance 
explained 
by factor 

Governmental 
Experience 

.04 

.30 

.93 * 

.08 

.95 * 

1.8535 

Accounting 
Background 

.01 

.78 * 

.22 

.89 * 

.15 

1.4724 

Education 
.99 * 
.06 
.01 

-.04 
.05 

_1.0040 

*Variable used in forming surrogate variable for regression analysis. 

Variables with factor loadings of greater than .50 are used to represent 

a factor. Two variables (EXPl and EXP3) have high factor loadings for the 

first factor. These variables are related to a respondent's experience with 

generally accepted accounting principles applicable to state and local 

governments and the analysis of state and local government financial 
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reports. Therefore, the average of EXPl and EXP3 is used in the regression 

analysis as the surrogate variable, "governmental experience." 

Two variables (ACTG and EXP2) have high factor loadings for the 

second factor. These variables are related to the number of accounting 

courses taken by a respondent and a respondent's experience with generally 

accepted accounting principles applicable to businesses. Most accounting 

courses in college are focused on business or commercial accounting. 

Therefore, both accounting education and experience with business GAAP 

could be considered business accounting background. Therefore, the average 

of ACTG, after an adjustment is made to put it on the same scale as the 

experience variables, and EXP2 is used in the regression analysis as the 

surrogate variable, "accounting background." 

EDU is the only variable whose variance is not accounted for by factors 

one or two. EDU is the variable, "education," in the regression analysis. 

Education, governmental experience, and accounting background are 

independent variables in each of the following models. 

Entitv-wide Statement of Activities 

The first model is designed to find if user group differences exist in the 

understandability of the Statement of Activities after controlling for the 

demographic factors. 

AT = a + bi(GRP) + b2(G0VEXP) + b2(ACCT) + bstEDU) + e, • 

where: 

a = Model intercept; 

AT = Understandability of entity-wide Statement of 

Activities; 

GRP = User groups; 

GOVEXP = Governmental experience; 
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ACCT = Accounting background; 

EDU = Education; and 

e = Error term. 

The dependent variable, AT, represents the understandability of the 

entity-wide Statement of Activities. Although AT is intended to represent 

the understandability of the statement, the respondent's task of answering 

questions about the Statement of Activities might also be considered a 

knowledge test. Knowledge regarding governmental operating statements 

should be a function of a person's ability (as indicated by the variables, 

GOVEXP, ACCT, and EDU) and the ease with which the operating 

statements can be interpreted (or understandability of the statement). 

Therefore, to examine differences in the understandability of the statements 

among the user groups, it is first necessary to account for ability. An 

analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) is appropriate for this type of model. 

An ANCOVA is an analysis of variance and regression analysis 

combined (Iman and Conover, 1989). Earlier in this chapter during the 

discussion of hypothesis two, significant differences were found in the mean 

group scores on the understandability tests for each of the three operating 

statements. Investors and creditors scored significantly higher on the 

understandability test for the Statement of Activities than did citizens. 

However, the earlier test did not consider the effect that education and 

experience had on the resulting differences. The ANCOVA considers these 

effects. 

The results of the ANCOVA for the entity-wide Statement of Activities 

are reported in Table 5.18. The overall model fit is relatively good with a p-

value of .0020. The model's R-square is .0662. This means that about 6.6% of 

the variance in the dependent variable about its mean can be explained by 

the independent variables (Hair et al., 1995). 
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Table 5.18. 

Regression 
Error 
Total 

R-square 

AT Model Statistical Summary. 

DF 
5 

274 
279 

0.0662 

Variable 

Sum of Squares 
43.89 

619.60 
663.49 

INTERCEPT 
GROUP 1 
GROUP 2 
GROUP 3 
GOVERMENTAL EXPERIENCE (GOVEXP) 
ACCOUNTING BACKGROUND (ACCT) 
EDUCATION (EDU) 

Mean Square 
8.78 
2.26 

Parameter 
Estimate 1 

3.26* 
-0.56* 
0.59* 
0.00* 
-0.07 
0.07 
0.01 

F 
3.88 

Standard Error 
0.77 
0.25 
0.29 

0.05 
0.04 
0.04 

Prob>F 
0.0020 

Prob>T 
0.0001 
0.0265 
0.0422 

0.1492 
0.9040 
0.8170 

* Estimates are biased and are not unique estimators of the parameters. 

None of the demographic variables (GOVEXP, ACCT, and EDU) are 

significant at the .10 level. This finding indicates differences other than 

education, governmental or commercial accounting experience among the 

users groups are responsible for a change in the understandability score. 

Group is a significant factor with an F statistic of 7.86 associated with the 

Type III sum of squares and a p-value of .0005. The parameter estimates for 

groups one (citizens), two (investors and creditors), and three (legislators) are 

relatively consistent with the magnitude of the mean group responses found 

in Table 5.3. 

Fund Perspective Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes 
in Fund Balances 

The following model is designed to find if user group differences exist 

in the understandability of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances after controlling for demographic factors. An 

ANCOVA is used to test the model. 
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BT = a + bi(GRP) + b2(G0VEXP) + b3(ACCT) + b4(EDU) + e. 

where: 

a 

BT 

Model intercept; 

Understandability of fund perspective Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances (BT represents the adjusted total scores 
from Table 5.4.); 

GRP 

GOVEXP = 

ACCT 

EDU 

User groups; 

Governmental Experience; 

Accounting Background; 

Education; and 

e = Error term. 

The results of the ANCOVA for the fund perspective Statement of 

Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances are reported in 

Table 5.19. The overall model fit is relatively good with a p-value of .0001. 

The model's R-square is .1320. This means that about 13.2% of the variance 

in the dependent variable about its mean can be explained by the 

independent variables (Hair et al., 1995). 

Table 5.19. BT Model Statistical Summary. 

Regression 
Error 
Total 

R-square 

INTERCEPT 
GROUP 1 
GROUP 2 
GROUP 3 

DF 
5 

275 
280 

0.1320 

Variable 

Sum of Squares 
74.77 

491.53 
566.30 

GOVERMENTAL EXPERIENCE (GOVEXP) 
ACCOUNTING BACKGROUND (ACCT) 
EDUCATION (EDU) 

Mean Square 
14.95 

1.79 

Parameter 
Estimate 

1.46* 
-0.35* 
0.27* 
0.00* 
0.10 

-0.01 
0.06 

F 
8.37 

Standard Error 
0.68 
0.22 
0.26 

, 

0.04 
0.03 
0.04 

Prob>F 
0.0001 

Prob>T 
0.0328 
0.1202 
0.2928 

0.0203 
0.9089 
0.1292 

* Estimates are biased and are not unique estimators of the parameters. 
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The only demographic variable that is significant is GOVEXP, which 

has a p-value of .0203. Group is a marginally significant factor with an F 

statistic of 2.98 associated with the Type III sum of squares and a p-value of 

.0523. These findings provide marginal evidence that the mean purchase 

price for the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances differs among the user groups when an adjustment is made for a 

respondent's governmental accounting and reporting experience. As 

expected, the level of governmental accounting and reporting experience is 

positively related to a respondent's score on the understandability test for the 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance. 

Fund Perspective Budgetarv Comparison Statement 

The following model is designed to find if user group differences exist 

in the understandability of the Budgetary Comparison Statement after 

controlling for demographic factors. An ANCOVA is used to test the model. 

CT = a + bi(GRP) + b2(G0VEXP) + b3(ACCT) + b4(EDU) + e, 

where: 

a = Model intercept; 

CT = Understandability of fund perspective Budgetary 

Comparison Statement; 

GRP = User groups; 

GOVEXP = Governmental experience; 

ACCT = Accounting background; 

EDU = Education; and 

e = Error term. 

The results of the ANCOVA for the fund perspective Budgetary 

Comparison Statement are reported in Table 5.20. The overall model fit is 

marginally significant with a p-value of .0416. The model's R-square is .0435. 
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This means that about 4.4% of the variance in the dependent variable about 

its mean can be explained by the independent variables (Hair et al., 1995). 

Table 5.20. CT Model Statistical Summary. 

Regression 
Error 
Total 

R-square 

INTERCEPT 
GROUP 1 
GROUP 2 
GROUP 3 

DF 
5 

258 
263 

0.0435 

Variable 

Sum of Squares 
34.25 

752.71 
786.96 

GOVERMENTAL EXPERIENCE (GOVEXP) 
ACCOUNTING BACKGROUND (ACCT) 
EDUCATION (EDU) 

Mean Square 
6.85 
2.92 

Parameter 
Estimate 

2.11* 
0.35* 
0.88* 
0.00* 
0.02 

-0.01 
0.03 

F 
2.35 

Standard Error 
0.90 
0.29 
0.34 

, 

0.01 
0.05 
0.05 

Prob>F 
0.0416 

Prob>T 
0.0202 
0.2288 
0.0101 

. 

0.6971 
0.8909 
0.5025 

* Estimates are biased and are not unique estimators of the parameters. 

Like the findings for the Statement of Activities, none of the 

demographic variables (GOVEXP, ACCT, and EDU) are significant at the .10 

level. This finding indicates that differences other than education, 

governmental or commercial accounting experience among the users groups 

are responsible for a change in the understandability score. Group is a 

significant factor with an F statistic of 3.37 associated with the Type III sum 

of squares and a p-value of .0360. The parameter estimates for groups one, 

two, and three are relatively consistent with the magnitude of the mean 

group responses found in Table 5.5. 

Conclusions 

The results of the ANCOVA's for the three operating statements found 

little additional information about the relationship between user groups, 

demographic factors, and the understandability of the statements. 

Significant differences exist in the understandability of the scores among the 
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user groups. Investors and creditors scored higher on the understandability 

or knowledge tests than either of the other groups. The results of hypothesis 

two had already found this relationship. 

The only substantive finding is the significant positive relationship 

between governmental experience and the understandability score for the 

fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances. This relationship was expected because the Statement of 

Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances is the primary 

operating statement for governments now being analyzed. Therefore, most 

analysts who deal with governmental entities should be familiar with this 

statement. 

Unfortunately, the findings provide little insight into the factors that 

are significant in determining why individuals understand governmental 

operating statements. Differences exist in the scores on the 

understandability or knowledge test by user groups. However, experience 

and education were not important factors in this study. This finding was not 

expected and may be the result of using insufficient measures to test 

knowledge or understandability. Also, the tests did not allow for the degree 

of variance in the answers that might be necessary to have more conclusive 

findings. 

Relationship between Education, Experience, 
Understandability, and Choice of Statement 

The previous analysis found little relationship between the 

demographic factors (GOVEXP, ACCT, EDU) and respondent's scores on the 

understandability test. This section of the study considers-whether the 

demographic factors, user group, or respondent's score on the 

understandability test are significant variables in predicting the amount paid 

for the three governmental operating statements. 
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Entitv-wide Statement of Activities 

The following model posits education, experience, user group, and 

understandability as independent variables and the amount paid for the 

Statement of Activities as the dependent variable in a regression analysis. 

PURA = a + bi(GRP) + b2(G0VEXP) + b3(ACCT) + b4(EDU) + b5(AT) + e, 

where: 

Model intercept; 

Amount paid for entity-wide Statement of Activities; 

User groups; 

Governmental experience; 

Accounting background; 

Education; 

a = 

PURA 

GRP 

GOVEXP = 

ACCT 

EDU 

AT Understandability of entity-wide Statement of 
Activities; and 

e = Error term. 

The results of the regression analysis for the purchase of the entity-

wide Statement of Activities are reported in Table 5.21. The overall model fit 

is relatively good with a p-value of .0027. The model's R-square is .0651. 

This means that about 6.5% of the variance in the dependent variable about 

its mean can be explained by the independent variables (Hair et al., 1995). 
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Table 5.21. PURA Model Statistical Summary. 

Regression 
Error 
Total 

R-square 

DF Sum of Squares Mean Square Prob>F 
5 

269 
274 

.0651 

7061.25 
101330.69 
108391.94 

1412.25 
376.69 

3.749 0.0027 

Variable 
Parameter 

Estimate Standard Error Prob>T 
INTERCEPT 
GROUP (GRP) 
GOVERMENTAL EXPERIENCE (GOVEXP) 
ACCOUNTING BACKGROUND (ACCT) 
EDUCATION (EDU) 
UNDERSTANDABILITY OF STATEMENT 
OF ACTIVITIES (AT) 

13.68 
-3.23 
-0.56 
1.48 
0.22 

1.80 

10.01 
1.66 
0.54 
0.50 
0.54 

0.78 

0.1727 
0.0524 
0.2991 
0.0034 
0.6820 

0.0210 

The entity-wide Statement of Activities reports revenues and expenses 

using the economic resource flows measurement focus and the accrual basis 

of accounting. This is the same measurement focus and basis of accounting 

used for commercial business reporting. ACCT is the average of two 

variables that represent the number of accounting courses taken by a 

respondent and a respondent's experience with generally accepted accounting 

principles applicable to businesses. Therefore, of all the demographic 

variables, only ACCT was a priori expected to be positively related to the 

amount paid for the Statement of Activities. As expected, ACCT is positively 

related to the purchase of the Statement of Activities. ACCT is also 

significant with a p-value of .0034. 

The independent variables, GRP and AT, were also marginally 

significant with p-values of .0524 and .0210, respectively. The negative 

relationship between GRP and the amount paid for the Statement of 

Activities indicates that the user group effect is important in determining the 

amount paid for the Statement of Activities. Table 5.9 reports that citizens 

paid on average $22.40, investors and creditors paid $21.10, and legislators 

paid $16.00 for the Statement of Activities. The positive relationship 
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between AT and the amount paid for the Statement of Activities indicates 

that the higher a respondent's score on the understandability test for the 

Statement of Activities, the more the respondent would pay for statement. 

Intuitively, this seems reasonable because respondents would be expected to 

pay more for a statement that they understood. 

Fund Perspective Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances 

The following model posits education, experience, user group, and 

understandability as independent variables and the amount paid for the 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances as the 

dependent variable in a regression analysis. 

PURB = a + bi(GRP) + b2(G0VEXP) + b3(ACCT) + b4(EDU) + b5(BT) + e, 

where: 

= Model intercept; a 

PURB 

GRP 

GOVEXP = 

ACCT 

EDU 
BT 

Amount paid for fund perspective Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances; 

User groups; 

Governmental experience; 

Accounting background; 

Education; 

Understandability of fund perspective Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances (BT represents the adjusted total scores 
from Table 5.4.); and 

Error term. 
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The results of the regression analysis for the purchase of the fund 

perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balances are reported in Table 5.22. The overall model fit is good with a 

p-value of .0001. The model's R-square is .1623. This means that about 

16.2% of the variance in the dependent variable about its mean can be 

explained by the independent variables (Hair et al., 1995). 

Table 5.22. PURB Model Statistical Summary. 

Regression 
Error 
Total 

R-square 

INTERCEPT 
GROUP (GRP) 

DF 
5 

270 
275 

0.1623 

Variable 

Sum of Squares 
26666.39 

137632.69 
164299.08 

GOVERMENTAL EXPERIENCE (GOVEXP) 
ACCOUNTING BACKGROUND (ACCT) 
EDUCATION (EDU) 
UNDERSTANDABILITY OF STATEMENT 
OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (BT) 

Mean Square 
5333.28 

509.75 

Parameter 
Estimate 

16.20 
1.94 
3.20 

-0.05 
-0.26 

1.20 

F 
10.46 

Standard Error 
11.53 

1.92 
0.65 
0.58 
0.63 

1.06 

Prob>F 
0.0001 

Prob>T 
0.1613 
0.3144 
0.0001 
0.9348 
0.6820 

0.2581 

The fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances is currently used in governmental accounting and 

is familiar to current readers of financial statements. Therefore, of all the 

demographic variables, only GOVEXP was a priori expected to be positively 

related to the amount paid for the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances. As expected, GOVEXP is positively related to the 

purchase of that statement. GOVEXP is also significant with a p-value of 

.0001. 
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Fund Perspective Budgetarv Comparison Statement 

The following model posits education, experience, user group, and 

understandability as independent variables and the amount paid for the 

Budgetary Comparison Statement as the dependent variable in a regression 

analysis. 

PURC = a + bi(GRP) + b2(G0VEXP) + b3(ACCT) + b4(EDUC) + bs (CT) + e, 

where: 

a = 

PURC 

GRP 

GOVEXP = 

ACCT 

EDU 

CT 

Model intercept; 

Amount paid for fund perspective Budgetary 

Comparison Statement; 

User groups; 

Governmental experience; 

Accounting background; 

Education; 

Understandability of fund perspective Budgetary 

Comparison Statement; and 

e = Error term. 

The results of the regression analysis for the purchase of the fund 

perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement are reported in Table 5.23. 

The overall model fit is good with a p-value of .0001. The model's R-square is 

.1185. This means that about 11.8% of the variance in the dependent 

variable about its mean can be explained by the independent variables (Hair 

et al., 1995). 
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Table 5.23. PURC Model Statistical Summary. 

DF Sum of Squares Mean Square Prob>F 
Regression 
Error 
Total 

5 
253 
258 

25440.16 
189253.89 
214694.05 

5088.03 
748.04 

6.802 0.0001 

R-square 0.1185 

Variable 
Parameter 

Estimate Standard Error Prob>T 
INTERCEPT 
GROUP (GRP) 
GOVERMENTAL EXPERIENCE (GOVEXP) 
ACCOUNTING BACKGROUND (ACCT) 
EDUCATION (EDU) 
UNDERSTANDABILITY OF BUDGETARY 
COMPARISON STATEMENT (CT) 

64.55 
0.66 

-2.90 
-1.65 
-0.04 

14.71 
2.37 
0.78 
0.72 
0.80 

0.0001 
0.7798 
0.0003 
0.0232 
0.9630 

0.48 1.00 0.6337 

In part IV of the questionnaire, respondents were asked to assume 

that they had $100 to purchase operating statements that would be used to 

analyze the operations of a city. They were then asked how much they would 

pay for the three operating statements that are the focus of this study. 

Experienced readers would not normally use the Budgetary Comparison 

Statement to analyze the operations of a government. They would likely use 

the statements to learn about legal and budgetary compliance, but not to 

analyze the operations of a city. The Statement of Activities and the 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances would 

more logically be used to analyze the operations of a government. Therefore, 

it was a priori expected that respondents with more governmental accounting 

experience and accounting background would pay less for the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement. As expected, both GOVEXP and ACCT had a 

negative relationship to the amount paid for the Budgetary Comparison 

Statement. GOVEXP is significant with a p-value of .0003, and ACCT is 

significant with a p-value of .0232. 
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Conclusions 

The expected relationships are found between GOVEXP and ACCT 

and the amount paid for the governmental operating statements. ACCT is 

positively related to the amount paid for the Statement of Activities. 

GOVEXP is positively related to the amount paid for the Statement of 

Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. ACCT and 

GOVEXP are negatively related to the amount paid for the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement. This finding provides some support for those who 

believe that the GASB should educate users of governmental operating 

statements. For example, if those who have more commercial accounting 

experience find the Statement of Activities more valuable, then educating 

potential users of governmental financial reports about commercial 

accounting and how it relates to the Statement of Activities may increase the 

statement's value to a larger number of users. 

The independent variable representing the understandability of a 

statement is only significant in the regression predicting the amount paid for 

the Statement of Activities. Therefore, it is not possible to conclude that a 

positive relationship exists between understandability of the three operating 

statements and their value to users. However, the reason for the lack of 

significant positive relationships between understandability and the fund 

perspective operating statements is probably due to the design of the 

research. 

First, upon reexamining the model of antecedents to user choice, a 

direct link probably should have been drawn from the experience factors to 

the amount paid for the statement. As previously discussed the 

understandability test for the operating statements was actually more of a 

knowledge test. Therefore, understandability should have been affected by a 

respondent's accounting experience. The results indicate that a direct 

relationship exists between a respondent's accounting experience and the 
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amount paid for an operating statement. However, the key to a respondent 

purchasing an operating statement should also have been directly related to 

the amount of experience the respondent had with the statement and not an 

understandability test score. Second, the measure of understandability was 

limited to only a few items for each of the operating statements. Therefore, 

the measure of understandability was not sophisticated and may not have 

been able to measure changes in understandability even if they had existed. 

This chapter presented the results of the statistical analysis performed 

on the hypotheses and the model including a discussion of the meaning and 

possible reasons for the results. The next chapter summarizes the results by 

drawing overall conclusions. That chapter also includes discussions of the 

limitations and contributions of this research and suggestions for future 

research. 

178 



CHAPTER VI 

SUMMARY AND IMPLICATIONS 

Introduction 

The previous chapter contained a description of the statistical analysis 

and research results for the four hypotheses and the model of antecedents to 

user choice of governmental operating statements. This chapter continues 

that discussion by summarizing the results so that overall conclusions can be 

drawn about the understandability and usefulness of the governmental 

operating statements required by GASB Statement No. 34. This chapter also 

includes a discussion of the study's limitations, its contributions to the 

governmental accounting literature, and potential avenues for future 

research. 

Objectives 

This study was conducted to evaluate whether the GASB's overall 

objective for Statement No. 34 could be met by preparing the operating 

statements required by Statement No. 34. The objective of GASB Statement 

No. 34 was to enhance the understandability and usefulness of governmental 

financial reports to the citizenry, legislative and oversight bodies, and 

investors and creditors. 

This study's focus was more narrowly defined than that objective. 

Instead of studying whether the required operating statenients would 

enhance the understandability and usefulness of governmental financial 

reports, the main focus of this study was to determine whether the operating 

statements would be understandable and useful to respondents representing 

citizens, legislators, and investors and creditors. 

The GASB developed the entity-wide statements with the belief that 

they would be understandable to non-traditional users of governmental 
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financial reports, particularly citizens. Although not explicitly stated in 

GASB documents, some of the GASB members believe citizens and citizen 

groups are more familiar with commercial accounting principles. Therefore, 

if these GASB members are correct, the entity-wide statements should be 

relatively more understandable to citizens. A finding that citizens 

understood the entity-wide Statement of Activities as well or better than the 

other user groups would provide some justification for its required reporting. 

One of the GASB's major justifications for developing the financial 

statements that were ultimately required by Statement No. 34 was a 

relationship that was believed to exist between the objectives, or reasons, for 

using governmental financial reports and the financial statements 

themselves. In the PV that was issued prior to Statement No. 34, the GASB 

matched the objectives, or reasons, for using governmental financial 

statements to the entity-wide or fund perspective statements that should 

meet a financial reporting objective (GASB, 1995). However, no research had 

been conducted to test for these relationships prior to this study. This study 

was designed to test whether the expected relationships exist. A finding that 

the expected relationships exist would provide some justification for 

Statement No. 34. 

The GASB adopted a dual-perspective financial reporting approach to 

financial reporting—requiring both entity-wide and fund perspective 

statements—because it believes that different user groups have different 

reasons for using governmental financial reports and because it believes 

certain users, primarily citizens, would be able to understand entity-wide 

statements better than other statements. Therefore, a first step in justifying 

the changes to governmental operating statements required by GASB would 

be to demonstrate that user groups had different reasons for using 

governmental operating statements and that user group differences existed 

in the understandability of governmental operating statements. 
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Research Methodologv 

A questionnaire and information booklet were developed to gather the 

data for testing the research questions and the relationships among the 

variables in the model of antecedents to user choice of governmental 

operating statements. Part I of the questionnaire was used to gather data 

about the reasons for using governmental operating statements. Part II of 

the questionnaire was used to gather information about the 

understandability of the proposed operating statements. Part III of the 

questionnaire was used to determine which individual elements in each of 

the operating statements made them useful in understanding the financial 

operations of a city. Part IV of the questionnaire considered the relative 

value user groups placed on the three operating statements and included two 

open-ended questions. The final portion of the questionnaire contained 

demographic data including the educational background and the 

governmental and commercial financial reporting experience of respondents. 

The questionnaire and information booklets were prepared based on 

the illustrative operating statements included in the ED. Respondents used 

the information booklet to answer questions in parts II, III, and IV of the 

questionnaire. It included a realistic representation of a Management's 

Discussion and Analysis section and three operating statements prepared for 

a fictional city: the City of River Falls. The three operating statements were 

slightly modified versions of the illustrative operating statements included in 

the GASB ED. Certain changes were made to the operating statements 

illustrated in the ED when GASB Statement No. 34 was issued. However, 

the changes were not significant and should not affect the conclusions made 

in this study regarding the operating statements required by GASB 

Statement No. 34. 
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The questionnaire and information booklet were mailed to 6,549 

potential respondents. Usable questionnaires were received from 151 

citizens, 91 investors and creditors, and 63 state and municipal legislators. 

Research Results 

The four parts of the questionnaire were designed to answer four 

research questions as well as to provide the data needed to test the model of 

antecedents to user choice of governmental operating statements. Prior to 

conducting the research, it was expected that user groups (i.e., citizens, 

investors and creditors, and legislators) differ with respect to: 

1. The importance of their reasons for using governmental operating 

statements. 

2. Their understanding of governmental operating statements. 

3. Their perceived usefulness of the individual elements within financial 

statements for understanding the financial operations of a city. 

4. The value that they placed on three operating statements that would 

be used to analyze the city's operations. 

A null hypothesis of no difference among user groups for each of these 

four statements was rejected. As expected, the results of a one-way 

MANOVA found that the group mean vectors for the importance of 18 

reasons for using governmental operating statements differed. The results of 

univariate analyses using the Tukey method found significant differences 

among the user groups for 14 of the 18 reasons for using governmental 

operating statements. These findings are consistent with the work of 

previous researchers (Jones et al, 1985; Hebert, 1987; Wilson, 1990) and 

provide confirmation of the correctness of their findings. The statistically 

significant differences in the importance of the reasons for using a city's 

operating statements among user groups provides initial support for the 
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GASB belief that both entity-wide and fund perspective statements are 

necessary. 

Citizens generally found reasons associated with assessing a 

government's financial position or results of operations most important. 

Using governmental operating statements to determining the cost of 

programs and to assist in assessing the economy and efficiency of a 

government was significantly more important to citizens than to investors 

and creditors. Overall, one can conclude that citizens found the reasons that 

the GASB believed were associated with the entity-wide statements as most 

important. However, citizens also believed that using governmental 

operating statements to compare a government's actual financial results with 

its legally adopted budget was highly important and significantly more 

important to them than to investors and creditors. The fund perspective 

Budgetary Comparison Statement would be used to make this assessment. 

Investors and creditors generally found reasons associated with 

making investment and credit decisions most important. Investors and 

creditors indicated that reasons associated with a government's ability to 

repay its debt and to assess its financial position and results of operations 

were very important reasons for using governmental operating statements. 

These reasons were also significantly more important to investors and 

creditors than they were to citizens or legislators. Surprisingly, three of the 

top six reasons that investors and creditors had for using operating 

statements were associated with the entity-wide statements by the GASB in 

the PV that led to Statement No. 34 (GASB, 1995). However, some would 

argue that only one of those reasons—using governmental operating 

statements to determine whether current year revenues were sufficient to 

pay current year services—is uniquely related to the entity-wide statements. 

Investors and creditors also found two of the unique reasons for using entity-

wide statements—to assist in assessing economy and efficiency and to 
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determine the cost of programs—to be of relatively little importance. 

Therefore, the importance placed on "entity-wide" reasons for using 

governmental operating statements by investors and creditors was mixed. 

Investors and creditors found reasons that the GASB believes are related to 

both the entity-wide and fund perspective statements to be important. This 

finding provides additional support for the dual-perspective approach to 

financial reporting. 

Finally, legislator's reasons for using operating statements also 

provide justification for the dual-perspective approach. Legislators found 

both "entity-wide" and "fund perspective" reasons for using operating 

statements to be very important. Legislators found reasons associated with 

budgetary compliance, the cost of programs, and assessing the economy and 

efficiency of a government as significantly more important than did investors 

and creditors. 

Understandability 

The results of a one-way ANOVA found that user groups had 

significantly different mean cumulative scores on the understandability tests 

for each of the three operating statements. Therefore, the null hypothesis of 

no difference in understanding each of the three operating statements among 

the user groups was rejected. Investors and creditors currently are the 

primary users of governmental financial reports and scored higher on the 

understandability test for each of the three operating state'ments than did 

citizens and legislators. This finding was expected for the fund perspective 

operating statements, which are in essence the statements required by 

current GAAP. 

Some GASB board members believe that the application of "more 

famihar" commercial accounting principles would enhance the 

understandability of the governmental financial reports to citizens. A finding 
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of no significant difference in the understandability score between investors 

and creditors and citizens or a significantly higher understandability score by 

citizens on the entity-wide Statement of Activities was needed to provide 

support for these GASB board member's beliefs. The significantly higher 

understandability score by investors and creditors in comparison to citizens 

on the entity-wide Statement of Activities did not provide support for the 

belief of these GASB members. This finding raises doubts about whether the 

dual-perspective statements will enhance the understandability of 

governmental financial reports to non-traditional users such as citizens. 

Overall, the findings do not provide support for the dual-perspective 

approach. However, the fact that investors and creditors scored significantly 

higher on the understandability test for portions of each of the operating 

statements demonstrates that those more familiar with financial statements 

in general will have a better understanding of new financial statements such 

as the Statement of Activities. Therefore, this finding should provide the 

GASB with a reason to develop and provide educational resources to citizens. 

Value Assigned to Operating 
Statements 

The result of testing the first hypothesis found that user groups had 

different reasons for using governmental operating statements. This finding 

was necessary to provide initial support for the dual-perspective approach. 

In developing that approach, the GASB believed that (1) user group's reasons 

for using governmental operating statements differed and that (2) users 

should be able to use the dual-perspective operating statements to meet 

different user needs (or reporting objectives). Therefore, if the GASB was 

correct in its beliefs, not only should the user groups have different reasons 

for using governmental operating statements, but they should also value 
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operating statements differently consistent with the reasons that they have 

for using the statements. 

The results of the ANOVA indicate that the user groups paid a 

statistically significant different amount for each of the three operating 

statements, which were to be used to analyze the operations of a city. 

Therefore, the null hypothesis of no difference in the value assigned to each of 

the three operating statements by the user groups was rejected. 

Citizens spent significantly more for the entity-wide Statement of 

Activities than did investors and creditors. Yet, citizens only spent $22.40 of 

$100 possible for the statement, which was less than they spent on either of 

the fund perspective statements. This result was not expected because the 

GASB believed the Statement of Activities would be especially appealing and 

useful to citizens. 

Citizens and legislators spent more for the fund perspective Budgetary 

Comparison Statement than any other statement and significantly more on 

the statement than did investors and creditors. It was expected that 

legislators would spend more on that statement because it is related to the 

budget, which they use to make financing decisions. Citizens indicated in 

written responses that they liked the detail that the Budgetary Comparison 

Statement provided. 

As expected, investors and creditors spent more for the fund 

perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 

Balance than for any other statement, and significantly more than citizens 

and legislators. Investors and creditors currently use that statement in their 

analysis of governments. 
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Relationship between Reasons for Using 
Operating Statements and Amount Paid 

for Statement 

This study found that user groups differed with respect to the reasons 

that they had for using governmental operating statements (i.e., the GASB's 

objectives for financial reporting) and the value that they assigned to (i.e., the 

amount user's paid for) the three operating statements required by GASB 

Statement No. 34. However, these findings do not by themselves provide 

support for developing the dual-perspective approach. In the PV that 

proceeded GASB Statement No. 34, the GASB matched reporting objectives 

to the entity-wide or fund perspective statements that they believed would 

meet those objectives. Evidence that this matching was valid would provide 

the GASB with justification for the new model. The next stage of this study 

was designed to test the GASB's belief that a relationship existed between 

the objectives for financial reporting and the financial statements that were 

designed to meet those objectives. If the expected relationships were found, 

the GASB would have some support for the dual-perspective approach. 

One of the proposed links in the model of antecedents to user choice 

was designed to test for the relationship between user's reasons for using 

operating statements (i.e., the objectives of financial reporting) and the 

amount that they would pay to purchase operating statements that would be 

used to analyze the operations of a city. A factor analysis was performed on 

the responses to the importance of 18 reasons that user's had for using 

governmental operating statements. The results of the factor analysis 

identified four factors that explained most of the variance in the importance 

placed on the reasons by respondents. These factors were (1) financial 

position, (2) financing, (3) performance, and (4) legal. 

Based on the GASB's reasons for matching the objectives of financial 

reporting to the entity-wide or fund perspective statements, a set of a priori 
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predictions of the relationships between each of these four factors and each of 

the three operating statements was developed. If this study confirmed that 

the expected relationships existed for all the statements, one could conclude 

that the GASB's dual-perspective approach was supported by the findings of 

this study. Table 5.11 summarized the expected signs of the four factors, 

which were the independent variables in a regression analysis. The 

dependent variable in the analysis was the amount paid for each of the 

operating statements. 

The results of the regression analysis were mixed. Overall, the 

expected relationships between the importance of four factors for using 

governmental operating statements and the amounts paid for the operating 

statements were not found. None of the four factors (or reasons) for using 

governmental operating statements were significant in predicting the amount 

paid for the entity-wide Statement of Activities. The regression analysis for 

the fund perspective Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Fund Balances found that each of the four factors had the expected 

relationship with the dependent variable and that two of the factors were 

significant in predicting the amount paid for the statement. The regression 

analysis for the Budgetary Comparison Statement found that three of the 

four factors had the expected relationship with the dependent variable, but 

only one of these factors was significant. 

In conclusion, the findings do not support one of the potential 

justifications for Statement No. 34. That is, this study did'not find that the 

expected relationships exist between the reasons for using operating 

statements and the individual statements that the GASB believed should be 

used to meet a related reporting objective. Of the three operating statements 

examined, only the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Fund Balances had all the expected relationships. 
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Relationship between Education, Experience, 
Understandability, and Amount 

Paid for Statement 

The second link in the model of antecedents to user choice of 

governmental operating statements was designed to test for the relationship 

between users' educational and experience level, their score on an 

understandability test for a portion of each of the operating statements, and 

the amount that they would pay to purchase operating statements that would 

be used to analyze the operations of a city. There were two tests performed 

on the constructs in this link. The first test considered the relationship 

between education, experience, user group, and the respondent's score on the 

understandability test for each of the three operating statements. 

An ANCOVA was used to test whether education and experience were 

significant factors in determining the differences in test scores among user 

groups. An analysis of the results of the ANCOVA's for the three operating 

statements yielded little information about the factors that may have caused 

the known differences in the user groups' scores on the understandability 

test. A significant positive relationship did exist between governmental 

accounting and reporting experience and user's score on the 

understandability test for the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 

Changes in Fund Balances. This was expected because current users of 

governmental financial statements would use the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, and they should be familiar 

with governmental GAAP. Experience with governmental or commercial 

accounting was not a significant factor in determining user's scores on the 

understandability test for the Statement of Activities and the Budgetary 

Comparison. 

The second test of the model of antecedents to user choice of 

governmental operating statements posits education, experience, user group, 
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and the understandability score for a statement as independent variables and 

the amount paid for a statement as the dependent variable in a regression 

analysis. The expected relationships were found between governmental 

accounting experience and commercial accounting education and experience 

and the amount users paid for the governmental operating statements that 

were to be used to analyze the operations of a city. 

Commercial accounting experience was positively related to the 

amount paid for the Statement of Activities, which is prepared using the 

traditional commercial accounting measurement focus (i.e., economic 

resources) and the accrual basis of accounting. Governmental accounting 

experience was positively related to the amount paid for the Statement of 

Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, which is the 

operating statement currently used for governmental financial reporting. 

Therefore, one might conclude that the respondents to this study preferred 

operating statements that were most like statements with which they were 

already familiar. This finding could provide support for the dual-perspective 

approach if it could be shown that those who are more familiar with 

commercial accounting statements would use governmental operating 

statements if the accrual basis were used in the preparation of the 

statements. This study did not attempt to make this connection. 

Commercial accounting experience and governmental accounting 

experience is negatively related to the amount paid for the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement. This would also be expected because the Budgetary 

Comparison Statement would not be used to analyze the operations of a city. 

Instead, it would be used to determine if an entity had complied with the 

budget. 
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Overall Conclusions and Implications 

This study was designed to test the objective that the GASB had for 

the ED that proceeded Statement No. 34, which also eventually became the 

objective of Statement No. 34 when it was issued in June 1999. Namely, the 

objective of Statement No. 34 was to enhance the understandability and 

usefulness of governmental financial reports to three primary user groups: 

the citizenry, legislative and oversight officials, and investors and creditors. 

This study took a more limited focus by considering whether the operating 

statements that are required by Statement No. 34 would be useful and 

understandable to the primary user groups. If the operating statements were 

found to be useful and understandable, then this study would provide the 

GASB with some justification for the changes it made. 

Although user groups were found to have different reasons for using 

governmental operating statements, this study did not find the expected 

relationships between the reasons for using governmental operating 

statements and the operating statements that should meet these reasons (or 

objectives) for using the statements. Of the three operating statements, only 

the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

had the expected relationships. Therefore, this portion of the study did not 

provide the GASB with support for the dual-perspective approach required by 

Statement No. 34. 

The GASB expects nontraditional users—citizens—to be able to 

understand the new entity-wide statements better than th'ey have fund 

perspective statements. The findings of the understandability section of the 

study do not provide the GASB with any assurances that the operating 

statements required by Statement No. 34 will be any better understood by 

nontraditional users of governmental financial statements than the operating 

statements currently required. 
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Unfortunately, the findings from this study cannot be used to provide 

the GASB with justification for the changes to governmental financial 

reporting that it is required in Statement No. 34. However, a few things 

have been learned that the GASB should consider. 

First, the GASB should continue to study the use of governmental 

financial reports particularly among nontraditional users. Citizens who 

responded to the questionnaire used in this study were not able to identify 

the Statement of Activities as the operating statement that they should use 

to meet their primarily "entity-wide" reasons for using governmental 

operating statements. The GASB needs to determine whether the Statement 

of Activities is useful to citizens as well as other users and may need to make 

adjustments to the statement in the future to make it more useful. 

Second, citizens who responded to this survey had difficulty correctly 

answering the questions that tested their understanding of any of the 

governmental operating statements. If the GASB wants their financial 

statements to be understood by citizens, they need to continue to work to 

make the statements more understandable or to work with users so that they 

will be better able to understand the existing statements. 

Third, investors and creditors seem to have a relatively good 

understanding of the operating statements that are required by Statement 

No. 34. Investors and creditors stressed in both the amount that they spent 

on the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

and in written comments that they continue to need that statement for their 

analysis of governments. Therefore, the GASB should conduct extensive 

studies before making substantive changes to that statement. 
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Limitations 

As with any research, this study has limitations. Some of these 

limitations are due to the design of the research instrument while other 

limitations are the result of using a mail survey. 

Research Instrument 

One problem with conducting this type of research is the difficulty of 

the task that participants are asked to perform. If participants do not have 

enough knowledge to perform a task, participants' answers may be incorrect 

and the results may not be representative of the population of interest. The 

difficulty of the task can be compounded if the measure is faulty. For 

example, the participants did not understand one of the assertions made in 

Part II of the questionnaire regarding the understandability of the operating 

statements and some respondent's answered incorrectly because of the way 

the question was worded. Although several knowledgeable individuals 

reviewed the questionnaire prior to mailing, respondents may not have 

understood other questions resulting in answers that do not measure the 

desired construct. 

Another reason why respondents may not have understood the 

questions and information booklet was the technical language that was used. 

However, the operating statements and Management's Discussion and 

Analysis required by GASB Statement No. 34 use technical language. The 

information booklet was designed to closely resemble the illustrations in the 

ED that proceeded Statement No. 34. Thus, if the participants were not able 

to understand the information booklet, they will likely not be able to 

understand the proposed statements. 
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Survey Research 

A limitation of survey research that affects the external validity or 

generalizability of the results is nonresponse bias. Nonresponse bias refers to 

the error that occurs when respondents selected in a sample are subsequently 

excluded. If nonrespondents would have responded differently to questions 

than respondents, nonresponse bias will be introduced due to their exclusion. 

In mail surveys, nonresponse bias would be introduced by nonreturns 

(Wilcox, 1977). Historically, studies of this type have a very low response 

rate. This could lead to nonresponse bias and affect the generalizability of 

the results. Although measures were taken when mailing the questionnaire 

to increase the response rate, this study had very low response rates. 

Attempts to contact those who did not respond by phone to determine if their 

answers would have been similar to those who did respond were not 

successful. One legislator explained that governmental financial reports 

were not relevant to his job and that it was a waste of time to try to contact 

legislators who were only concerned with the budget. 

Another problem with survey research is that the data is self-reported. 

The respondents indicated on the questionnaire which user groups they 

represent. In at least two cases, respondent's checked the wrong box. 

Personnel in the state auditor's office completed two of the questionnaires 

sent to the legislators in Tennessee and marked on the questionnaire that the 

legislators had completed the questionnaire. These questionnaires were 

excluded from the study. However, it is unknown how many other surveys 

may have been completed by someone other than the recipient of the survey, 

and if any other respondents indicated that they were in a group in which 

they did not belong. 

Respondents to questionnaires are sometimes careless in their 

responses. The data for this study was examined for careless respondents. 
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When found, the data from careless respondents was removed from the 

analysis. 

Generalizability 

No research that uses sampling techniques will be completely 

representative of the population of interest. This study is no exception. In 

addition to the danger of nonresponse bias previously discussed, there are 

other limitations on the generalizability of the results in this study. 

For example, the samples chosen to represent the populations of 

interest had different degrees of actual representation. The sample drawn 

from the National Federation of Municipal Analysts is probably fairly 

representative of investors and creditors in governmental bonds. However, 

the sample of citizens drawn from the lists of the National Civic League and 

particularly George-Mann Associates, Incorporated are probably not as 

representative of all citizens. An examination of the demographic data finds 

that their education level was much higher than the average for all citizens. 

Yet, even with these limitations, this study contributes to the body of 

accounting literature. 

Contributions and Additional Research 

This study contributes to the accounting literature in several ways. It 

confirms the findings of previous researchers (Jones et al., 1985; Hebert, 

1987; Wilson, 1990) about the importance of users' reasons-for using 

governmental operating statements. These findings were used as a basis for 

the GASB's development of the financial statements that are now required by 

Statement No. 34. 

This study also extends the work of previous researchers by studying 

the relationship between respondents' reasons for using governmental 

operating statements and the amount that they paid for the three operating 

195 



statements required by Statement No. 34. The findings of this study 

generally did not provide support for the relationships that the GASB 

expected. However, future researchers may use this study as starting point 

to develop more refined measures to relate the objectives of financial 

reporting to the statements that should meet those objectives. 

A search of the accounting literature found no previous attempts to 

study the understandability of the governmental operating statements 

currently required by GAAP or the governmental operating statements 

required by Statement No. 34. This study attempted to determine if the 

governmental operating statements required by Statement No. 34 could be 

understood. Although this study did not provide much insight into the 

antecedents to understanding governmental operating statements, the 

results of the understandability test could provide baseline measures for 

future research. Future researchers might also extend this study by 

attempting to develop measures that would allow for comparisons concerning 

differences in understandability among the three operating statements. For 

example, is the Statement of Activities more understandable than the 

Budgetary Comparison Statement? 

This study provides the GASB with some insight about the possible 

success of Statement No. 34. In addition, the findings from this study should 

demonstrate the need for the GASB to continue to work to make 

governmental financial reports more usable and understandable to citizens. 

This study found a positive relationship between familiarity with 

commercial accounting experience and the Statement of Activities and 

governmental GAAP experience and the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances. Based on the data gathered in 

this study, it is not possible to draw conclusions about whether users of 

commercial income statements would more likely use governmental 
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operating statements if they were similar to commercial income statements. 

However, future researchers may wish to study this question. 

One of the findings of this study was that citizens generally tended to 

prefer operating statements that contained more detail. This may explain 

citizen's preference for the Budgetary Comparison Statement over the 

Statement of Activities. An interesting extension to this study would be to 

provide respondents with a Budgetary Comparison Statement and a 

Statement of Activities with the same level of detail and determine if citizens' 

preference for the Budgetary Comparison Statement was due only to the 

additional detail. 
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APPENDIX A 

INFORMATION BOOKLET AND 

QUESTIONNAIRE MAILED 

TO PARTICIPANTS 

On the following pages are the information booklet and questionnaire 

mailed to participants in this study. Some format changes have been made 

in order that both may fit in the allowed space for this appendix. 
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INFORMATION BOOKLET 

This four page information booklet provides you with the information needed to complete the accompanying 
questionnaire. Start with the Questionnaire Booklet Refer to this Information Booklet only when instructed in 
the Questionnaire Booklet 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The following discussion and analysis for the City of River Falls should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
fmancial statements. 

DUAL REPORTING APPROACH 

The City of River Falls fmancial statements are presented both from the perspective of the City as a whole (the entity-
wide perspective) and from the perspective of the City's funds and fiind types (the ftind perspective). 

Entity-Wide Statements 

The entity-wide fmancial statements show, in one place, all of the City's operations. They provide both a short-term 
and a long-term view of its finances that assists in assessing whether the City is better off or worse off economically as 
a result of the year's operations. 

The entity-wide statements are prepared similarly to those of most business using an economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, all revenues and expenses connected with the fiscal year 
are taken into account even if the cash involved has not actually been received or paid. 

Fund Statements 

The ftmd fmancial statements report the City's operations in more detail. All of the City of River Falls funds are 
Goverrunental Funds. Modified accrual accounting is used to show the flows of fmancial resources into and out of the 
funds and the balances available for spending at year-end. These statements provide a detailed short-term view of the 
City's finances that assists in determining whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the 
near fiiture as a result of the year's operations. 

Return only the Questionnaire Booklet in the enclosed envelope. 
Do not return this Information Booklet. 

Figure A.l. Information Booklet Sent to Participants. 
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STATEMENT A 

Functions 

General government 

Public safety 
Public works 
Engineering services 
Health and sanitation 
Culture and recreation 
Interest on long-term debt 
Total 

, 

City of River Falls 
Entity-wide Perspective 
Statement of Activities 

Expenses 

$ 11,172,216 S 
34,864,749 
11,427,121 

1,299,645 
6,738,672 

11,532,350 
6,068.121 

$ 83,102,874 $ 

General Revenues: 
Taxes 

Property 
Other 

Program Revenues 
Charges for Grants and 

Services Co 

3,146,915 $ 
1,198,855 

850,000 
704,793 

5,612,267 
3,995,199 

15,508,029 $ 

Grants not restricted to specific programs 
Interest and investment earnings 
Miscellaneous 

Total general revenues 

ntributions 

3,423,617 
1,369,993 
2,252,615 

575.000 
2,450,000 

10,071,225 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
expenses 

Special Item: 
before special item 

Gain on sale of park land 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 

Net assets—beginning 
Net assets-ending 

expenses 

Net (Expense) 
Revenue 

Governmental 
Activities 

S (4,601.684) 
(32,295,901) 

(8.324.506) 
(594,852) 
(551.405) 

(5.087.151) 
(6.068.121) 

(57.523.620) 

34,168,449 
13,308,487 

1,457,820 
1.885,455 

884,907 
51,705,118 

(5,818,502) 

2,653,488 
(3,165.014) 

124,333,801 
$ 121,168,787 

Statement A is an entity-wide statement prepared using the economic resources flow mea
surement focus. Revenues and expenses of general government activities of the City of 
River Falls are summarized. Revenues are recognized in the period they are earned and 
become measurable, and expenses are recognized when incurred, if measurable. 

Figure A.l. Continued. 
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STATEMENT B 

statement of Revenues, 

REVENUES 
Property taxes 
other taxes 
Fees and fines 
Licenses and permits 
Intergovernmental 
Charges for services 
Interest 
Miscellaneous 

Total revenues 
EXPENDITURES 
Current operating: 

General government 
Public safety 
Public works 
Engineering services 
Health and sanitation 
Culture and recreation 

Debt service: 
Principal 
Interest and other charges 

Capital outlay 
Total expenditures 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over expenditures 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Proceeds of refunding bonds 
Proceeds of long-term debt 
Payment to bond refunding escrow agent 
Transfers in 
Transfers out 

Total other financing sources and uses 
SPECIAL ITEM 
Proceeds from sale of park land 

Net change in fund balance 
Fund balances-beginning 
Fund balances-ending 

City of River Falls 
Fund Perspective 

Governmental F unds 
Expenditures, and Changes 

General 
Fund 

$ 28,960.193 
13.265.300 

687,008 
2,287.794 
6,119.938 

11.161.964 
552.325 
881.874 

63,916.396 

8.630.835 
33,729.623 
4.975.775 
1.019,225 
6.070.032 

10.411.685 

1.280,420 
66,11/.b9b 

(2,201,199) 

(2.097.845) 
(2.097.845) 

3.476.488 
(822.556) 

2.177.365 
$ 1.354.809 

Special 
Revenue 

Funds 

$ 3.951.287 
30.708 

215.204 
66.270 

4.263.469 

1.634.428 

5,020.125 

75.000 

6./29.bb3 

(2.466,084) 

(213,546) 
(213,546) 

(2,679,630) 
6,225,442 

$ 3,545,812 

in Fund Balances 

Debt 
Service 
Funds 

$ 4,925,192 

$ 

146,604 

b,U/1,/96 

11.820 

3.375.000 
5.215.151 

8,601.9/1 

(3,530.175) 

38,045,000 

(37,284,144) 
2,714,856 

3,475,712 

(54,463) 
2,930,083 

$ 2,875,620 $ 

Capital 
Projects 
Funds 

1,457,820 

836,589 
2,939 

2,29/,348 

490,124 

16,718,649 
1/,2UB,//3 

(14,911,425) 

18,829,560 

(403,465) 
18,426,095 

3,514,670 
21,539.896 
25,054,566 

Statement B is presented at the fund level using the flow of current financial resources 
measurement focus. Revenues are recognized when earned, measurable, and available 
to finance expenditures. Expenditures are recognized when a fund liability is incurred 
for goods and services received, capital outlay, or debt service. 

Figure A.l. Continued. 
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STATEMENT C 

City of River Falls 
Fund Perspective 

Budgetary Comparison Statement-Budgetary Basis 

Budgetary Fund Balance, January 1 
Resources (inflows) 

Property taxes 

Franchise taxes 
Public service taxes 
Licenses and permits 
Fines and forfeitures 
Charges for services 
Grants 
Sale of land 
Miscellaneous 
Interest received 

Transfers from other funds 
Amounts available for appropriation 

Charges to appropriations (outflows) 
X Beheraigovernmert;:;:;:;::;::;;;;;:-;::;::;:;:;:;:; 

•:•::•:Mayor. Jegisiative,:fidueiary:and audit :•:•:•: 

•.-.•.•. FihahC6- ahd aiccounQrtg .•.•.•.•.•.•.•.•.•.•.•.•.•. 
^ > > : C i l y c f e r k a h d e j e c t i o n s • '•>'•>;••• '•••:•:•>;•>: 

:•:: :P)anmng arid:econDmtcaevei&priient:•:•:•:• 
Public safety: 

Police 
Fire department 
EMS 
Inspections 

::•:•:• Public-wbrks-adtTiioistratibh :•:•:•: : : : x ^ 

, .-.•StreJetmairrtenance. . . . • . • . . • . . . . . . . • . . • . . 

• otieei iiynung 
. ; ::Trafficopeiiations' 

•:•:•• :Mecharticdl.maint6rtaric;e 
Engineering services: 

Engineering administration 

Geographical information system 

Culture and Recreation: 
Library 
Parks and recreation 

Community communications 

• TransfeirsfeiDtherfurids:: :•::•:•:•: ;•:•:•;•:•:•: 

Totals 

Budgetary Fund Balance, December 31 

General Fund 

Budgeted Amounts 
Original 

$ 2,736,824 $ 

30,124.560 
4,546,209 
8,295,000 
2,126,600 

718,800 
12,392,972 
6,905,898 
1,355,250 
3,024,292 
1,015,945 

939,525 
74,181,875 

: ; : : : : : : : : 3 ; 0 5 8 . 7 5 D . ::•:•:• 

::•:•:•:•::•:•:•:: 345360: ::•:•:• 
A 'lACt cnh 

•: : :- i ;975,600 :•:•;•:•: 

19.576,820 
9,565,280 
2,323,171 
1,602,695 

^^x^x^x^x x3a8.:50io: x ^ x 

•:•:•:•:•:•:•:•: :-2;t35,750 ::•:•:•: 

/ oZ . / aU 
385.945 •••• •• 

:•:•:•:•:•:•:•:• : i ,525.685. :••:•: 

1,170,650 

125,625 

:•:•:•:•:•:•:•:•: 5,756,25o: x : : -

985,230 

9,521,560 

552.350 

2,970,256 

71,186,051 

$ 2,995,824 $ 

Final 

1,264,888 

29,959,745 
4,528,750 
8,307,274 
2,126,600 

718,800 
11,202,150 
6,571,360 
3.500,000 
1.220,991 

550,000 
130,000 

70,080,558 

663,677 •.• 
• 3,192,910:-: 
. 1.91Z702:-: 
: : . 354,237:-: 
: 1,300,498 :•: 

• 1,784.314 •:• 

20,367,917 

9.358,453 

2,470,127 

1.585,695 

•'•• 385.013 -

- 7,019,166 • -

••• 374,945 -: 
: 1:272,696 X 

1,140,289 

119,315 

•:-5,865,757 . : 

1,023,465 

9,786,397 

558,208 

2.025.000 

68,303,321 

1,777,237 

Actual 
Amounts 

(Budgetary 

Basis) 

$ 1,264,888 

29.280.163 

4.055.505 

8,969.887 

2,287,794 

606.946 

11,374,460 

6,119,938 

3,476.488 

881,874 

552.325 

129.323 

68,999,591 

• 632 ,719 

:-: 2.658,264 

:•: 1J852.687 
341 ,206 

1 ,<IN>4.4J<: 

'•:'• 1.642.575 

20,246,496 
9,559,967 
2,459,866 
1,533,380 

• 383,397 
•• 2.233,362 
• : : : 759,832 
-•••• 360,509-

:-: 1256,087 

1,158,023 
138,967 

: : 6,174,653 

1,022,167 
9,756,618 

510.361 

' 2,097,845 

68,338,944 

$ 660.647 

Variance with 

Final Budget 

Positive (Negative) 

$ (679,582) 
(473,245) 
662,613 
161,194 

(111,854) 
172,310 

(451,422) 
(23,512) 

(339,117) 
2.325 

(677) 
(1.080.967) 

.•.••.•.•.•.-.- 30,958 
•:-::•:-:•:-:•: 534:646 
•:-: : :x:x:-: :-6o:oi:5: 
-:::•:•:-:-:-: i3 ;o3 i : 

Mo,4^ 
:•:••.••.•:•:'•:•:• AA^:r39. 

121.421 

(201,514) 

10,261 

52,315 

::-:•:-:•:•:-:•:-:• 1 .6I6 

: • : • : - : : • : - : : ( 2 i 4 , i 9 6 ) 

(17,292J 
•:•:•:•:•:-:•:- "14 ,436 

•:-:- 16:609 

(17,734) 

(19,652) 

• : : • : : : (308,896) 

1,298 

29,779 

47,847 

:•:•:-:•:-:': (325.731) 

(72,845) 

(35.623) 

$ (1,116,590) 

Statement C is presented for the General Fund using the cash basis, which is the City of River 
Falls budgetary basis. Resources are recorded when cash Is received, and charges are 
recorded when cash is disbursed. 
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QUESTIONNAIRE BOOKLET 

The questions in this Questionnaire Booldet should be answered using the financial statements in the accompanying 
Information Booklet. Refer to the Information Booklet only when instructed. Should you desire to make 
comments about or supplement your answers to specific questions, please attach additional sheets as necessary. If you 
require assistance in completing this questionnaire, please call Terry Patton at (817) 692-9809 or send us a FAX at 
(817)692-9809. 

Parti 

Listed are potential reasons for using operating statements for a City. How important would each of these reasons be to 
you? (Please circle the number that most clearly describes your belief). 

To determine compliance with finance-related legal or 
contractual requirements. 

To make decisions regarding specific govemmental 
funds—such as the General Fund. 

To assess whether the City's financial position improved 
or deteriorated as a result of the year's operations. 

To make investment and credit decisions with respect to 
the City. 

To determine whether resources obtained and used were 
in accordance with the entity's legally adopted budget. 

To assess operating results for the City. 

To assess sources, uses, and balances of current 
financial resources. 

To make voting decisions about the City. 

To determine the costs of programs or functions. 

To compare actual financial results to the legally 
adopted budget. 

To determine whether current year revenues were 
sufficient to pay for current year services. 

To provide information about legal or contractual 
restrictions on financial resources. 

To provide information about the City's financing of 
activities. 

To assist in assessing economy and efficiency for the 
City. 

To determine how the City met its cash requirements. 

To assess ability of City to repay general long-term debt. 

To assess ability of City to repay short-term debt. 

To assess managerial performance of City personnel. 

NOT IMPORTANT 

2 3 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

VERY IMPORTANT 

5 6 7 

2 

2 

2 

2 

2 

3 

3 

3 

3 

3 

4 

4 

4 

4 

4 

5 

5 

5 

5 

5 

6 

6 

6 

6 

6 

7 

7 

7 

7 

7 

-4 

4 

4 

4 

4 

4 

Continue with Part II on the next page. 

5 

5 

5 

5 

5 

5 

6 

6 

6 

6 

6 

6 

7 

7 

7 

7 

7 

7 

Figure A.2. Questionnaire Booklet. 
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Part II 

Please read the first page of the Information Booklet—which includes Management Discussion and Analysis. 

In each of the statements (A, B, and C), important facts have been printed in bold. The City of River Falls uses the 
functional category, Public Safety, to budget and account for services provided by the police, fire, emergency medical 
services (EMS), and inspection departments. You are to review a specific portion of a statement (A, B, or C). Then 
check whether you agree with, disagree with, or are uncertain about an assertion. 

STATEMENT A 
(Refer to Page 2 of the Information Booklet) 

The Net Expense for Public Safety of $32,295,901 
indicates that the City does not have enough program 
revenue to cover Public Safety expenses. 

The Net Expense for PubUc Safety of $32,295,901 
indicates that the City has fmancial problems related to 
its Public Safety function that have resulted in a deficit. 

Real Estate Taxes of $34,168,449 represent taxes that 
were for general govemment support. 

The excess of expenses over revenues before special 
item of $5,818,502 indicates that current year revenues 
were sufficient to pay for current year services. 

The Decrease in Net Assets from $124,333,801 at the 
beginning of the year to the ending balance for Net 
Assets of $121,168,787 indicates that the City's 
financial position has deteriorated. 

DISAGREE UNCERTAIN AGREE 

STATEMENT B 
(Refer to Page 3 of the Information Booklet) 

DISAGREE UNCERTAIN AGREE 
The City financed it General Fund programs fi-om 
current year revenues and the sale of park land. 

The Public Works expenditures of $4,975,775 
represents all outflows of current financial resources for 
Public Works. 

The $2,201,199 in Excess of expenditures over 
revenues in the General Fund indicates that the City has 
sufficient revenue to meet current expenditures. 

The Transfers in of $2,714,856 to the Debt Service 
Funds indicates transfers of cash or other current 
financial resources were made from other Funds to the 
Debt Service Fund. 

Capital outlay expenditures of $ 16,718,649 in the 
Capital Projects Funds appear to be largely financed by 
long-term debt. 

Figure A.2. Continued. 
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STATEMENT C 
(Refer to Page 4 of the Information Booklet) 

The Original and Final Budget numbers are nfit 
useful when considering how well City 
personnel prepared their original budget. 

The decrease in beginning Budgetary Fund 
Balance from $2,736,824 in the Original 
Budget to $1,264,888 in the Final Budget 
indicates the amount available for 
appropriations decreased after the approval of 
the original budget. 

The Inspections department has complied with 
its budget better than the Fire department has 
complied with its budget. 

The ($201,514) balance in the Variance column 
for the Fire department indicates actual 
expenditures exceeded the amount approved in 
the final budget. 

The ($201,514) balance in the Variance column 
for the Fire department arose because the Fire 
department's budget was increased during the 
year. 

DISAGREE UNCERTAIN AGREE 

COMPARISON BETWEEN STATEMENTS A, B, AND C 
(Refer to Pages 2-4 of the Information Booklet) 

Statement B reports expenditures of 
$33,729,623 and Statement A reports expenses 
of $34,864,749 for Public Safety. Thus, the 
reader should conclude that the uses of current 
financial resources were greater than costs 
incurred during the year. 

Statement A reports property tax revenue of 
$34,168,449 while Statement C reports 
property tax revenue of $29,280,163. This 
difference is probably due to different revenue 
recognition criteria for the statements. 

Statement B reports ending General Fund 
balance of $1,354,809 while Statement C 
reports ending Budgetary Fund Balance of 
$660,647. This difference is probably due to 
the different basis of accounting used for the 
statements. 

DISAGREE UNCERTAIN AGREE 

Continue with Part III on the next page. 

Figure A.2. Continued. 
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Part III 

From your perspective as a user in attempting to understand the financial operations for the City, indicate the 
usefulness to you of the individual elements in each statement by circling one number for each statement. 

STATEMFNT A 
(Refer to Information Booklet -
Page 2) 

Expenses for functional activities. 

Net(expense)revenue by 
functional activities. 

Program revenues by functional 
activities. 

Don't 
Know 

0 

0 

0 

Not 
Useful 

Slightly 
U?eful" 

2 

2 

2 

Moderately 
Useful 

3 

3 

3 

\ ery 
Useful 

4 

4 

4 

Extremely 
Useful 

5 

5 

5 

General revenues. 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenses before special item. 

Special item. 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenses. 

STATEMENT B 
(Refer to Information Booklet -
Page 3) 

The detailed information in the 
ftjnd columns. 

The sources of revenues. 

Separate reporting of 
expenditures—current operating, 
debt service, and capital outlay. 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures. 

Net change in fiind balance. 

STATEMENT C 
(Refer to Information Booklet -
Page 4) 

The original budget amounts. 

The final budget amounts. 

The actual amounts spent—on the 
budgetary basis. 

The Variance with Final Budget. 

The departmental detail 
provided—e.g.. Public Safety is 
detailed by Police, Fire, EMS, and 
Inspections departments. 

0 

0 

Don't 
Know 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

Don't 
Know 

Not 
Useful 

2 

2 

2 

Slightly 
Useful 

3 

3 

3 

Moderately 
Useful 

4 

4 

4 

V'er\ 
Useful 

5 

5 

5 

Extremely 
Useful 

Not 
Useful 

Slightly 
Useful" 

3 

3 

Moderately 
Useful 

3 

3 

3 

3 

4 

4 

Very 
Useful 

4 

4 

4 

4 

5 

5 

Extremely 
Useful 

5 

5 

5 

5 

Continue with Part IV on the next page. 

Figure A.2. Continued. 

215 



Part IV 

Assume you have SI 00 to purchase operating statements that you will use to analyze the operations of the Cit>. How 
much would you pay for each of the following statements? (You can spend all your money on one statement or 
allocate the money among the statements. Be sure to use the entire SI00 and round amounts to the nearest dollar.) 

STATEMENT A (Entity-wide Statement of Activities) 

STATEMENT B (Fund Perspective Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balance) 

STATEMENT C (Fund Perspective Budgetary Comparison Statement— 
Budgetary Basis) 

S 100 TOTAL 

Why do you believe the statement that you paid the most for is worth more that the other two statements? 

What suggestions would you offer to make the statements more useful? 

STATEMENT A 

STATEMENT B 

STATEMENT C 

Continue with Respondent Demographic Data on the next page. 

Figure A.2. Continued. 
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RESPONDENT DEMOGRAPHIC DATA 

Check one category that best describes the group to which you belong. 

Public Accountant or State Auditor 

State legislative official 

Municipal legislative official (e.g., City Council, Mayor) 

Govemment official (e.g.. Director of Finance, Controller) 

Municipal bond analyst, investor, or creditor 

Citizen 

Other (please specify) ^ 

How many years of formal education do you have? (e.g., completed high school = 12 
years or completed a four-year college = 16 years). 

Circle the number of college accoimting courses you have 
completed. 

Please circle the number that best describes your level of 
experience with: 

• Generally accepted accounting principles applicable 
to state and local governments. 

• Generally accepted accounting principles applicable 
to businesses. 

None 

Very Low 

1-2 
More 

3-6 than 6 

Very High 

4 5 

1 

• The analysis of state and local govemment financial 
reports. 1 2 3 4 

Have you seen the Govemmental Accounting Standards Board Exposure Draft on the Govemmental Financial 
Reporting Model? Yes No 

Thank you for taking time to complete this questionnaire. 

Return only this Questionnaire Booklet in the enclosed postage-paid envelope to: 

Govemmental Accounting Research Center 
ATTN: Terry K. Patton, Assistant Director 
Texas Tech University 
COBA—Accounting 
Box 4320 
Lubbock, TX 79409 

Figure A.2. Continued. 
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APPENDIX B 

COVER LETTERS AND OTHER CORRESPONDANCE 

USED FOR THE PRELIMINARY CONTACT, 

QUESTIONNAIRE PACKET, AND 

FOLLOW-UP MAILING 

On the following pages are the cover letters and other correspondence 

used for the preliminary contact, questionnaire packet, and follow-up mailing 

used for this study. Some format changes have been made in order that these 

items may fit in the allowed space for this appendix. 
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GASB LOGO (postcard lettering in blue on white card) 

The Govemmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) recently issued an Exposure Draft that 
proposes major changes to traditional govemmental financial statements. The purpose of the 
changes is to make govemmental financial statements more understandable and useful to all 
potential users. 

In a few days, you will be receiving a survey from the Govemmental Accounting Research 
Center at Texas Tech University that is designed to give us information about your perception of 
these proposed statements and the information that you want from govemmental fmancial 
statements. The GASB strongly encourages your participation. The data collected in this study 
will be used in our deliberations regarding the ftiture of govemmental fmancial statements. 

David R. Bean 
Director of Research 

Figure B.l. Preliminary Contact Postcard from GASB Director of Research. 
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Dear Participant: 

On January 31, 1997, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) issued an Exposure Draft for a Proposed Statement, Basic Financial 
Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—for State and 
Local Governments. The Exposure Draft proposes major changes to the 
financial reports that traditionally have been issued by state and local 
governments. 

The proposed changes are designed to increase the understandability and 
usefulness of state and local government financial reports. We need your 
help to determine whether the proposed government operating statements 
meet these objectives. Your response to the enclosed questionnaire will 
provide invaluable data relevant to our deliberations about the future of 
governmental financial reporting. 

The research project is being conducted by Mr. Terry K. Patton of Texas Tech 
University. We must receive a sufficient number of responses from each of 
the primary user groups—the citizenry, investors and creditors, and 
legislative officials—in order to determine the information you need from 
government financial reports. Please take a few minutes to help us improve 
governmental financial reporting by filling out the enclosed questionnaire. 

Sincerely, 

David R. Bean 

Figure B.2. GASB Endorsement Letter. 
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Robert J. Freeman, Director 
Terry K. Patton, 

M a y 14, 1997 Assistant Director 
(806) 742-2098 

Name 
Title (if appropriate) 
Employer (if appropriate) 
Street Address 
City, State Zip Code 

Dear Personalized Salutation: 

As a member of the National Civic League, you have been selected to participate in a nationwide 
survey. Financial reporting for state and local governments is a concem to all citizens. Currently, the 
Govemmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is considering making significant changes to the 
basic fmancial statements that traditionally have been used by state and local governments. 

The major role of the GASB is to improve financial reporting by state and local governments. Your 
response to the enclosed questionnaire will help us determine the understandability and usefulness of 
proposed govemmental financial statements. Be assured that the purpose of the research is not to test 
your knowledge of govemmental fmancial reporting, but to gain information regarding proposed 
govemmental financial statements. The enclosed letter from David R. Bean, the GASB Director of 
Research, emphasizes the importance of this research to the GASB's current deliberations. 

The GASB needs your input. The research will be beneficial only if a sufficient number of citizens 
respond. We will really appreciate your help. 

Completing the survey should take approximately 30-35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: the 
Information Booklet and the Questionnaire Booklet. You should begin with the Questionnaire 
Booklet and refer to the Information Booklet only when instructed. After you have completed the 
questionnaire, please return it in the enclosed envelope. No postage is necessary. 

Should you encounter any problems when completing the survey, we encourage you to call Terry 
Patton at (817) 692-9809 or send us a fax at (817) 692-9809. The results from the survey will be 
reported in summary form only and your response will be completely anonymous. 

Sincerely, 

Terry K. Patton, CPA 
Assistant Director 
4 enclosures 

Figure B.3. Cover Letter for National Civic League Members. 
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Robert J. Freeman, Director 
Terry K. Patton, 

Assistant Director 
(817)692-9809 

May 14, 1997 

Name 
Sfreet Address 
City, State Zip Code 

Dear Personalized Salutation: 

As an active citizen in your community, you have been selected to participate in a nationwide survey. 
Financial reporting for state and local govemments is a concem to all citizens. Currently, the 
Govemmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is considering making significant changes to the 
basic financial statements that traditionally have been used by state and local govemments. 

The major role of the GASB is to improve financial reporting by state and local govemments. Your 
response to the enclosed questiormaire will help us determine the tmderstandability and usefiilness of 
proposed govemmental financial statements. Be assured that the purpose of the research is not to test 
your knowledge of govemmental financial reporting, but to gain information regarding proposed 
govemmental financial statements. The enclosed letter from David R. Bean, the GASB Director of 
Research, emphasizes the importance of this research to the GASB's current deliberations. 

The GASB needs your input. The research will be beneficial only if a sufficient number of citizens 
respond. We will really appreciate your help. 

Completing the survey should take approximately 30-35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: the 
Information Booklet and the Questionnaire Booklet. You should begin with the Questionnaire 
Booklet and refer to the Information Booklet only when instructed. After you have completed the 
questiormaire, please retum it in the enclosed envelope. No postage is necessary. 

Should you encounter any problems when completing the survey, we encourage you to call Terry 
Patton at (817) 692-9809 or send us a fax at (817) 692-9809. The results from the survey will be 
reported in summary form only and your response will be completely anonymous. 

Sincerely, 

Terry K. Patton, CPA 
Assistant Director 
4 enclosures 

Figure B.4. Cover Letter for Citizens Active in Community Affairs. 
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Robert J. Freeman, Director 
Terry K. Patton, 

Assistant Director 
(817)692-9809 

May 14, 1997 

Name 
Title (if appropriate) 
Employer (if appropriate) 
Sfreet Address 
City, State Zip Code 

Dear Personalized Salutation: 

You have been selected from the National Federation of Municipal Analysts membership to 
participate in a nationwide survey. Financial reporting for state and local govemments is a concem to 
all citizens. Currently, the Govemmental Accoimting Standards Board (GASB) is considering making 
significant changes to the basic financial statements that traditionally have been used by state and 
local govemments. 

The major role of the GASB is to improve financial reporting by state and local govemments. Your 
response to the enclosed questionnaire will help us determine the tmderstandability and usefulness of 
proposed govemmental financial statements. Be assured that the purpose of the research is not to test 
your knowledge of govemmental financial reporting, but to gain information regarding proposed 
govemmental financial statements. The enclosed letter from David R. Bean, the GASB Director of 
Research, emphasizes the importance of this research to the GASB's current deliberations. 

The GASB needs your input. The research will be beneficial only if a sufficient number respond. We 
really appreciate your help. 

Completing the survey should take approximately 30-35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: the 
Information Booklet and the Questionnaire Booklet. You should begin with the Questionnaire 
Booklet and refer to the Information Booklet only when instmcted. After you have completed the 
questionnaire, please retum it in the enclosed envelope. No postage is necessary. 

Should you encounter any problems when completing the survey, we encourage you to call Terry 
Patton at (817) 692-9809 or send us a fax at (817) 692-9809. The results from the survey will be 
reported in summary form only and your response will be completely anonymous. 

Sincerely, 

Terry K. Patton, CPA 
Assistant Director 
4 enclosures 

Figure B.5. Cover Letter for National Federation of Municipal Analysts 
Members. 
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Robert J. Freeman, Director 
Terr\ K. Patton, 

Assistant Director 
(817)692-9809 

May 14, 1997 

Name 
Employer (if appropriate) 
Street Address 
City, State Zip Code 

Dear Personalized Salutation: 

You have been selected to participate in a nationwide survey. Financial reporting for state and local 
govemments is of particular concem to state legislators. Currently, the Govemmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is considering making significant changes to the basic financial statements 
that fraditionally have been used by state and local govemments. 

The major role of the GASB is to improve financial reporting by state and local govemments. Your 
response to the enclosed questionnaire will help us determine the understandability and usefiilness of 
proposed govemmental financial statements. Be assured that the purpose'of the research is not to test 
your knowledge of govemmental financial reporting, but to gain information regarding proposed 
govemmental financial statements. The enclosed letter from David R. Bean, the GASB Director of 
Research, emphasizes the importance of this research to the GASB's current deliberations. 

The GASB needs your input. The research will be beneficial only if a sufficient number of state 
legislators respond. We really appreciate your help. 

Completing the survey should take approximately 30-35 minutes. Two booklets are enclosed: the 
Information Booklet and the Questionnaire Booklet. You should begin with the Questionnaire 
Booklet and refer to the Information Booklet only when instmcted. After you have completed the 
questionnaire, please retum it in the enclosed envelope. No postage is necessary. 

Should you encoimter any problems when completing the survey, we encourage you to call Terry 
Patton at (817) 692-9809 or send us a fax at (817) 692-9809. The results from the survey will be 
reported in summary form only and your response will be completely anonymous. 

Sincerely, 

Terry K. Patton, CPA 
Assistant Director 
4 enclosures 

Figure B.6. Cover Letter for State Legislators. 
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Dear Participant: 

You should have recently received a questionnaire from the Governmental 
Accounting Research Center at Texas Tech University. This survey is being 
conducted to determine your perception of proposed operating statements for state 
and local governments. 

This survey is extremely important to the current dehberations of the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Thus, we are sending this reminder to 
ask that you complete the questionnaire. If you have already returned the 
questionnaire, we thank you for your efforts to improve governmental financial 
reporting. If you have misplaced your questionnaire or did not receive a 
questionnaire, please call Terry Patton at (817) 692-9809 to receive a replacement 
questionnaire. 

Figure B.7. Follow-up Postcard. 
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